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STORY OF MY LIFE.

CHAPTER XL
184750,

Iy January 1847 I lost my faithful friend and
manager of one of the largest of my districts, Bul-
ram Singh, who had been an officer of my police
in 1827-29. He was one of the best natives I ever
knew, most faithful and intelligent. The district
under his charge was the worst in the country;
but he had managed it well—had encouraged the
people to increase cultivation—and had laid a
good foundation of eventual prosperity. With his
last breath he committed his wife and children to
my care.

On my return to camp I had to wait till day-
light at a village about half-way, which I reached

VoL, 1L A
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in the evening. The good old mother of the
patell being sure, as she said, that I was very
tired, had prepared a delicious warm bath for me,
and a most abundant and well-cooked supper,
consisting of various capital dishes of vegetables
and light jowaree cakes. The family were strict
Hindoos, and did not eat meat. They had also
got ready a comfortable bed, with fresh clean
sheets and pillows. This spontaneons hospitality
touched me very much ; and it was just the same
wherever I travelled.

As the Resident had applied to me to report
what kind of"a revenue survey would be neces-
sary for the country, I sclected a village of aver-
age size, and began a regular survey of it, field
by field, partly by cross-staff and chain, and
partly by prismatic compass, for I had no theo-
dolite, and finished all, including the map, my-
self; and then forwarded the whole of the papers,
field-books, and registries of proprietors to the
Resident, with a report.

I was, however, in no hurry to begin a survey.
I considered it would be time enough when the
present settlement was at an end, as many of the
occupants had measured out their own lands, and
were becoming more and more correct. This
scason was the coolest I had ever felt in the Dee-
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can. I find on the 25th February the thermo-
meter varied from 68° to 76° in my tents, and at
Poonsu there had been a frost. 1t did not, how-
ever, last long, and was suceeeded by extreme heat.

In March the Rajah’s youngest sister, a very
pretty little gir] of six years old, was married to
the Rajah of Soondee, near Madras, aged twenty.
He was a courteous, well-bred young man, and
the little child was a great pet among us all,
so pretty, and very fair, even rosy in cold wea-
ther, and quick and elever too. She was being
educated in Teloogoo, and her favourite book
was extracts from the ‘ Pilgrim’s Progress,” which,
indeed, was liked by all clagses at Shorapoor, and
there were occasional readings of portions of it
by the Brahmins.

As head of the State, and in loco parentis, 1
had to perform all ceremonics, except going to the
temples, and others of a purely religious character.
I wanted the partics to wait till the child was thir-
teen or fourteen, but her afhanced could not delay,
as he wrote to me to say he could not be installed
as Rajah of Soondee while he was single ; and as
royal families of Beydurs were very scarce, he
was forced to take this child. There was no use
preaching in such matters, so I remained ncutral,
and allowed them to do as they thought proper
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themselves. The Ranee came to me for 20,000
rupees for the expenses of the ceremony; I conld
but refer the request to the Resident, who would
sanction only 3000 rupees expenditure by the
State, and the Ranee was very much disgusted.
In May the Rajah had another terrible fever,
and narrowly escaped death. He was brought
up to my house for change of air, when a turn
for the better came, and he recovered. If I could
have kept him with me longer I would have done
80, as the clear cool air on my hill would have
renewed his strength, and he much preferred
being with me, as his mother’s horrible profli-
gacy and want of chastity shocked him terribly :
but this he could only tell me secretly, and weep
bitterly, poor boy, at the shame it cast upon him.
If Government had removed the Ranee Ish-
warama from Shorapoor, as it had done the Ranee
of Kolapore, and also at Lahore, all trouble would
have been avoided ; but it was not to be so.
However, I reported, as it was my duty to do,
her now openly shameless conduet; and in June
I received a despatch in relation to her, from
which the following are extracts :—
“2. It appears to us a preferable mode of dis-
posing of the case would be that of requiring the
Ranece to retire entirely from Shorapoor, and to
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take up her abode in her father’s house at Rutna-
gherry. . . .

“5,. T do not apprehend that the mere banish-
ment of Kasima (chief favourite), and other par-
amours, would be productive of much benefit with
a woman of her immoral character, These per-
sonages would probably follow cach other in sue-
cession, notwithstanding any engagements you
may receive from her-to-the contrary, and you
would bhave the same inconveniences, and the
same evil influcnces to surmount which you have
at present.”

But neither the Resident nor I had power or
authority to remove the Ranee, or suggest to her
“change of air” 1t was a question which the
Governor-General alone could decide.

My report for the revenue year past, 1256
Fuslee, was considered by the Resident to be
“ cminently satisfactory ;7 but it is too long for
insertion here, and too full of local questions to
be interesting to the general reader. The Resi-
dent was gratified at the low rate of assessment,
which was on the general average eleven annas,
or 1s. 43d. per beeguh,”* that for the Nizam’s
country being upwards of four rupees, or cight

* The standard of the beegah varies in various provinces, but
it is generally about vne-third of an English acre.
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shillings ; and he was satisfied that the increase
did not proceed from extra rates of taxation.
The result of the accounts was as follows :—

Rupees.
Revenue under all heads, . 351,566 2 9
General expendxturu~loans, a(lsanus
village expenses, . . . 245,276 11 6
Cash balance, . . 106,279 7 3
Balances of loans and advances re-
coverable, . . . . 15,124 7 0O
Total in favour of the State, ] 121,403 14 3

At last I had a lakh in the treasury ! safe after
all payments, including tribute to the Nizam.
The Gosain bankers’ claim, after being checked
in England on their own aceounts, transmitted
by me, dwindled to 121,000 rupees, on the de-
cision of the Court of Directors, after scrutiny
by actuaries. I discovered that the bankers
had not credited a payment of 52,000 rupees,
received by them from assignment on villages,
which was proved by their own receipts to the
villages; and if I had not had the control of the
whole State accounts after the death of Pid Naik,
and of those of the villages also, I should never
have discovered it. The original claim was ad-
mitted to be 380,000 rupees. Now 52,000 with
interest thereon amounted to 72,000, which had
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been deducted, and the balance due was therefore
considerably reduced, but Luchmangeer and his
brethren were in no case to receive it. They
were all quarrelling among themselves, and the
LResident declared that, until he knew to whom
the balance was to be paid, he would give no
order on the Shorapoor treasury. He thought
it very possible that I might discover other
fraudulent transactions; and | was not without
Liope that I should.

On my report of the previous year, T had the
pleasure to reccive a copy of an extract from
the Court of Dircctors’ political despatch to the
(tovernor-General, which was as follows :(—

“Para. 29. l'rom Captain Taylor’s report of
12th Scptember 1845, it appears that the Faslee
year 1254 had produced an increase in cultivation
the preceding year of 17,656 rupees, and of net
revenue 18,852 rupees, and that the- whole
revenue had been collected, except some trifling
balances in course of collection.

“30. We agree with the Governor-General
that Captain Taylor appears to have shown zeal
and judgment in the conduct of the duties of the
Sumusthan during the present season. His re-
port contains much valuable information respect-
ing the landed tenures and revenue system of
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Shorapoor, and he seems to have adopted means
well suited for gradually improving the revenues
of the country, without introducing such changes
of system as might hereafter be embarassing to a
native Government,”

In reference to my official report on the current
year, the Governor-General was pleased to write
as follows.

The letter is dated Simla, 23d August 1847,
to General Frascr, from the Sceretary to Govern-
ment with the Governor-General,

“ 81r,—I have the honour to acknowledge the
receipt of your letter, dated May 22d last, No. 62,
submitting Captain Taylor’s report on Shorapoor
for 1846, and in reply, to state that the Right
Hon. the Governor-General considers the report
satisfactory, and very creditable to the zeal and
ability of that officer, to whom you are requested to
convey the favourable sentiments of his lordship.

«9.  If the removal of the Ranee Ishwarama,
the mother of the young Rajah, will tend to
benefit the State, the Governor-General will not
object to the adoption of the measure. It must,
however, his lordship observes, be done with
all the forms of courtesy, care being taken that
the allowance she is to have in her own coun-
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try be not too much contracted; but she must
be given to understand that its continuance must
be contingent on her discrcet behaviour.

“The Governor-General approves of Captain
Taylor’s proposal to register the military eclass,
and other Jahgeerdars of Shorapoor; and also
sanctions that officer’s proposition to make a sur-
vey of the whole country, with a view to its final
settlement.—1 have, &e.,

(Sd.) “H. M. Euviorr, Secy.”

Need I say that I was more than satisfied with
this cordial letter from Lord Hardinge? and I felt
certain that the issue of the current year’s work
would assure him that improvement was pro-
gressing, slowly perhaps, but I hoped surely.

About this time T had a very strange inter-
view with the Ranee. "She had been ailing for
some days, and reports were rife as to the cause
of her illness, which were disgraceful enough.
However, she sent for me early one morning,
having, as her servant said, passed a sleep-
less might, and being very much excited and
troubled in her mind. As soon as.I had taken
my breakfast I went to her. I found her lying
on her bed in her private room, seemingly very
restless and in pain, moaning incessantly, but
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apparently dozing. I sat down in the¢ outer
room, a3 I did not wish to disturb her, and the
little Rajah came to me crying bitterly.

“<She is going to die,’ she says,” he whispered.
“She has abused me shamefully. She says I
am not my father’s child, and bade me go away.
Where am [ to go to? What am I to do? In-
deed I am so frightened, and you are the only
one I can look to. T have kidden all her shame
and my own, and thig is too much! I fear for
my life !”

T comforted him as well as I was able, and
told him I would bring his mother to reason if I
could, and that if ho really continued frightened,
he should come to my house or go to the cottage
at Bohnal. As we were speaking, I heard the
Ranee call loudly,

“Is he come ? Is Taylor Sahib here?”

T went in at once. She was still excited, and
her breathing seemed oppressed. I really thought
she was dying, and she complained of being “all
on fire inside.” I had brought a small bottle of
sal-volatile with me, and asking for one of her
silver drinking-cups, dropped into it what was
requisite ; and when one of her attendants had
added water, she drank it up, and fell back upon
her pillows. After a time she roused herself, and



1847.] A STRANGE INTERVIEW. 11

desired one of her servants to go for the puro-
liet or family priest.

“] am dying,” she said, “ and must tell you all.
You are the head of the family and the State,
and should know everything.”

When the priest arrived

a man [ knew very
well, as he was always in attendance, and one of
the professors, as it were, in the Brahmin Sanserit
Clollege—the Rance told him to bring a certain
hox which contained the secret papers of the
house ; and when he had brought it she unloosed
the key from a necklace she had on, and bade him
open it. The man demurred.

“'These papers have never been seen by any one
but my lord the Rajah, who is gone to heaven,
yourself, and me. No one else knows of them,”
he cried; “why should you show them to
Taylor Sahib ¢”

The Ranee sat up straight in her bed, and
glared at him. I had never seen such a look on
any human face before.

“Do as you arc told,” she cried, savagely;
“ what is it to you what T do ?”

The Shastree trembled all over, and without
speaking, he unlocked the padlock and opened
the lid. The first thing 1 saw was a roll tied
with red silk.
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“Tell him first about that,” said the Ranee, and
fell back again.

“It is not fit you should hear it,” said the
Shastree, who spoke both Mahratta and Hin-
dostanec fluently.

“It is the Rajah’s horoscope which I wrote.
The moment he was born I noted the time, and
the conjunction of planets, and the result was
bad.”

“Yes, it is bad !” cried the Ranee, scizing my
arm, as [ was sitting on the ground by her bed-
side—*“ it is bad ! All that concerns that base-
born boy is bad ! Why did his father die? Why
did I not strangle him with my own hands rather
than let a wretch like that live to be the ruin of
the State? Yes ! he is fated to die in his twenty-
Jourth year, and I shall not sce it! T am dying
myself, and you English have made him secure
to glory in my death! A, yes! he will die be-
fore Le is twenty-four complete ; we, my husband
and I, sent that paper to Nassik, to Denares, and
everywhere that there are wise Brahmins; but
they all returned the same answer. He must
dic in the twenty-fourth year after birth. Is
it not so, Shastree? Did we not spend a lakh
of rupees over this, and it availed nothing?”
and she stopped for want of breath, her eyes
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flashing with excitement. “Is it not so? Tell
the trath !”

“You speak truth, lady,” said the Shastree,
who was sobbing. “ It is only the truth, Taylor
Sahib ; T have tested all the calculations and find
them exactly conforming to the truth according
to the planets, The Rajah is safe till then ; but
when that time comes, how, | know not, but he
will surely die. He will never complete his
twenty-fourth year! never! never!”

“Neo1” cried the Rauce, interrupting him—
“he will not live: he is the last of his race.
He will lose his country, and all the lands, and all
the honour that the Sumusthan has gained for
five hundred years. Would that he were dead
now, the base-born dog and slave!” and then
she uttered language that T dare not write.

I was obliged to rebuke her'sternly, and threat-
ened tc go away if she spoke so again; but she
cried the more.

“Slave! slave! T wish he were dead, and the
State safe ! It might go to you—to the English. 1
would give it freely, now—now-——but not to that
boy ! Listen! never go from him until he is
dead—then take the whole yourself Behold, I
give it to you, and the Shastree is witness I give
it to you and your children—they shall have it.
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O Taylor Sahib! you have been as a father and
mother to me, and I have often used you very
ill. T am a wicked woman, and deserve punish-
ment ; but listen to me—forgive me! Never
leave that boy, Enketappa Naik, till he is dead,
and burned like Pid Naik—will you promise me
this? I am dying—dying!” she paused for
breath, and went on.

“ Now I have told youall the sceret I had in my
heart, do not tell it to any one till he is dead ; do
you put your hands upon my neck and swear this.”

“T promise you I will not,” T said, “on the
faith of an English gentleman,” as I put my hand,
with the Shastree’s, on her neck.

“ Enough !” she eried, “I am content. Do
not suppose I am mad or excited, I am quite my-
self, only for the pain I suffer. I do mnot think
you will care about the other papers; they are
some of the ecmperor’s grants to our ancestry,
and there are some foolish letters from chiefs in
the Mahratta country, asking my husband to rise
with them against the Knglish; but he was too
wise to do that.”

“1 will seal up the box in your presence and
that of the Shastree with the State seal,” T said ;
“and I will add my own seal when I reach home;”
and to this she agreed.
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I sent for the seal, and the priest and I sealed
up the box. There was no one else present. I
had desired the Rajah to go to his lessons when
I went to his mother, so he was in his private
apartments. The women in attendance had been
dismissed by the Ranee, so that no one could
have heard what passed. T showed the Ranee
the box sealed up.

“That will do,” shesaid; “Lkeep it now your-
self’; it is safer with you, whatever happens, than
with me. Now I am very weary, and would sleep.
Do not think ill of me; but 1 have only told you
the truth before God! T have given you much
trouble in coming here to-duy—mnow leave me.”

I went. The Rajah sent word I was to come
to him ; he was learning his Persian lesson with
the moonshee ; as 1 entered he bade the man de-
part and leave us alone.

“ What did she say to you, appa?” (father),
he said, anxiously ; “what is in that box ?”

“Ounly papers,” 1 answered; ‘“the papers of
your house, those from Becjupoor, and the em-
peror, and others.  Your mother is ill, and
thought herself dying. 1 will take care of them
in future, and I have sealed them up.”

“And what did she say? I heard her so
angry.”
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“ It was not with me this time,” I said, “though
you know we do fight sometimes. She only told
me what to do in case of her death.”

“ And will she die, appa #”

“ Not this time, I replied ; ““but she is in pain,
and how it may end, who can tell? Do not go
near her at present, she has gone to sleep, and
may feel better to-morrow.” I could not tell the
poor boy what she had said of him.

“I will send you word by-and-by how my mo-
ther is,” he said, presently; “and now leave me.”

In the afternoon they sent to me to say she was
better, thongh still weak and in pain, and that
she and the Rajah were playing chowsr, a kind of
draughts, together.

As I bad much to discuss and consult on with
the Resident, and a meeting wounld save endless
correspondence, I proposed that I should go up
to Hyderabad, and he told me to start without
delay.

My journey was somewhat deferred by a heavy
case which I had to dispose of relative to a large
gang of robbers, whom I was lucky enough to
catch, and who during the year past had perpe-
trated several most daring gang - robberies, at-
tended with murder in the Company’s districts
to the southward. I obtained, as I expected,
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great commendation for this capture, as the
Bombay Government had been very hot on the
matter, and very angry with their magistrates in
Dharwar about their apparent neglect. It was
not their fault in the least, as the robberies were
planned by men about 60 miles northward of
me, and the men who committed them had tra-
velled at least 140 miles to the scene of their
pillage. They were brinjarries, or carriers of
orain, and were quietly cneamped at a village
about 24 miles off, trading most unsuspicionsly
in orain and salt,  Captain Hervey—an able
assistant in the department for ““Suppression of
Thuggee and Gang-robbery "—was lucky enough
to get hold of fourteen of the gang at another en-
campment about 40 miles south-west of me; and
having obtained both information and confessions
from them, sent me the particulars so as to en-
abl: me to follow up the trail. It was not easy
at first to discover their whereabouts; when I
did, I sent out a strong party, and to my joy they
returned with one leader and sixteen men. The
other chief was absent with thirteen more men on
some expedition. I secured, however, their wives
and families, also their cattle (295 bullocks, 438
goats), and other property, amongst which were
many stolen articles recognised by the approvers.
VOL. 1L B



18 STORY OF MY LIFE, [cnar. x1,

Hervey and I broke the power of this gang very
materially, I was anxious about the thirteen
men that had escaped us, and I issued notices to
all on the frontier to be on the alert in the hope
of catching them on their return.

I left Shorapoor at last on the 3d October,
reaching Hyderabad on the 9th. The Resident
and [ discussed all our business very amicably,
and the Resident agreed with me on several ma-
terial points. Fnst, that it would be wise to
delay the commencement of the survey for a time;
next, to delay also the proposed inquiry into
the Beydur lands, of which they were very jeal-
ous, and it would he like thrusting one’s hand
into a hornet’s nest; and again, that it would
be well to make a second reference about the
removal of the Rance Ishwarama.

I did not, of course, tell the Resident of the
strange scene which had taken place so recently.
Since then she had been amicable and quiet; but
who could trust her ?

I remained a short time at ILyderabad, and
greatly enjoyed a little intercourse once more
with my own countrymen and women. What a
treat it was to hear some music, and to exchange
ideas with men of one’s own kind after the life of
solitude I had led so long! There was a grand
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fancy ball too, to which I went as a “nobleman ”
of the Nizam’s Court——a quaint simple dress of
white muslin, a small grecn turban, a shawl and
dagger, &e. I wore no beard then, and an artist
from the ecity came and fastened a splendid one
on to my chin, so as to join with my whiskers.
As I spoke Hindostanee fluently, and could as-
sume all the native manncrs, nobody found me
out ; Captain Malcolm and I went together, he
as a Mubammadan Doctor of Laws—a capital
dress; and as we went with Suraj-ool-Moolk’s
nephew, and entered the room with him, we
passed oft well. It was very amusing to be
spoken to by the native gentlemen as one of
themselves, and to parry their questions as to
where I had come from, &c.

Captain Malcolm soon after left Hyderabad,
and was a very great loss to me individually, and
to the people. They assembled in crowds to sce
him off, and accompanied him for twelve miles
out, snd presented him with an address. Such
a tribute had never before been given to any
Resident or Assistant.

My return to Shorapoor was most unpleasantly
delayed by an accident which turned out very
serious. The horse T was riding fell under me,
and I was injured internally, and confined to my
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bed for several weeks. The Resident was most
kind—coming constantly to sit with me, and 1
was tenderly nursed at Mr Palmer’s house. My
only anxicty was about Shorapoor ; but the Resi-
dent comforted me, saying, * 1f there is any row,
Taylor, I shall go down myself and act for you,
so don’t be anxious about your affairs.”

Nor was I, at first ; but the lady, finding my
absence prolonged, began to-be again very mis-
chievous. Her paramour, Kasima, told her that
my being reported ill was only a blind, and that
the State affairs were now to be made over to her;
that I had been removed from Shorapoor, and
was under the heavy displeasure of the authori-
ties, and the like. . One act of hers annoyed me
excessively. I had desired the Rajah occasionally
to write to me as an exereise in English, Some
time elapsed, and I received no letter. I wrote
to inquire the cause, and an answer came, a good
specimen of handwriting to show the Resident.
The Rance had been absent when the note was
written and despatched. On her return she sent
for her son, and beat him very severely with her
own hands for daring to write to me and to ask
when I was coming back. The poor lad was ter-
ribly frightened, and sent me word privately to
come quickly, for that much evil was going on ;
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and he afterwards managed to write to me in
Teloogoo, urging me to make baste, “ for his Iife
was not safe.” The Ranee was gathering all the
heads of the Beydur clans together about her,
under Kasima, feasting them, and giving them
silver ornaments and other prescuts. One day
the runner who carvied the post-bag was going as
usua! along the road when four Beydurs jumped
out upon him from behind a hedge and demanded
the bag. The man wounld not give it up, and fought
well with a stick ; but this was of no avail against
the swords of the Beydurs, and the poor fellow’s
left hand was struck clean off, and he fell sense-
less under repeated blows, = The bags were then
scized, and were afterwards found in a lonely
place, but they were empty. - A large reward was
offercd, but no clue could be obtained as to the
perpetrators of the outrage. I strongly suspected
female curiosity was at the bottom of it, and that
the Rance wanted to find out what was said of
her Ly me. She gained nothing, however, as I
took care not to write anything about her or her
doings by the post. The town was reported to
be full of parties of Beydurs, going about with
drawn swords; and at an assembly a resolution
was passed that no orders of mine were in future
to be obeyed. This resolve emanated solely from
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the Rance’s party; the remainder, who were like-
wise the majority, were yet, or appeared to be,
stanch,

I had recovered pretty well from my severe ill-
ness, and was growing very anxious to return to
Shorapoor. . My detention had happencd at a very
awkward time ; but still, under God’s blessing, 1
believe my life was saved, as had I been at Sho-
rapoor, with no skilful surgeon near, my life must
have been in all probability forfeited, So as soon
as I could get leave I started, having first had
a long consultation with the Resident, who was
of very decided opinion that the Ranee must go
—and that at once; and that Lord Hardinge’s
order should be carried out. A letter from the
Resident to the Ranee was soon drafted, and
troops were desired to be in readiness to march
on the shortest notice upon my requisition.

I reached Shorapoor on the 3d February, hav-
‘ing been absent three months, The Rajah came
out several miles to meet me, and embraced me,
imploring me “not to let him go back to his
mother any more.” We went up together to my
house. The city secemed full of armed men, but
1 took no notice of them ; my main object was to
prevent collision between the two parties of the
Beydur clans and the Rajal’s personal adherents,
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which, if it occurred, must have led to disastrous
consequences.

The next morning I had a translation of the
General’s letter ready for the Ranee; and during
the night, she, anticipating being taken to task
for her proceedings, had assembled all her men
in Shorapoor, and sent out orders for all those
in the districts to come in; and these were fast
arriving across the hills in detached partics.
When my letter reached the palace, there were
about five hundred of her adhcrents outside, who
rushed about the streets with drawn swords ; but
happily there was no collision. I sent warnings
to them in vain, and so did the Rajah; but his
messengers were insulted, and all declared they
would obey no orders but the Ranec’s. 1 had
posted all the trusty Beydurs inside the palace,
and had sent for the garrison of Wondroog, which
was stanch to the Rajah, and thus had nearly
four hundred men about him. My great object
was to prevent collision between the parties ; and
the palace guards behaved admirably. When the
rebellious party thundered at the gates, demand-
ing the Rance and Kasima, who were inside, no
one stirred, and the Rajah controlled his people
with admirable temper. As darkness fell the
insurgents retired to a high conical hill, the head-
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quarters of some of the clan, and consulted how
to make a night attack on my house; but I, as
well as my position, were too strong for them ;
and finding that but few of the country Beydurs
joined them during the night, they sent to me
for terms. 1 would take none but unconditional
surrender of the leaders and their arms; and in
an hour or two sixteen of the leaders were brought
to me, and the insurrection was at an end.
General Fraser, the Resident, had written to
me to say that he wished to come down to Shora-
poor himself; and I thought hLe expected some
disturbance on the Ramnee’s removal. I therefore
awaited his arrival, according to the instructions
I received from him, before finally sending off
the Ranee. During the night painful scenes had
passed between her and Kasima, cach reviling the
other in no measured terms, e had threatened
to murder the Ranee, and had drawn lis sword on
her. The Rajah had interposed; but Kasima said
he would not give up his sword to any one but me.
Accordingly the Rajah sent him to me, when he
and five of his brothers placed their arms before
me on the ground, and all were put into confine-
ment, Several other leaders gave themselves up
during the day; but three of the very worst re-
mained at large, trying to rouse the district Bey-
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durs. However, nothing came of their efforts.
In the afternoon the Rance sent for me, and I
went.  She was quiet enough then, but was cry-
ing bitterly. She told me she had been behaving
very ill, and that she knew I must carry out the
orders of Government. She also confessed to
having concealed valuable State jewels, &e. ; and
when they were brought I sent them to the
treasury, Her only hope was that she would
be treated with courtesy; and this, I assured her,
would be the case. Her son’s delight that this
interview passed over so quictly was indescrib-
able : he and his little sister and brother clung to
me, and I could hardly get away,

On the 11th the General arrived, and I went
out to meet him and bring him in. As he entered
the town and ascended the hill, a salute of seven-
teen guns was fired from the ramparts, and a
second from the guns near my house. Al the
officers were assembled at my house to receive
him, and a guard of honour of the 1st Regiment
presented arms as he alighted from his palankeen.
A few minutes after the young Rajah came up,
with a great concourse of people, and was duly
presented to the General by me. He was re-
markably well dressed, and behaved very pro-
perly, answering all the General’s questions with

23144
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the easc and precision of a well-bred gentleman.
All the male members of his family accompanied
him, and also the most respectable inhabitants of
the city, who were introduced by me, one by one ;
and after sitting for a while they took their leave,
and the General was left to refresh himself after
his journey.

The Resident was very complimentary to me on
my arrangements, and wag especially struck with
the success of my plan at the palace for cutting
off the Ranee and Kasima inside from their adher-
ents outside. 1 told him the Ranee was ready,
and had agreed to go; and he thought with me
the sooner she was off the better. I therefore
went down to the palace, having previously sent
on her tents and some of her baggage and attend-
ants. I was busy for four hours, making all final
arrangements and settlements, and at last she was
ready. Up to this time she had been quiet ; but
of course at the last there was a scene. Her women
set up a howl which was heard at my house, and
she cried a great deal. She refused to see the
Rajah, which I was glad of ; and he did not desire
to see her.  She asked me for a note to the Col-
lector of Bellary, which I gave her.  She then rose,
requested me to take care of her children; and
I led her.to the door of the outer court, where her
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palankeen was waiting. As she entered it she said,
“1 know this is all my own fault. Forgive me.
You could not help it.” And kissing my hand,
sho closed the doors, the bearers took up their
burden, and in ten minutes she was beyond the
gates, the cscort closing round her.

I then went to the little Rajah, who threw his
arms round me, saying, “ He had only me now,
and he hoped I would take care of him, there
were 8o few he could trust.” I told him not to
be afraid. T had had a very painful task to per-
form ; but now it was ever, and I hoped we should
have no more disturbanee or anxiety. I then took
my leave, and returned to my house and to the
Resident, who had been very anxious, and shook
me warmly by the hand, congratulating me that
this much-dreaded event had been so quictly got
over. Indeed I had aguin deep cause of thank-
fulness for the happy issue of what might have
been a fearful scene of tumult and strife.

The Resident paid a return visit next day to
the Rajah, and was taken to the Rance’s late
apartments, where several members of the family
were awaiting us.  After some conversation the
men retired, and T went for old Kesdm4, great-
aunt to the Rajah, and all the children, who came
nicely dressed ; and the General took two on his



28 STORY OF MY LIFE. [cmar. x1

knees, and was much amused by their chat. He
promised the old lady to be kind to the children
and the State ; and then she took the Rajah, and
begged the Resident to put him into my arms,
which was done, to her infinite satisfaction. This
over, wreaths of flowers were hung about our
necks, atr was given us, and we departed. We
went round the city on elephants, and I showed
the Resident all throngh it. We passed the Bey-
dur’s large “ tree of assembly,” where about 1500
of them had congregated all armed, and lining
the road. I stopped the elephants, and the Resi-
dent addressed them, assuring them that their
Rajah would be caved for and their State also.
It was now dusk, and a host of torches were
lighted, and blue-lights stuck on poles preceded
us. The effect was wonderful, revealing wild
rocks and wilder faces, most picturesque and
startling in the fitful glare.

Next day I showed the Resident the lake at
Bohnal, explaining to him my project for en-
larging it, which he approved. He left next
morning, having expressed himself most heartily
pleased with all he had seen, and saying he would
write to me from Hyderabad officially, and in due
time the despatch arrived. 1 subjoin a few ex-
tracts,
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From General Fraser to Captain Taylor, on spe-
cial duty at Shorapoor. No. 179 of 1848.

“8r,—I have the honour to acknowledge the
receipt of your several letters noted in the mar-
gin. . . .

“2. Having had an opportunity of fully com-
municating with you in person at Shorapoor re-
garding the affairs of that district, I have now
the gratifying duty to perform: of placing on re-
cord my entire and unqualified approval of the
whole of your recent proceedings. . . .

“4, Your very judicious measures, taken pre-
viously to their arival (the troops), had already
restored tranquillity, and reduced the insurgent
Jeydurs to obedience, besides obtaining the assent
of the Rance Ishwarama to remove from Shora-
poor to Rutnagherry. . . .

“6. You will be pleased to order an immediate
investigation to be made into the conduct of the
Beydur prisoners transmitted to Linsoogoor under
charge of the 1st Regiment (Nizam’s Infantry).
I think it desirable that this inquiry should be
made by a Commission, presided over by your-
self, with Captain Commandant Johnston, and
any other ofticers whose services may be conve-
niently available, as members. . . .
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“9, The proceedings of this Commission will
be forwarded by me to the Government of India ;
and pending the decision of that authority as to
the ultimate disposition of the prisoners, you will
be pleased to request Captain Commandant John-
ston to detain them under custody sufficiently
strict to prevent any risk of their escape, but
without unnecessary severity.

“10. I shall submit the whole of your corres-
pondence, now acknowledged, for the information
of the Government of India, and I shall be happy
to bring to the special notice of the Right
Honourable the Governor in Council the ability,
judgment, and firmness by which you succeeded
in averting the scrious danger which threatened
the district of Shorapoor, and perhaps the neces-
sity of having recourse to actual military opera~
tions, which might have proved a source of much
present inconvenience, besides involving a conse-
quence still more to be deprecated, that of injuri-
ously affecting the relations subsisting between
the Beydurs and yourself, and substituting fear
and distrust in lieu of that confidence and attach-
ment which I feel assured the majority of the
people now bear towards you.—l have the hon-
our to be, &ec., J. 8. Frasur, Resident,

“ HYDERABAD, 17th February 1848,
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To this I, of course, returned a suitable reply ;
but [ was obliged to go out at once into the
districts, as my long detention at Hyderabad had
materially interfered with my work and I could
delay no longer. The Commission of Inquiry was
therefore postponed for a time. As the settle-
ments now only required supervision, my labour
was coraparatively easy; but the crops were bad,
the cotton and wheat were blighted, and other
products injured by excess of unseasonable rain.
And I had to make some material remissions
which in the end satisfied everybody. Lord
Dalhousie had now suceceded to the office of
(Governor-Geencral and took his scat in January,
and the whole of the Shorapoor correspondence
would be laid before him. } was anxious for the
result, and it arrived at length. It was most
satisfactory. IHis Excellency in Council expressed
his entive satisfaction with the manner in which
the affair of the Ranee had been conducted, and
“ directed ” that his “approbution of the ability,
firmness, and judgment” 1 had displayed should
be conveyed to me. It was all very gratifying;
but I could not but miss more than ever the
dear face that would have lighted up with loving
joy and pride at my success, and I never liked to
return to my beautiful house. Old wounds would
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reopen, and I longed for a kind word or a loving
smile to greet me there. I determined then,
however, to live out my life alone, and that [
would never seck marriage with another; and I
have kept faith to her who is gone and to myself,
and shall do so till I die. This determination
was the result of a very curious and strange in-
cident that befell me during one of my marches
to Hyderabad. I have never forgotten it, and it
returns to this day to my memory with a strangely
vivid effect, that T can neither repel nor explain.
I purposely withhold the date and the year. In
my very ealy life I had been deeply and de-
votedly attached to one in Ingland, and only
relinquished the hope of some day winning her
when the terrible order came out that no furlough
to Europe would be granted. One evening I
was at the village of Dewar Kudea, after a long
afternoon and evening march from Muktul, and
I lay down very weary; but the barking of
village dogs, the baying of jackals, and over-
fatigue and heat prevented slecp, and I was wide
awake and restless. Suddenly, for my tent-door
was wide open, I saw the face and figure so
familiar to me, but looking older and with a sad
and troubled expression. The dress was white,
and seemed covered with a profusion of lace, and
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glistened in the bright moonlight. The arms
were stretched out, and a low plaintive cry of
“Do not let me go! do not let me go!” reached
me. I sprang forward, but the figure receded,
growing fainter and fainter, till T could sce it no
longer, but the low sad tones still sounded, T
had run barefooted across the open space where
my tents were pitched, very much to the aston-
ishment of the sentry om guard; but I returned
to my tent without speaking to him.

I wrote to my father. I wished to know
whether there was any hope for me. He wrote
back to me these words +—

“Too late, my dear son. On the very day of
the vision you deseribe to me, was mar-
ried.” .

Shortly after my return to Shorapoor, I sue-
ceeded in cafching two of the Beydurs who had
escaped. One of them tried to stab himself
when apprehended ; but, being prevented in time,
only scratched his stomach. They both made a
confession which cleared up everything in regard
to the late insurrection. It was they who, with
two others, attacked the post-runner and took his
bag from him by order of the Rance and Kasima,
in order to find out what I had written. In all,
they had hoped to raise 10,000 men, and relied

VOL. IL C
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on the treasury for payment, which was to be
seized by them. I was to be prevented from
entering Shorapoor unless I promised to accede
to all the Ranee wished ; but the Rajah coming
out to mecet me, which they had never contem-
plated, put an end to that part of the scheme.
So far all was clear enough, but subsequent
declarations and confessions by other parties
proved contradictory, and others were accused
by them as well as the Ranee. So I took the
witnesses to Linsoogoor to be examined before
the Court then sitting, and left it to the Resi-
dent to unravel what he could. I never had had
experience of anything at all like the lies and
counter-lies recorded on that memorable occasion;
they beat all that had eome to my knowledge.

I had a letter from my friend the Ranee, who
preferred remaining at Bellary, and 1 was glad
she did so, as she was more under surveillance at
a large station ; she expressed herself content and
satisfied, and I answered her note telling her of
her children and their welfare.

The accounts of the State would possess no
interest for the reader; but the table given
below will show how I was progressing.

- Balance in favour of the State for 1253 '54,
’55, ’56, and '57 Faslee :—
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1844 (1203 Faslee), bahmce, . Ru45456 7 6
1844 (1254 m . 41,805 11 9
1846 (12”)0 " 1" . . 74,898 6 3
1847 (1256 o It . . 181,891 O 6
1846 (1267 w n . . 308,647 0 0O

while the whole cash account of the treasury,
which included receipts from other sources, shows
the balance in hand to be Rs. 348,977 : 14: 9.
How quiet was everything at Shorapoor for the
next two years. No intrigue! no suspicion! no
combinations! The Rajah, as he grew up, ad-
vanced in intelligence, and daily attended to all
the current business, working with me cheerfully
and well, and I had no apprehensions on his ac-
count. The Nizam’s Government had withdrawn
their demands for halance claimed, and the Court
of Directors had repudiated any claim for interest
on the bankers’ bonds on the discovery of their
forged interpolation. Tt became now a question
whether they were not debtors to the State; and
s0 1349 opened pleasantly. 1848 had bheen a
turbulent year in many parts of India, but though
the second Sikh war was not concluded, there was
no doubt now as to its issue, and in March 1849
the Punjaub was annexed to the British Empire.
I wus summoned to Hyderabad to report on
the proceedings of the Court on the Beydurs, and
I was obliged to state that not only had I never
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been summoned as a witness, or as a prosecutor,
but that the Court had wandered into extraneous
matter, and had been at the mercy of false
witnesses both for and against the prisoners.
That the chief points of the insurrection had never
been inquired into at all-—that is, the assembly in
arms, &e. My paper was sent in to the Court,
and at length 1 was summoned; after which
the final finding of the Court was that the
prisoners had been guilty of overt acts of re-
bellion ; but in econsequence of their long im-
prisonment, they were recommended to mercy—
and the Rance, who had never been on her trial
at all, was acquitted! The whole proceedings
were forwarded to Lord Dalhousie, who eventually
confirmed the finding of the Court; and some of
the prisoners were rcleased, . He blamed me too,
for having been misled—why, I could not under-
stand. The measure of rcmoving the Ranee
was one of Lord Hardinge’s which I had to sce
carried out, and it was done without bloodshed.
Perhaps the Court was bewildered by the great
mass of contradictory cvidence before it; and
possibly even his lordship’s astute mind was too,
for he made ample amends to me hereafter.

The Ranee was to be allowed to return, but
when or how was not specified.



1849-50.] IRRIGATION, a7

In July we had another visitation of cholera,
and the Rajah’s half-brother died of it, to the
great grief of the family, He was a very in-
teresting and promising child; but no care
availed to save him. I sat up myself with him
for four successive nights, and he died, poor
Little fellow, in my arms.

I was greatly interested in the extension of
the lake at Bohnal ; it-was my first essay at irri-
gaticn works, and proved a complete success. I
had taken carcful levels of the whole of the
ancient embankment, which was much higher
than was necessary. I added 12 feet to the
escape-weir, and took advantage of some natural
hillocks beyond the weir to extend the embank-
ment in accordance with the old portion. The
lake filled in September, and was a truly noble
sheet of water, 2% square miles (rather more than
1600 acres) in arca, with an average depth of 12
feet. T had built a small schooner for the Rajah,
and we sailed matehes against each other, to
his infinite delight; he never cared how hard
it blew,

The despatch of the Court of Directors upon
my reports for 1847 and 1848 was very cheering
and acceptable to me. Its length alone prevents
my giving it here; but it was evident that all T
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had already done and proposed to do had been
well and carefully considered and approved.

The Rajah had removed from the palace in
which he had lived with his mother to the older
and original residence of the family. It was
badly built, and during the heavy rains of the
present year, one night a corner of the building
fell, and so shook the whole that repair was im-
possible. I therefore asked and obtained permis-
sion to build a new palace ; and I set to work to
make designs forit. The building was handsome
and commodious when finished, but I could have
wished a larger space for it to stand in.

Several other tanks weve in progress, and I
determined to try, in these ways, to lay out the
surplus in the treasury to the best future advan-
tage of the State. Bohnal works cost 6000 ru-
pees, and this was entirely paid back during the
very first ycar by the increased return of rice and
gugar-cane produce.

On the 20th May 1850 my friend the Ranee
returned ! having been away from us for more
than two years. She had got terribly into debt,
and had nearly been sent away from Bangalore
to Vellore in congequence of her intrigues. She
had been ill too ; but in spite of all, here she was
again !
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She stayed some days at Linsoogoor, where a
house had becn taken for her, and I had a very
amusing account of her most absurd demands
and unreasonable requests,

She wanted three good houses belonging to
private individuals, who were to be deprived of
them ; and if she did not get them, she vowed
she would come up to my house and live there !
This was indeed an alarming prospect for me !
However, I, with the Rajah and all the prineipal
people, went to meet her at the Krishna, the
frontier, where the Rajal’s new suite of tents had
been pitched for the first time for her cspecial
accontmodation ; and as she crossed the river, we
went forward to welcome her, and conduct her to
her tent,  She refused to enter the large one; but
chose a dirty little one belonging to her servants;
and « very stormy and disgraceful scene occur-
red, which, as my last illustration of the lady’s
temper and disposition, I copy from a letter writ-
ten to my father.

“We were all there, and after a short interval,
glaring at us one by one, she burst out—

“¢Well! and what have you sent for me for ?’

“ <We did not send for you, said I, and several
others.

“¢Yes, you did. Do you think I would have
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come of my own accord? You had better kill
me, and throw me into the river, or put me in
the guard-house. How very proper and pleas-
ant it will be to be in the guard-house! Why
shouldn’t I live in the guard? Have you got
those houses I ordered %’

“<No, Ranee Sahib!’ I answered. ¢ The
houses you ordercd are private property, and you
cannot have them.’

“<Can’t have them ?’ she cried ; ¢ who are they
to deny me? Am I not Ranec of Shorapoor ?
Can I not do as I choose ?’

“ ¢« No, not quite,” I refurned ; ‘not with what
belongs to other people.’

“*No? I can’t ? weshall see,’ she cried. ‘Did
not General Cubbon and Mr Pelly, and and

and > (hurling at me a host of names),
‘and a lot of other people, tell me I could do
whatever I liked ? and yet it seems I am not to
have my very first wish gratified. Am I less than
those people?  Are they not my slaves ?  Well’
(after a torrent of abusc), ‘and where am I to go ?’

“¢To the palace, Ranee Sahib,’ I replied.

“¢The palace! T won't go there! no, not to
my old place! I won’t be taken there except
by force. ‘Why don’t you tie me hand and foot ?
You are powerful, and I am only an old woman.’
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(Here the Ranee began to whimper.) ‘Put me
into the river at once. I'll not go to Hyderabad,
or to Bangalore, or to Dellary. Il go on pil-
grimages. [ will not stay here. I won’t! I
won't! No, I won't!’

“¢But,” I said, * Ranee Sahib, you seem to for-
get that your son, the Rajah, is sitting near you;
you should go with him and me, and we will both
try snd make you as happy and comfortable as
we ean,’

“‘My son!’ she sereamed. ‘ My son! He is
no sgon of mine, the base-born! He my son!’
and a volley of invectives followed. ¢TI wish he
were dead ! Why did he live, and not my sis-
ter’s child? Yes! you killed him among you,
just to vex me!’ (and more abuse succeeded,
which } could not translate.) ‘He my son in-
deed !”

“Poor little Rajah; how he bore it I know
not: but every now and then he pulled at my
coat, or squeezed my hand, and whispered—

“¢How can you bear it ? Come away.’

“I told him we would bear it as long as we
could, for I was in hopes the storm would spend
itself, and that she would be more amenable after-
wards ; but there was yet a very ticklish subject
viz., her former estates, or jagheers ;

to introduce



42 STORY OF MY LIFE. lomar. X1

she being now only dowager, and the young
Ranee having the estates; an allowance having
been substituted for her lands.

“ How she raged and foamed when I told her !
What a fierce war of rage and passion waged when
I explained matters to her! Her allowance had
been fixed at 1000 rupees a-month. She became
quite beside herself when she heard this, and
made use of language that made one’s blood
creep. The idea of pay was worse than any-
thing.

“<Am T a servant ¢’ she yelled, ¢ that I should
take pay ¢ Have not other Ranees their estates ?
Why do you take mine ?’  Then a fit of crying,
then more abuse ; till at length my patience and
temper could stand it no longer, and I fairly told
her that if she did not come to Shorapoor, as she
was dirccted and permitted to do, I should dis-
miss her escort, and leave her where she was.
That the decision of Government could not
change ; sooner would the current of the river
turn and flow upward. I strongly advised her
to return to Bangalore until she was in a more
reasonable frame of mind; and I ended by tell-
ing her, that if she continued so violent I should
report everything that she said to Government,
and that she would probably get deeper into
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trouble. At length, at sunset, after having endured
her society for nearly four hours, we left her.

“ At eleven at night she sent for me again.
What a life this woman led me! I took a rela-
tive of hers with me, a respectable man. She
was restless and uneasy, said she was sorry for
what she had uttered, that she had lost her tem-
per, that she could not sleep because I had left
Ler in anger, and had sent for me to tell me so,
&c. ; and that she had determined to go to Sho-
rapoor next day, and wenld do exactly as I bid
her. Also she proclaimed that she intended to
live privately, and to have no men about her;
that they had all cheated her, and brought her
into trouble, As I found her cool, and rcason-
able, I gave her a lecture, appealing to what feel-
ings she had, and showing her how her own cvil
doings had led her into disgrace and banish-
ment, and would inevitably do so again if not
-controlied.  She scemed to feel my words, and
kept repeating, ‘I have no true friend except
you, Forgive me! forgive me !’

“ After a long talk I left her and came home
to bed, tired and worried enough, Next day we
all started, the Rajah riding a fine horse; and
about 3 p.M. the Ranee came to his tent, and
seemed more pleased to sce him, In the evening
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we started for Shorapoor, about seven miles, she
and I in palankeens, the rest all on foot or on
horseback—~a motley crowd, but very numerous.
The Ranee appeared in very good humour, and
thanked me for having received her with so much
honour, When she arrived at the palace, all the
children, with dear old Kesimdi, met her ; but she
took no notice of any one except Kesfmi, at
whose fect she fell, praying her to forgive her,
and to place her hands upon her head—which
the good old lady did at once.”

Thus the Ranee subsided into her old palace
and old associations. She had brought a poor
half-easte with her, and amused herself by writ-
ing English letters to officials she had known
during her ahsence ; but as these were invariably
returned to her, she addressed the Resident with
the like result. Her allowance was higher than
she expected—12,000 rupees a-year—and she
professed herself content.

She sent for her old friend Kasima, who came
to me in much alarm.

“ What am I to do?” he said. “1I have had
quite enough of her and of her schemes—she is
a devil,”

“ She was kind to you,” I replied ; “ she had
you married in state, and made her son, your
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prince, walk before your palankeen; you should
not abuse her., All you have to do is to keep
quiet ;7 and he took my advice.

When [ came in from the country in August
the lady was very quiet, and returned my visit,
bringing some of the children with her, and stay-
ing nearly all day amusing herself in my garden ;
but I found her chief object was to present me
with a schedule of herdebts! These amounted
to 62,000 rupees, and there were more behind.
I had no authority to pay any such sum, which
had heen borrowed by her chiefly in Mysore ; and
whether permission would be granted for the
payment of these debts or not I could not tell.
Lventually 500 rupees a-month was deducted
from the Ranee’s allowance to give to her ered-
itors, a decision which sct her frantic; and she
announced her intention of appealing to Par-
liament, though utterly ignorant of what that
tribunal was, or where!
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CHAPTER XIL
185153,

A copy of a despatch from the Court of Directors
reached me in December. It was most satisfac-
tory, and reviewed the transactions of 1847-
48, It was full of honourable commendation,
which I need not here repeat; but the State had
made great advance since then in material pros-
perity, and I was glad to have an opportunity of
showing it to Major Johnston, then military sec-
retary at Hyderabad, and he promised to write to
Sir Henry Llliott, at that time secretary with the
Governor-General, and to tell him all he had
seen, and about the improvements in progress.
I found the Ranee very ill and miserable-——she
had had a stroke of paralysis that had affected
all her left side, and more particularly her face,
which was now hideous; and therc was little
doubt that dropsy had set in, in addition, The
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apothecary who had charge of the public dispen-
sary and hospital did what he could for her, but
had a very bad opinion of her case.

In March my public report for the year past
went in, and was reviewed by the Resident,
Gencral Fraser. He was perfectly satisfied ; and
on the report of Mujor Buckle, engineer-in-chief
at Hyderabad, sanctioned my estimate for the
new tank at Kuchaknoor, ncar Bohnal. Major
Buckle had great experience in irrigation works
in the Madras Presidency, and was kind enough,
during one of my visits to Hyderabad, to instruct
me in the principles of the construction of dams,
sluices, and the like, T had put these instruc-
tions into practice, and sent up all the estimates,
with survey, plans,-and sections, for this new
work. I was very anxious to complete it, if pos-
sible, during my stay at Shorapoor. It would be
of ecnsiderable magnitude—the dam 1872 yards
An length; the greatest depth of water-storage
50 ft ; the average of the whole basin about 20
ft.; und the area of water 6} square miles. It
would be a noble shect of water, and very profit-
able, as it would irrigate upwards of 10,000
beegahs of rice. As soon as my estimates were
sanctioned I began the work, and the Rajah
opened it with all due cercmony, turning the
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first sod, and carrying the first basket of
earth,

The concluding paragraph of General Fraser’s
despateh was as follows :-—

«T consider it, however, due to you to place
upon record the renewed expression of my entire
approval of your public conduct, and my highest
commendation of the unremitting and devoted
attention which you giveto the discharge of your
important duties.”

Could T desirc more? Still my life was lonely
and dreary : [had no society whatever; and only
at Tarc intervals a short visit from some friend or
passing traveller. If it had not been for my
daily work, which lasted from geven in the morn-
ing till cight at night, and sometimes longer,
1 could not, I think, have endured the entire
isolation of my life, all official praises notwith-
standing.

During my wanderings over the Shorapoor dis-
triet in this and former years I had discovered,
in many places, cairns and dolmens, some of them
of very large size, corresponding in all respects
to similar monuments in England, Brittany, and
other places. I mistrusted my judgment in re-
gard to them for a long time : but at length 1
drew up a paper on the subject, accompanied by
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sketehes ; and followed it up by another in regard
to the contents of cairns which I had opened. In
one spot, near Sholapoor, I found most curious
remains—a large barrow, with a parallelogram of
rocks, 440 ft. by 280 ft. The rocks were in regu-
lar line, some of them 12 ft. long and 9 ft. thick,
and from 5 to 6 ft. high. They had been rolled
from the granitic range, a distance of 14 mile.
Another place contained an immense number of
large rocks, placed in regular rows, direct and
diagonally, leaving squares of from 5 to 6 yards
Letween. In this arca were some cairns. I sent
my article on the subject to the Royal Asiatic
Socicty in Bombay, who did me the honour to
elect me a member.  These stone monuments
of Shorapoor tallied exactly with European ex-
amples ; but it seemed to me so strange a dis-
covery that I almost doubted whether European
archeologists would admit it. They did so most
fu'ly afterwards, and my discoverics at Shorapoor
were followed by others even more interesting in
other portions of lower India.

For a long period the affairs of the Nizam’s
Yovernment had been in a critical state. It owed
nearly one million sterling to the British Govern-
ment, which it could not pay. The Contingent
was constantly in heavy arrear, and Tord Dal-

VOL. IL D



50 STORY OF MY LIFE. [onap. xiI

housie, urged by the Court of Directors, pressed
for a settlement. The subject had been under
reference to England for several years; but it
appeared now nearer a conclusion. ,

The Nizam had tried several Ministers in sue-
cession, who had failed. He then attempted to
govern himself, and failed more signally than his
Ministers, The State had no public credit, and
the administration in the provinces was oppressive
to the people, and utterly corrupt. Now affairs
seemed to have reached a climax. Provinces,
detailed in a minute I wrote by desire of the
Resident in January 1831, were to be made over
to the British Government, and I was to be put
in charge of one of them.

“The experience and past services of Captain
Meadows Taylor,” wrote Lord Dalhousie to Gen-
eral Fraser, ©“at once point him out as the proper
person for undertaking the direction of those
districts which lie near Shorapoor, if his pres-
ent occupation will admit of his entering on this
additional charge.”

It would have admitted of it, for no new mea-
sures were required at Shorapoor, and the Rajah
was gaining enough experience to manage fairly
for himself, with a little assistance now and then.
He transacted most of the current business, and
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did it very well. His new palace was finished
outside, and nearly inside also, and the upper
apartments were very airy, cool, and spacious.
My only dread was on account of his mother,
who, I feared, was endeavouring to drag him into
her toils by the worst possible means.  However,
the new arrangement with the Nizam was not to
come into force at once. 1 was summoned to
Hyderabad, to be givencharge of a provinee, but
returned as I went—the appointment being de-
layed. When there, I ascertained many morve
particulars of the condition of the Nizam’s Gov-
ernment than I previously had knowledge of, and
in some respects it was worse than I thought.
The first instalment of the Nizam’s debt, 40
lakhs, £400,000, had been remitted to Calcutta,
and the second was due ; but there were no funds
to meet it. The Nizam sent to his Minister,
Suraj - ool - Moolk, jewels, which his Highness
valued at 30 lakhs, to be pledged for that amount;
but the baukers only valued them at 10 lakhs, and
they even declined to give four for them. The
principal bankers were so shaken, in fact, by their
previous loans, that not only were they unable
to make money, but some were even threatened
with insolvency. At the instance of capitalists
at Madras an advance had been made on the
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Nizam’s jewels of five lakhs ; but this was a mere
drop in the occan.

The first 40 lacs had been raised by officers
newly appointed to several large districts, assisted
by the bankers. It was now proposed to raise a
similar sum by putting in new men and turning
out the others, Nobody dared to mention “ ces-
sion of territory” to the Nizam, and thus the
vessel of the State drifted on without sail or
Lielm to the rocks, on which it might go to pieces
at any time. I was sorry for the Resident, who,
if he trusted to Suraj-ool-Moolk’s word, was sure
to be deceived ; yet 1 believe Suraj-ool-Moolk
had every wish to fulfil his promises if he eould ;
but there were literally no assets to work on, and
no credit to be had, and all waited for Lord Dal-
Lousic’s next move.

In November I reccived a private and confi-
dential note from the Ranee of Gudwall, a State
smaller than Shorapoor, but occupying the same

H

political position,

She knew of the prosperity at Shorapoor, and
wished me to take charge of Gudwall in the same
manncr. The offer, spontaneous as 1t was, grati-
fied me much, but unless T were placed 1n charge
of the “ Raichore Doab,” in which her State lay,
I could do nothing for hLer, and in any case I
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could not myself propose the measure. The
Ranee was o woman of irreproachable character,
and would, T felt sure, be casy to deal with.

In December I received orders to go to Beeja-
poor to mect the Commissioner of Sattara and the
Collectcr of Sholapoor, who, with myself, were to
form a commission for the investigation of lines
of traffic and roads from all sides, with reference
to the opening of a-mew port on the western
coast a3 Viziadroog. T had been suffering much
from fever and other ailments, and the change of
air and scene was delightful to think of. I had
never yet seen Becjapoor, and had longed to visit
it for years, on account of its noble remains of
Mussulman architecture. We met, and made out
a report, which I had to write, and we were a
very pleasant little party ; hut my chief delight
was in sketching, in which I was unwearied, and
foond ever fresh objects for my brush.  Had I
had -hree months, instcad of three weeks, to
spend, I could not have half exhausted the suh-
Jects that presented themsclves everywhere —
palaces, mosques, interiors, exteriors, combina-
tions of ruins and landscape, extended views, and
choiie “bits,” all most picturesque and beantiful.
U brought away as many drawings as I could ; but
[ waould willingly have lingered had 1 had leisure.
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As the majority of the Rajah was fast approach-
ing, I drew up, at the Resident’s request, a report
upon the results of my management of Shorapoor
from the commencement ; and this he transmitted
to the Governor-General, with a letter requesting
instructions as to the date on which the Rajah’s
minority should expire, and proposing, on his
own part, that I should remain at Shorapoor
after that event, in the capacity of political agent
on the part of the Government of India, on a
salary of 1500 Co. rupees per month, to be paid
by the State of Shorapoor. 1 did not think it
likely that the Rajaly would desire the presence
of any political agent, if he were allowed the
option, much less that he would agree to main-
taining one at the cost of 20,000 rupees of the
local currency; but the Resident’s letter had
gone on to the Government, and I could only
await the rveply, When it came it was very
satisfactory.

Extract from despateh from the Secretary in the
Foreign Department to the Resident at Hy-

derabad,
“I5th January 1853,

“8ir,—1 am directed by the Most Noble the
Governor-General to acknowledge the receipt of
your letter, dated the 22d ult., No. 218, with 1ts
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enclosures, and, in reply, to observe that the re-
port upen the management of the affairs of Shora-
poor exhibits results in the secured prosperity of
the Prince, in the tranquillity of the State and
contentment of the people, highly honourable to
the indnstry, the perseverance, and the ability of
Captain Meadows Taylor.”

The period fixed for the majority of the Rajah
was the completion of his eighteenth year; but
in relation to the political agency, his lordship
stated that ““though it would be in the highest
degree advisable, yet if, on attaining his full age,
which the Rajah would then have reached, and
finding his State orderly, and his means adequate
to his expenditure, he should decline to comply
with the suggestion, his lordship does not know
on what grounds the Government of India could
insist upon it.” The question, thercfore, was to
be referred to the Court of Directors.

A fow days after the receipt of the foregoing,
I had the pleasure to receive from F. Courtenay,
Fsq., private secretary to the Governor-General,
a letter, written privately, by desire of Lord Dal-
housic, Which assured me his lordship wished me
to know that he had himself drafted the despatch
before-quoted to General Fraser, and that he was
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glad of having had the opportunity of expressing
his opinion of what I had done, and that, in re-
gard to the blame he had attached to me on the
proceedings of the Linsoogoor inquiry, he now
completely exonerated me from it, being con-
vinced, from the Ranee's dangerous and ob-
noxious intrignes and general ill-conduet in
Mysore, that I had done no more than my duty
in removing her from Shorapoor. Mr Courtenay
added, in a postseript, * IHis lovdship has read
this, and desires me to say that you may consider
1t as having been written by himself.”

Could I have wished or hoped for more ? My
friend, Major Johnston, was with me when the
despatches arrived, and I sent for the Rajah to
read them to him, and make over the executive
authority in Shorapoor itself to him, as I had
proposed to do that of several departments, in-
forming him also at what period his minority
would cease.

He took these communications in a very
proper spirit-——not greedily, but gratefully, and
even sadly. “Till now,” he said, “he had not
felt his position or its reality ; but he would try
and be worthy of the confidence of Government.,”
He secemed most anxious about his mother, whose
conduct was now horribly profligate; and soon
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after his return to Shorapoor he tried to capture
her chief favourite; but the man escaped at
night, and the Rance, in a furious rage, shut
Lerself up in a far wing of the palace.

“ What will they do,” he said, “ when you leave
them ¢ Though he did not love his mother, yet
she had power over him to tempt him into vieious
courses, and this she did not negleet to exercise,

In June I reccived the Resident’s reply to my
general report for the finamcial year, 1851-52,
which was probably the last I should make, as
the Rajali would soon have the management of
his own treasury. The cash balance in the pre-
ceding year had been 377,834 rupees, the high-
est figure 1t had yet rveached: this year it was
309,442 ; but the extra expenditure on public
works-—such as the new palace and the irmga-
tion works, three large embankments being in
progress—fully accounted for the diminution of
the balance.  Indeed I applied money as rapidly
ag T could to these useful undertakings, with a
view to their future profit to the State. The
great embankment and sluices at Kuchaknoor
were now getting on fast; and I had the satis-
faction of hearing from Major Buckle that ““my
plans, surveys, and estimates were most creditable
to me as an engineer,”
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The Resident’s despatch ran thus :—

“ Par, 37. As the time approaches when the
Rajah will have attained his majority, and be
intrusted, under the sanction of the Government
of India, with the administration of his country,
it becomes a matter of much interest to us to be
assured that nothing has been wanting on our
part to ameliorate the condition of the country
and of its inhabitants during the time that it has
been under our divection.

“Par. 38. On this subject, therefore, it is par-
ticularly gratifying to me to reflect that you have
done honour to the office you have held, and that
you have discharged its several important duties
with the most marked ability, and a devotedness
of time and labour that has had no intermission.”

The Nizam’s affairs continued in the same
deplorable condition.  In June 1852 1 had not
received my pay for December 1851, 1 had long
ago warned the Resident that he was being de-
ceived, and he now began to acknowledge that I
was right. What would be done? Would the
Government of India demand a cession of terri-
tory for the pay of the Contingent only? or would
the whole State be placed for a time under Brit-
ish surveillance ? all the forcign mercenaries dis-
charged, who were a perpetual source of uneasi-
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ness and disquiet, if not of actual alarm, and
the establishment reduced so as to pay debts and
leave the State prosperous? 'This was the Resi-
dent’s advice ; but at present no move was made
in any dircction.

I have not as yet alluded to my friend, the
Rev. Mr Kies, whose occasional visits were a very
great pleasure to me. Ile was a member of a
(German mission emanating from Basle, and sup-
ported by Germany.

He was so simple in his ways, and so learned
at the same time, that he won the respect and
esteem of the people wherever he went. He
made no display, travelling on his stout pony
from village to village, trusting to hospitality,
which was never denied him, and meeting the
learned Shastrees on their own ground, being
fully versed in all their sacred books, and speak-
ing Canarese perfectly. He and I had many a
talk on the subject of missions and mission work,
and his expericnce led him to belicve that there
were great numbers in many parts who were
really dissatisfied with their own Hindooism, yet
lacked courage to break through the trammels of
caste, and separate themselves from Brahminical
influences. That eventually the Christian faith
would prevail, he did not doubt; but at present
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there was but little to show for the patient, humble
teaching of many years of labour. In one note
1 had from Mr Kies, he told me that the priest of
a village where he had previously preached the
Gospel was dead, and with his last breath had
laid injunctions on his people to reccive him as
their future Gooroo (spiritual teacher); and this
they did, listening “simply and reverently.”

Another letter [ find, which is, I think, worthy
of a place here.

“I am afraid, sadly afraid, that missionarics
who go or who write home to Lurope, make it
appear as though they were securing more con-
versions, or hoped to do more, than they can
cffect. I think they have begun at the wrong
end, by abusing Hindooism and idolatry, instead
of meeting the natives on their own ground-—the
Shastras, their scriptures—and showing them how
unreasonable, illogical, and void of all comfort
they are compared with the belief of a Christian.
The finest worl. they have, religious and philoso-
phical, is the ¢ Bhagwat Gita,” an episode of the
Mahabarat ; but though there arc fine thoughts
in it, and fine doctrine, it rests upon no basis

that the mind feels, and is intermixed with phy-
sical absurditics. You should, if you can, rcad
Schlegel’s Latin translation; it is the hest, as
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being nearest to the original Sanscrit. There is
an English version; but I do not know how to
get hold of it. The missionaries are now, [ be-
lieve, at last aware of the necessity of meeting
natives on their own ground; but for thirty
years it was not so, and the mass of vituperation
of Hindoos that has been printed is enormous—
at least what they consider vituperation. Put it
to yourself, as for instance, in Italy, where there
is much image-worship very like idolatry, would
it answer any good purpose to call Saint this, a
rogue ? or Saint that, a thief ¢ or Saint t'other, an
impostor? Krishna descrves all these names; but
it answers no good purpose to hestow them. Tam
often surprised at the supineness of the Tnglish
chaplains of the Established Church.  Mission-
aries take the trouble geucrally to learn at least
one native language ; but among English elergy-
men I do not know of one who really makes na-
tive languages his study, and many of them can
hardly speak intelligibly to their  s2rvants. Why
is this? Ts there no field of work for them as
well as for missionaries ? no good to be done to
natives around them ? no translations to make ?
Of course there are. The work is plentiful ; but
it is not done. Good classical scholars generally
find little difficulty in learning native languages;
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and why should not a chaplain preach in a plain,
simple fashion, and be able to read the service to
the natives at his station? Much good, it strikes
me, might be done were this subject rightly con-
sidered.”

Mr Kies was beloved and respected by all; and
his visits were cagerly looked for. He laboured
on as long as I continued in India ; and I belicve,
at last, owing to ill health, returned to Basle,
where he died—an honest, upright, humble fol-
lower of his Lord, and one who, by his simple
faith and kindly feelings, won many converts.

In September, all being perfectly quiet and
prosperous at Shorapoor, 1 went up to Hydera-
bad for medical advice. The Rajah had married
hig third wife, according to the custom of the
family, and his first wife’s half-sister had also
been married at the same time to the Rajah of
Soonda. She was one of my Shorapoor children,
for whom I had always felt a great affection; she
was so clever, and yet so gentle, and very hand-
some, and the Rajah of Soonda had fallen in love
with her at first sight, and would not be refused.
The expenses of these marriages, the ladies’ trous-
seauwx and their jewels, were very heavy—hardly
less in all than a lakh of rupees; but the money
was their own, and devoted to their own purposes,
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At Hyderabad I was very ill; the fever I had
previously suffered from returned with great
violence, and my life was almost despaired of.
Under God’s great mercy I again recovered, and
felt far better than T had done for several months
before 1 left. The Resident wished me to re-
main, pending the final instructions of the Gov-
crnor-General regarding Hyderabad and the debts
of the Nizam’s Government, which were increag-
ing every month. The Governor-General and
the Resident were ab issue in regard to the
policy to be adopted with respect to the Nizam.
The Resident proposed that the whole of his
Highness’s dominions should be placed under the
management of the Dritish Government, and all
useless expenses reduced in order to pay the State
debts, which were estimated at four millions and
a half.  Lord Dalhousie, on the other hand, pro-
tested very strongly against any interference with
hLis Highness’s affairs, which had been guaranteed
by the British Government in the Treaty of 1800;
and he required only a partial cession of territory
to provide for the payment of the Contingent and
liquidation of the debt to the Company. These
views, so essentially different, were irreconcilable ;
but T was not prepared for the vesult. The Resi-
dent came to me one evening and said, abruptly,
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“ Taylor, I have sent in my resignation ; I have
just posted it myself, and I have told nobody—
not even my wife; but I confide it to you. In
a day or two 1t will be made public.”

I was much grieved. I had worked under him
and with him for more than nine years without
a difference, and his kindness, both officially and
privately, had been uniform and continued, nor
can I ever forget his unwearied care of me and
attention in my illness.

While 1 was still at Hyderabad his resignation
was accepted, and be beean his preparations for
departure. I left Hyderabad on the 26th De-
cember, bidding him good-bye with extreme re-
gret. Colonel Low, who on a former occasion
had acted for General Fraser, was appointed his
successor, and would, it was presumed, bring with
him the final orders of the Governor-General in
Council. He was cxpected early in March, so I
should not be long in suspense.

I returned to my districts, and began my last
revenue settlement. There was but little to do;
the period of five years had expired, and all that
remained was a general revision and adjustment,
with the remissions or other provision for out-
standing balances. On the whole we had been
unlucky as regarded seasons, and had had three



1858.] RESIGNATION OF THE RESIDENT. 65

bad, through excoss of unseasonable rain, against
two good. T could therefore make no demand for
an increase of rent, and the leases for waste lands
taken up had been necessarily irregular. A regu-
lar system of returns of cultivation and revenue,
in all villages in correspondence with the trea-
sury, worked well, and the most ordinary super-
vision on the part of the Rajah would keep every-
thing straight. I had-net been long in camp
when the Rajah came out o me, and remained
for a few days shooting. e appeared, for the
first time, rostless, and somewhat petulant, won-
dering how soon the orders would arrive regard-
ing him. I could only assurc him he could not
be more anxious than I was on the subject ; but
I could do nothing till they came. The Ranee
had again been ill, and when her son visited her,
had told him that unless he cxcrted himself he
would never get the country out of my hands,
and that he was now no child, “ Why did he not
‘act as o man?”  No wonder, I thought, that he
was petulant, and perhaps suspicious too. I had
informel him of the probable political agency ;
and a draft of a letter was prepared from himself
and others of the elder members of his family,
declaring that no political agency was necded,
and that the Rajah was fully able to manage lLis
VOL. 1L E
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own concerns. Some signed these papers; but
others, especially the Beydurs, refused to do so,
except a few, who sent me word they had done
it under compulsion. The Ranee, to her credit,
declared to her son that he would ruin himself if
these papers were forwarded. 1 never heard of
them till afterwards, so I suppose the Ruajah was
guided by her counsel.

On March 10th the Resident, wrote to the Rajah
that the Court of Directors and the Governor-
General approved of his taking up the affairs of
his State ; but they desired that I should remain
as political agent to advise him in State matters,
and thus preclude the reeurrence of former dis-
order and irrcgularity : to this the Resident re-
quested a distinct reply, which would be for-
warded for the orders of the Governor-General.
On receipt of this letter, the Rajah wrote to me
asking the meaning of * political agent,” which
I explained, and he sent his reply to the Resi-
dent, which was at once forwarded; but the
question of political agency was cvaded under
his assurance to (lovernment that “ his reliance
in all matters was restricted to the fuvour of the
Supreme Government.”

Perhaps if the Rajah had been from the first
assured that lie would not have had to pay for
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the agensy and its establishment, he would have
consented to the step as a mark of distinction
to his State, but the prospeet of Laving to pay
20,000 rupeecs a-year was formidable. Lord Dal-
housic had very distinetly given his opinion that
the measure could not be foreed upon the Rajah ;
and even if he consented, he ought not to be con-
sidered responsible for the heavy charges it would
involve. I had always looked on the subject
as extremely uncertain ;- for unless the Counrt of
Directors sanctioned the expenditure, 1 did not
see how the Governor-General could anthorise it.
Everything, however, must soon be finally settled.

The Rajah had come of age the previous October,
and the delay in his publie recognition by Govern-
ment wos only making him restless and suspicious.
If the Eajah had agreed to the appointment of a
political agent, I should of eowrse have remained
with him ; but I had no wish to do so for many
reagons, and I wrote privately to Colonel Low on
the subject. The rumours of a transfer of terri-
tory by the Nizam became again vife in April,
and as I felt sure my services would not be
passed over, I waited patiently for the issue. I
could rot have remained at Shorapoor; but if
I were given charge of the Raichore Doab, T
could sull look after it. The Rajal’s viees were
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becoming notorious, and I cannot write of them;
and his temper, to his own people, was growing
like his mother’s.

The Rajah’s answer to the Resident not being
considered satisfactory by the Governor-General,
the Resident again wrote, detailing the exact sum
to be paid to the agent, 1815 Shorapoor rupees
per month—equivalent to 1500 Government ru-
pees—and there would~be additional sums for
sepoys, &e. I was at Shorapoor, and the Rajah
brought the letter to me, and asked me what he
was to say.

“I cannot pay thig large sum to any one,” he
said; “you know [ cannot.”

Indeed T was of the same opinion, and thought
the expenses might well have been shared by the

lompany and by the Nizam’s Government.

“But,” continued the Rajah, “I suppose they
will be angry with me if I refuse, and, indecd, 1
don’t want you to go away. I know I shall do
no good when you are gone ; you don’t know the
people T have about me.”

“Yes,” T said, “I do, as well as you; and if
you only act rightly, you will be able to control
them far more easily than I did.”

“0O appa!” he eried, leaving bis chair, and
throwing himself at my fect—“0 appa/ if T were
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only a little boy again to lie in your arms, and
for you to love me as you used ! All that is gone
for ever.”

“No, no,” T answered ; “if [ go—and I must
go soon—7I shall not be far away from you, and
if you are in any trouble or difliculty send for
me and I will come. You can always write in
English ¢ Come,” and T shall understand.”

“Iwill,” he said. “Iknow, whatever you may
hear, you will not forsake your boy.”

And [ gave him my promige. That, except once
more, as I shall have to relate, was the last time
I was ever alone with him. He wrote his answer
to the Resident on the 1st May : it was clumsily
worded, and Colonel Low did not like the style;
but the Rajah did mot intend it to be disrespect-
ful or arrogant. He declined the political agency
on the terms on which it was offered, owing to
the great expense; and I thought him right.

Meanwhile events at Hyderabad were 1 full
progress towards a settlement. The Resident had
received his final orders, which were to demand
that territory in payment of the Contingent might
be ceded in perpetuity to British management,
and the districts I had named in my minute of
January 1851 were the basis of the transaction.
The old Contingent was to be remodelled; all the
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local officers pensioned, and the force no longer
called the ““Nizam’s Army,” but, as the ¢ Hy-
derabad Contingent,” to be an auxiliary one to
the Government of India. Should any rcader
desire to refer to these transactions, they are to
be found in their entirety in the Blue-book of
1854, April 4th, and are in truth very interesting,
as explaining measures on which Lord Dalhousie
has often been arraigmed:. The Nizam objected
to the “ assignment in perpetuity,” and the treaty
was duly executed and signed without that con-
dition, leaving him at liberty to redeem the
provineces if possible, at some future time,

I was still at Shorapoor, . The Rance intended
to go on a pilgrimage to one of the great tem-
ples in the south of dndia, and took leave of me
in apparently real grief.

“ Do you remember, Taylor Sahib,” she asked,
“ what I once told you about that boy ? You have
not forgotten it ?”

“ No, Rance Sahib,” I replicd, “nor ever shall.”

“ Ah,” she continued, “lic is the last—the last
of hig race! IHe will lose all his ancestors ever
gained ; and all the pains you have taken with
him, and all the money you have saved for him,
will be poured like water into the sea; and
you will be grieved — sorcly, sorely grieved !
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But I shall not see it, for I am dying, my friend,
dying fast now, Will you forgive me all that 1
have done to you? I am a mean old woman :
you are going one way, and I am going anotler ;
we shall never meet again.”

I bent over her as she lay upon her bed, and
touched her hand with my lips.  She could not
speak ; but smiled, waved her hand gently, and T
left her.

Nexti day she went to Linscogoor, and being
again scized with paralysis, died there on the
27th May. She was but forty ycars old; but
when I last saw her she secmed seventy, haggard
and wasted almost to a skeleton,  The Rajah
rode over to sce lier the day before her death,
but she was insensible, and Le disgusted all those
presens by his levity and the unruly crowd he
had with him.

He returned to Shorapoor while she was yet
living, and made no attempt to attend her fune-
ral ritzs. I called upon him the day after her
deuth, according to Shorapoor etiquette, but he
hardly mentioned his mother at all, except as
having “ been very foolish.”

So cnded the Rance Ishwarama,

[f there were some good points in her charac-
ter, generosity and charity to the poor, her profli-
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gacy and baneful influence over her son were
terrible to think on, and continued to have effect
on him to the last.

Suraj-ool-Moolk, the Nizam’s Minister, was
dead ; and his nephew, Salar Jung, a most gentle-
manly, well-cducated young nobleman, had been
appointed in his stead by the Nizam, with every
prospect of success. He has since risen to the
very highest eminence in India as a statesman,
and by him the Nizam’s Statc has been rescued
from the decadence with which it was threatened.

I was now summoned to Hyderabad to reccive
instructions respecting the district that was to
be given into my charge—which of the five that
had been ceded wag not made known to me. I
arrived on the 11th JJune, and having reported my-
sclf, received a polite note from the Resident, ask-
ing me to come to dinner, as he had much to say.
He received me most kindly, and I was charmed
with him, he was so frank, and clear-headed,
and decided in all his expressions; and I saw,
at once, that I should work happily under him.
Next day the districts were assigned. At first [
was given Berar, the largest; but an express ar-
rived from the Bombay Government particularly
requesting that I might be given that portion of
the ceded territory which lay contiguous to the
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Bombay Presidency, and 1 was nominated to that
instcad.

The following extract from an official lctter
from the Resident to me, was at once Dboth
explanatory and gratifying —

“Para. 14. As I understand that you have
felt surprised, and perhaps somewhat disappointed,
at finding that districts of comparatively small
extent arc to be made-over to your management,
while larger districts are allotted to other Deputy-
Commissioners of less experience in civil duties
than yourself, I think it 15 due to you to as-
sure you that the circumstance in question has
not occurred from any want of confidence on my
part in your qualifications or zcal for the public
interests—indecd quite the reverse; for my ori-
ginal reason in determining to send you to the
western districts was my belief that many of the
duties in that quarter will be of a peculiarly diffi-
cult ard delicate nature, arising from the numer-
ous Surf-i-Khas districts in that quarter, the
revenue management of which remains, according
to agreement with the individuals who enjoy
them, with the Nizam’s Government, while the
police and judicial duties of those villages are to
be conducted entirely under your orders,

“15, I may also mention that long-pending
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and intricate disputes respecting boundaries and
frontier taxes, &e., &e., must be inquired into and
settled in communication with the collectors of
Ahmednugger and Sholapoor of the Honble. Com-
pany’s territories ; and I knew that I could rely
on your tact and judgment, and general experi-
ence in civil duties, for the purpose of bringing
these disputes to a satisfactory conclusion, More-
over, I may as well mention the fact that it 1
within the last three days, and after the allot-
ment of districts to the several Deputy-Commis-
sioners had been arranged, that the western dis-
tricts have been curtailed to their present extent
at the particular request of the Nizam, who ori-
ginally promised eight lakhs in that direction,
making up the difference by adding lands to the
southern portion of Berar. That fact, however,
does not in any material degree alter the difficult
duties above alluded to conneeted with the west-
ern districts, which I consider you so well quali-
fied to overcome.”

I had sent on all my tents and heavy baggage
towards Berar by way of Beeder; but I now re-
called it, as T was required to go first to Shorapoor,
and then to my new district : it was, in fact, part
of my old district of 1828-29, and a fine healthy
climate, which to me Berar was not; and as one
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end bordered on Shorapoor, [ should have no
difficulty in getting there.  The Raichore Doab,
to which I had looked as my probable destina-
tion, was divided into two portions, and DBerar
into two, and mine appeared to be the largest in
avea, though not in revenue.  “ ¢ You won't mind
that,”” said the Resident, as I wrote to my father ;
“¢your district requires a person of tact and ex-
perience of more than ordinary character, and
therefore 1 send you’”’—a flatteving and gracious
speech, for which I made due acknowledgment.
[t was curious that my destination should be so
very suddenly changed.

The treaty, ratified by the Governor-General,
had not as yet arrived from Caleutta ; and as there
was a great deal of detail to be arranged about
the establishments-and ceneral management of
the new districts, the Resident requested me to
draw up a minuate on the subject, which I did as
rapidly as I could ; and by the time the treaty
had arrived, and the Nizan fixed the 18th July for
a public durbar to receive and sign it, my minute
was ready.  On the appointed day, the Resident,
accompanied by a numerous staff, of which I was
one, went to the durbar,  Iis Highness was in
excellent humour, chatted freely and gaily with
Colonei Low, and seemed highly pleased that the
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differences between the two Governments had
heen so speedily and so amicably arranged. Next
day, I and the other new civil officers who were
at Hydcrabad received our credentials, and there
being no need for further delay, I returned to
Shorapoor to make my final arrangements, and
to give over my charge to the Rajah according to
the instructions I had received. Lord Dalhousie
had not been partieularly pleased with the tone
of the Rajah’s reply to his despatch, which he
characterised as “ presumptuous ;” yet, as there
was no pretext for eompelling him to retain the
services of a political agent, he directed that the
State should be made over to him, at the same
time warning him-—

“That if he allowed his country to fall into
disorder, the Supreme Government would inter-
fere and establish order,” or perhaps set him aside
altogether.

I had appointed the 30th June for the final
ceremony, and had written to tell the Rajah to be
ready. On my way to Shorapoor I fell in with
Captain Balmain, who had been appointed to
Western Raichore, and took him on with me,
My future assistant, Licutenant Cadell, awaited
me also at Shorapoor. [ will give the detail of
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the last few days from my letter to my father,
written at the time.

“I had prepared proclamations and other docu-
ments directing all persons to obey the Rajah,
and Cadell and I went to the palace in the even-
ing. There were many people present, and the
letter from the Governor-Gencral was first read ;
then my proclamation ; and I made a short
specch, saying I hoped that all present would be
faithful to the Rajah, and serve him ag they had
served me—that I trusted they would do so, and
take care of the State, and not relapse into evil
ways.

“Then, as I hung a garland of flowers about
the Rajah’s neck, and gave the State seals into his
hand, a royal salute was fired, and the ceremony
ended.

“The Rajah scemed to take it all very coolly
and as a matter of course, and said nothing ; but
he whispered to me that he could not say all
he would in such a crowd; but would send for
me, or come up to me in a day or two.

“We remarked that therc was no manifesta-
tion of satisfaction among the assembly, or among
the crowds outside the palace; on the contrary,
many were weeping.
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“The Rajal’s first act was to seize his illegiti-
mate half-sister, or rather take her away from her
mother, and marry her by a left-handed cere-
mony, obliging the members' of his family to be
present, to their great disgnst. For two days he
was busy with this ceremony, offerings at temples,
and the like, and on the 3d July he wrote to me,
begeing I would come to him in the evening.

“He asked me what he should write to the
Governor-General, and T gave him verbally the
outline of a plain grateful letter.  He then asked
to be allowed to purchase my house, which was a
great satisfaction to me, and he offered 20,000
rupees, an ofter I gladly aceepted, provided Gov-
ernment made no ohjection.  He afterwards sent
every one away, and spoke about his affairs more
sensibly than I had ever heard him do before ;
and as he gave me this opening I improved upon
it, and showed him how, during the short time
he had managed his affairs, he had already con-
trived to spend every rupee of ready money—how
his servants and soldicrs were even now in arrears
of pay, as was the ease in his father’s time, and
he himsclf obliged to borrow here and there in
advance of the collections. 1 told him I did
not see what it would all come to if he did not
take pains to make things better, and much to
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the same purpose, when he began to sob, and
cling about me, saying he had now no friends,
and how he was to get on he did not know, but
hie would do his best. He said he saw there was
no use 1n soldiery, which his people told him were
necessary (this was in relation to the proposed
enlistment of Arabs and Rohillas, which T had
heard was intended), and that he would discharge
many of them, and reduce hisextra expenses. He
then told me there was one thing which he wished
me to know, and which had long been on his mind
—namely, that if he died without legitimate issue
he wished the British Government to annex his
State, and provide for his family and dependants.
I begged he would write this in a letter to the
Resident, which I'undertook to forward; but I
represented that he was very young, and that 1
hoped to hear of his having a family and an heir.

“JIn such conversation our time passed, and 1
mentioncd everything I could think of in regard
to the future management of the affaivs.  He said
he did not know how to thank me, or show his
gratitude ; but that if he were permitted to settle
on me an allowance for life, and a village or two
for my maintenauce, as a proof of his regard, he
would be thankful,

“The next day he asked Cuadell and me to
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dinc with him. The letters, including that about
my estate, were all ready, and were duly for-
warded on the 7th July. The village selected
for me was an outlying one within the British
territory, and yielded 2500 Company’s rupees, or
£250 a-year, and I shall be very lucky if T get it.

“The following day-—Cadell having started in
the morning—I went to the palace to bid the
Rajah good-bye; and not only he, but all the
members of the family, and the chief people,
male and female, 1n Shorapoor.

“ It was a painful process; there were crowds
of people all about me, clinging to my palankeen,
as I went from house to house. The Rajah had
gone out to one of his hunting retreats, leaving
word that he could not bear to see me go. As|l
proceeded, the people and the Beydurs, men and
women, gathered in the streets, and accompanied
me, and it was as much as I could do to get away
at all. The Rajah’s wives, whom I had known
as children, clung about me. Poor old Kesdmad,
now nearly ninety years old, blessed me: I can-
not weep,’ she said, ‘ my old cyes are dry; but I
bless you, you and all belonging to you.’

“It was a most exciting scene, and very pain-
ful. Mine has been a long sojourn among a
strange people, and whatever may have been
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their faults, there was no doubt of their warm
attachment to myself.”

The crowds followed me to the gates; but as
my bearers quickened their pace the numbers
soon fell off. At every village I was met by the
people, and at the last one on the frontier a great
concourse had assembled of all the head-men,
pateils, and putwarrees, and principal farmers.
I do not think there waseven one man who had
a hope of the Rajal’s maintaining his position,
and 1s to themselves, they said — “ We must
escape oppression as best we can. It will be a
hard struggle.”

So ended my connection with Shorapoor for the
present. [t was herveafter rencwed for a time
under far different circumstances. I had tried
humbly and carnestly to do my duty to its people
of all degrees; and could I give wn extenso my
long l:tters to my father, they would show more
of what my inner life and occupations were, and
of my schemes and plans for the welfare of the
State. They are far too monotonous, however,
and all [ have been able to do is to note such
events, and quote such extracts, as would give
some notion of my endeavours and their results.

I one of his despatches General Fraser char-
acterised the State of Shorapoor as “a wild and

VOL. IL ¥
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barbarous district, replete with disorder and ir-
regularity of every conceivable kind.” And no
doubt it was so when I took over charge. The
Beydurs were the same, and their power was
the same as in the time of Aurungzeeb, or in-
dced from the fifteenth century, and their feudal
condition of service to their chief was the same.
Sometimes, owing to their numbers and position,
they had been able to dominate over all classes of
the people ; sometimes their power bad exceeded
that of their own chiefs, and had forced these to
act as they pleased. BSometimes the Rajahs had
in their twrn brought them to submission; but
they had never bent to any Mussulman or other
foreign yoke, and none of the civilisation that
such a process insured had ever reached them.
As long as times were disturbed, they plondered
at their will throughout the Deccan and Mysore,
and it was only when stronger and more peaceful
Governments had the rule that they were re-
strained. Bnt if the old raids and forays could
not be indulged in, there were at any rate cattle-
lifting and dacodty, and other crimes, to fall back
upon ; and they looked upon these as most hon-
ourable achievements until the late interference
with Shorapoor by the British Government.

This violence I had at least suppressed, and for
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years before I left there had not been one single
complaint of any such doings beyond the frontier.

One of their systems, however, was not casy to
cradicate. A man who had a quarrel with his
village for any cause could always obtain the aid
of Beydurs willing to take his part as a point of
honour, and these proceeded to issuc threatening

notices, such as

“Ty the authorities of =——. Tn the name of
Mahaceo !

“Tle fire is on the hills!  We are out on
murder and violenee beeause you have injured
—-—, and you had better settle with him.”

It this notice were obeyed, all was well; if
not, the people of the village were kept in per-
petual alarm, their crops injured, and persons
wounded, indeed often killed. This state of
things was bad cnough in the country itself, but
when it extended to parties across the frontier
it was far worse,

On one occasion a man of a small village near
the river Bheema quarrclled with his family, and
went to tire Beydurs of Adoor, which was fifteen
miles distant, in the Nizam's country, where
about a thousand of them were to be found. He
returned with a party, who harried the Shorapoor
village, burnt corn-stacks, and wounded the head-
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man degperately, besides seven others, also send-
ing me an impudent message that the Shorapoor
Beydurs were cowards and old women. My Bey-
durs were furious, and asked me to lead them
on to avenge this insult; and I daresay they
thought meanly of me because I did not. As
the Nizam’s local authorities would or could give
no redress, I appealed to the Resident, who de-
sired me not to stir, and sent down a detachment
of infantry to march on the rebel village. It re-
sisted, was stormed, and afterwards burnt ; and
some of my Beydurs were present, which was a
satisfaction to them, though they would rather
have gone under me.  Not long after the offenders
sent a deputation to me, praying for forgiveness,
and they never transgressed again, They invited
me to come and visit them, which I did, finding
them on a fine level plateau —a much cooler
climate than the plain,

As a body the Shorapoor Beydurs had been
free from crime. They were not dishonest, and
there was no petty thicving or roguery among
them ; they used to say they were too proud for
that sort of thing. Though searcely belonging
to any caste, they were not given to intoxica-
tion, and rarely drank spirits ; few even touched
sendhee, which is the sap of the palm, fermented
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in o peculiar manuer, and very exciting. In the
vears that I had been at Shorapoor there were,
I think, only two murders among them. They
never dreamt of resisting authority in such cascs,
but gave up the offenders to justice at once. In
civil cases I never interfered with their usages,
and they never complained of injustice. Their
Lhdts, or bards, and their clders, had a traditional
knowledge of their laws-and customs, and always
attended the puncheyets; but I do not think there
was much difference between their law and that
of the Hindoos.

The elders of the clans sat every day on their
platform, under the great mccmn tree in the town,
and attended to oll complaints. They were grate-
ful to me for respeeting their former privileges,
and elected me goorelar, or head executive over
all the clans. They certainly never abused their
claims, and by working well as rural police saved
me both labour and anxiety. I was very thank-
ful thar, during my stay no blood had been shed,
nor a single shot fired in anger among them.

All the members of the clans had had lands
allotted for their original support, which had
descended hereditarily. The winimum amount
was one couroo, or thirty beegaks, but some held
as much as three hundred beegalhs nominal.  Ordi-
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narily they farmed these lands themselves, and
divided the produce, but never the land, among
the family. When general security began to
prevail, many took leases for waste lands, and
were assisted by me with capital; but it often
surprised me to see how much was cleared and
planted by them without help. I opened out to
them also a new occupation, that of carriers of
cotton, and other Shorapoor products, to the
coast; and of salt, spices, and English piecc-
goods from the coust,—and this business was
proving very profitable. I introduced the best
seed of cotton and other producc that I could
get, and established a small manufacture of in-
digo, and tried by cvery means in my power to
promote peaceful and ecivilised undertakings. I
think, and hope, that I left these wild people
better than I found them'; they certainly were
more prosperous. They were highly honourable,
and once they had really solemnly sworn faith to
me they never swerved. Not even their Rajab
could tempt them when he tried ; and they told
him very sternly that they had pledged their
faith to me, and till T made them over to him
they would not break it—mnor did they.

As a elass these men were fine athletic fellows,
constantly excrcised in gymnastics and in the
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use of arms. They lived well, eating no meat
except game, and they were comfortably housed,
their habitations having solid mud, or mud and
stone walls, and clay terraced roofs. There was
no savagery among them, such as prevails among
the Bheels and Gonds, and other tribes.

Their ordinary dress was a pair of loose trousers,
of cotton cloth, descending to the calf of the leg;
a turban, and waistband, with a chintz tunic
for festal occasions.  Their hunting or war cos-
tume was a brown leather cap, gathercd in round
the head ; brown leather drawers over the cot-
ton ones; and a leather jerkin or jacket without
sleeves : they only carried swords.  Their women
were well made, strong and hardy, and very
cleanly in their persons and in their homes, and
were excellent housewives, making their hus-
bands’ clothes, spinning yarn for the weavers,
and working in the fields, watering ecrops, and
suchlike. It was rare to hear of a Beydur
having more than one wife, and they were kind
to their women as a rule.

The moral character of these people was very
high, and such infidelities as did rarely occur
were tricd among themselves at their own pun-
chayets.  They were very illiterate, and con-
sidered it “low” to be able to read or write, or
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cast accounts. That was the work of Brahmins!
They joined in some of the Brahminical observ-
ances of the State, and the Dussera, and the
Ooaydee or Bussunt, were always attended by
them. The Dussera I have before mentioned as
a State pageant ; the Bussunt, or Springtide, was
very different. In the morning all the clans in
Shorapoor assembled on the hills around, dressed
in clothes dyed yellow,and accompanied by their
horn-blowers, drummers, flag-beavers, and pipers,
marched to the open space before the greab
temple on the terrace where the Rajah and I
used to sit. Games were then begun-—wrestling,
leaping, &c.; but that most appreciated was
climbing the poles.  Six of these, from twenty to
thirty feet high, were put up, each with a small
pavilion at the top, in which sat a man provided
with jars of some slippery mixture. Large slices
of pumpkin hung from the bottom of this cage,
and the feat was to tear away one or more of
these slices, and it was no easy task. Four, six,
or eight stout fcllows placed themselves round
the base of the pole, others climbed on their
shoulders, others again upon them, and so on,
until one essayed to swarm from the last to the
top, amidst clapping of hands and shouting.
Meanwhile the man in the cage diligently
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emptied his jars of slippery stuff and water
over them all, and often the whole structure
would collapse, and the men fall in a heap.
When any fellow, stronger and more fortunate
than the rest, did succeed in snatching away the
prize, the excitement was unbounded, and he was
brought in triumph to the Rajah to receive his
reward. These people also had a very popular
game, which closcly resembled prison-bars; and
I taught them leap-frog, taking a back myself at
first; and I have seen hundreds flying merrily
over each other, T'alsointroduced racing in sacks,
which caused great amusement. DBesides these
sports, they had marbles, peg-tops, hop-scotch, and
trap, as well as kite-flying, each in its season, as
with us ; and it was curious to find these games
amongst a people who had never known the Eng-
lish ; they were played, too, exactly in the same
manner as with us, and are universal throughout
Indir  Beydurs are keen sportsmen ; with their
sharp spears they attack panthers, wild hog, and
often even tigers, fearlessly. They are skilled at
hawking, both with large falcons and sparrow-
hawks, training the latter to kill quail, larks, and
snipe; and the former, partridges, wild duck, flori-
ken, and hares. The last mentioned, however,
wers generally drawn into nets, and then knocked
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on the head with sticks. A sporting Beydur,
“specially got up,” was a very grand fellow in-
deed. He wore a large handkerchief tied round his
head, of some showy pattern in brilliant colours.
In the centre of his forehead was a large patch of
crimson, which was brought down to the end of
his nose, and across his eyes he had drawn his
hand covered with dry ashes. Dabs of crimson
ornamented his back, round which a delicate
muslin scarf of some bright colour was brought
and tied in a bow, the ends being finished with
some gold tinsel ribbon, which hung down in
front. Round his loins was wound a strong
piece of cloth, with a knife stuck in at the waist.
His trousers, tight round the body, looser to the
knee, and after that very wide to the ankle, are
generally white, or-of pale salmon colour. His
sandals are nicely oiled ; and altogether, with his
falcon or sparrow-hawk on his wrist, his two dogs
at his heels, and a stout quarterstaff in his hand,
he was an imposing, handsome-looking fellow,
and was quite aware of the fact! Some wear
gold ear-rings, silver rings above the elbow round
the arm, and silver waist-chain. Sometimes a
father took his little son out with him ; and these
juvenile “swells,” dressed exactly to resemble their
fathers, sparrow-hawk and all, were very amusing.
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I need not attempt to describe the ordinary
classes. They resembled most others of the
Decean, mixed Mussulman and Hindoo, but were
ruder in manners than the corresponding classes
in the DBritish and Mussulman territories of the
Nizam. They were industrious farmers, and the
way in which they rearcd and cultivated Ameri-
an cotton-seed, and applied their capital to in-
crease the produce of theiveountry, was admirable,
They were litigious and quarrelsome. In heavy
criminal cases I employed courts, or punchayets,
of the chicf persons at Shorapoor, Lingayets,
Hindoos, and Mussulmans, without exclusiveness
as to their class, and including members of the
Rajah’s family ; a President was then sclected,
and specific charges or indietinents made against
the prisoners, The evidence for prosccution and
defence was recorded, and the court gave written
judgment, which contained summing up and
scntence. I found this plan very simple and
efficacious, and the proceedings were always car-
ried ¢n with the greatest regularity. Where sen-
tence of death was recorded, as in murders, the
judgment was translated by me, with the evi-
dence and defence, and forwarded, through the
Rusident, to the Governor-General for confirma-
tion ; and [ had not one instance of disapproval



92 STORY OF MY LIFE. [craP, x11

to record. Cases involving fine and imprison-
ment, with hard labour or without 1t, T used to
try myself. No law had ever existed in Shora-
poor, nor even tl. semblance of a court of justice,
civil or criminal.  Ordinary civil suits were tried
by civil punchayets not limited to five members,
and there were but few appeals to me from their
decisions.

The population of the principality by census
was about 500,000, or 130 to the square mile,
The town itself and its suburbs 30,000.

The public dispensary and hospital at Shora-
poor were very useful, and medicines were dis-
pensed under the orders of the apothecary at-
tached to the staff,  In visitations of cholera,
medicines were sent-out into the districts, and
competent persons despatched in charge of them.
Vaceination made great progress at Shorapoor ;
and in the country, I myself was the chief oper-
ator, my tents being surrounded every morning
by crowds of women and children so long as my
supplies of lymph lasted or could be obtained.

My school at Shorapoor was well attended, and
both Mahratta and Teloogoo, with Persian to Mus-
sulman boys, were well taught. I had even a few
English scholars, some of whom turned out well.
Im the districts there were plenty of schools, where



1853.] COURTS OF JUSTICE, 93

Canarese and Mahratta were taught; and to these
I gave small grants in aid, and books which were
used in the schools of the British provinces.

I have already spoken of what T had begun
and done in public works. The lake at Bohnal
was a complete success, and had repaid the moncey
spent upon it several times over.  The other irri-
gation works were incomplete, and there was but
small hope that the Rajah would carry them on,
although he promised very faithfully to do so.
One grand schenie I formed-—that of diverting the
waters of the river Krishna from their bed, and
bringing them through most part of the prinei-
had to be aban-
doned for want of funds, though perfectly prac-

pality for irrigation purpescs

ticable, as I had ascertained by levels,

I had made and e¢leared many roads, onc of
which extended to Linsoogoor, through a wild
and rocky track, for 36 miles, and opened up
traffic between Shorapoor and the south.

I had planted many thousand mango and
tamarind trecs about the town and elsewhere,
intended both for ornament and produce. When
I left, the road to the Krishna, six miles in length,
was bordered on each side by a double row of fine
young trees, which gave ample promise of fruit.
All these undertakings were gradually accom-
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plished without distressing the 'revenue in any
way ; indeed there were ample funds for all such
contingencies.

I have not the final returns of the revenue at
hand to refer to; but I know that it was nearly,
if not quite doubled ; and with the average libe-
ral expenditure, there was a surplus of a lakh and
a half. There were no debts whatever now, and
I think, when I made over charge to the Rajah,
that the State possessed every element of comfort
and independence that could insure prosperity ;
but there was small hope of its continuance.

Even in the Dbrief period that had already
clapsed the Rajah had spent every anna he found
in the treasury, had not paid the stipendiaries,
and had only the usual year's revenue to look to.
My warnings on this point had been quite fruitless.

I need say little of myself. Since my great
sorrow I had led a cheerless, lonely life; no so-
ciety, no one to speak to from first to last, except
the very rare visit of a friend or traveller, The
palace children often came to sce me, and loved
to hold their dollg’ feasts among my flowers with
their playmates. Native friends would come up
in the evenings, and a game of chess with one or
other often followed. In the country, the village
authorities would gather round to hear of Eng-
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land and the world beyond India, of which they
had no conception whatever. Sometimes travel-
ling minstrels or singers, aceredited from other
comrts, such as Mysore, Baroda, Gialior, or else-
where, arrived, and the State hospitality was ex-
ercised, and performances given and attended, and
on these occasions I gave my partics.

Neighbouring “lairds "had to be received and
entorteined, for Shorapoor had to maintain its
characrer for hospitality and kindly feeling tfo
those adjoining it.

My hooks were my constant delight, and with
these and my telescope, a fine Dollond, I had
always plenty of occupation. 1 read up Herschel,
and other works on astronomy, to enable me to
understand something of what I saw. Night
after night I have thus wandered about those
glorious fields of the leavens, ever new, ever re-
splendent, leading thought irresistibly into the
Infinite, I could not go on with literary work, as,
at the day’s elose, my brain was generally wearied
out. My work was scldom less than twelve
hours a- day, with little variation, so to write
was impossible; but I felt T was gaining more
and more real knowledge of native life and char-
acter, under circumstances that fall to the lot of
very few Englishmen, and that hereafter, if life
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were spared, I might turn my experience to good
account. I kept up voluminous private corre-
spondence, particularly with my father ; and this,
with my usual letters to the  Times,’ official re-
ports and translations, and occasional article” for
the Indian press, were all I could manage to gev
through in my busy life. I was very thankful
for the many blessings given me, and tried to
discourage the feeling of utter loneliness that
would at times oppress me, '

Ten years of my life were given to Shorapoor
—a blank to me in many respects as regarded
intellectual intercourse and literary progress; but
yet, with all its drawbacks, more interesting than
the dull routine of a small cantonment.

Now they had passed over, and a new phase of
my life was opcning before me in an enlarged
and more important sphere of action. Through
all danger, through all illnesses and weariness
and trials, I had been mercifully prescrved and
tenderly protected, and was grateful to God for
His great mercies—praying that in the future
they might be continued unto me.
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CHAPTER XIII.
185357,

Arrrovan suffering from a severe attack of acute
rheumatism, I, with my assistant, Licut, Cadell,
pressed on to Sholapoor, where it was necessary
that I should meet; the Collector, who congratu-
lated me very heartily on myappointment to the
district, which joined his own, and we could
work together with oood accord, and looked for-
ward to much pleasant intercourse from time to
time.

My assistant had no knowledge whatever, or
experience, in civil affairs ; but I thought it best
to placa him at once in a prominent position, and
to give him general directions which, as he was
very clever and willing, I thought would suffice.
I therefrre made over to him part of the small
establishment T had collected, and directed him
to take possession of all the ceded districts which

VOL. 1L G
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lay along the left bank of the Seenah river, be-
tween it and the range of hills that formed the
¢ Balg Ghat,” or upper portion of the whole pro-
vince ; and with an escort of cavalry he set out
to do what he could.

Fortunately the cession had been made at the
close of the financial year, so there was no confu-
sion of demand and account between the outgoing
administration and the incoming one. I did not
anticipate any opposition ; but the British forces
at Sholapoor and Alimednugger had been warned
to hold themselves ready to assist me in case any
resistance might be made.

Nuldroog had been fixed upon as my head-
quarters, and T proceeded there without delay.
I found a squadron of the Contingent cavalry
encamped without the fort, which was in the pos-
session of a large body of Arabs, who refused to
allow the ecavalry to enter, and whose temper
appeared very doubtful.

At first, too, I was refuscd admittance. Their
chief declared that he held a large mortgage on the
fort and its dependencies, and that his men werc
in arrears of pay, and that until all his demands
were settled, or T gave him a gnarantee from the
British Government that they would be settled,
he would not give me up the fort. I, however,
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took no notice of his demands whatever. I told
him the Nizam's Government was the only one
with which he could have dealings, and that if
he and his men did not at once march out, I had
no rescurce but to summon the military force at
Shorapoor, when I ¢ould not answer for the con-
sequenzes,  All the Arabs blustered a great deal,
but finally retived inside to consider matters ; and
a message was brought to me in the evening, to
the effect that in the morning the fort would
be given up.  And so it was; and as soon as
they had hivouacked outside on the csplanade, 1
marched in at the head of my splendid cavalry
escort, hoisted the Linglish flag I had with me,
and took posscssion forthwith., I should have
regretted exceedingly if the obstinacy of these
Arabs had brought about any collision, for their
example was looked to by all the various parties
of Arabs in the province; and had they resisted
my authority, all the rest would have done so too,
and the Arab chiefs of Hyderabad were almost
in possession of the whole tract.

They held it in assionment for their pay and
debts; and it was a convenient district for them,
as fresh men could constantly reach them from
Bombay and the coast without attracting obser-
vation, and be forwarded to IHyderabad to rein-
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force the main body. Also many private indi-
viduals living at Hyderabad possessed estates and
villages in the province, and had mortgaged them
to the Arabs—so that, in point of fact, the whole
arca was under their control, with very little ex-
ception ; and the tenacity with which they stuck
to their possessions, whether for arrears of pay or
any other monetary consideration, had been too
often experienced to be doubted now. The Arabs
in my fort of Nuldroog eould not have held it
against any force, as the guns were useless; but
had they continucd their opposition, our occupa-
tion of the country would have assumed a very
different aspect, and might have caused a disturb-
ance and collision with the Arabs at Hyderabad
—a consequence which would have had, in all
likelihood, serious results.

Although I had often before been at Nuldroog,
I had never seen the interior of the fort, nor the
Iinglish house belonging to it, which had been
built by the late Nawab, who in old times had
been a great friend of mine. The ladies of his
family had used it, and now it was to become
my residence. I found it a handsome building,
although not very commodious. In the centre
was a large hall, with two semicircular rooms on
each side; above the hall, a bedroom of corre-
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sponding size, with bath-room attached, from
which there was a beautifol view all over the
fort, the town, and the adjacent country. In
front there was a broad veranda, supported upon
pillars, and near at hand the portion sct apart
for the zenana, and which was still occupied by
the ladics, who were to leave shortly. In the
fort itself were several massive buildings, terraced
and Lomb-proof, which had been used in former
days as bavracks, hospital, powdcr-magazine, and
guard-houses. There were also some other good
native houses—all empty now, but useful for my
English clerks and escort, and for conversion into
treasury, jail, and publie ¢uckerry, or court, until
more commodions buildings eould be crected, or
possibly another head station fixed upon.

The fort of Nuldroog was one of the most in-
teresting places I had ever scen. It enclosed the
surfacs of a knoll or plateau of basalt rock, which
jutted out into the valley or ravine of the small
river Boree from the main platcau of the country,
and was almost level. The sides of this knoll
were sheer precipices of basalt, here and there
showing distinet columnar and prismatic forma-
tion, and varied from 50 to 200 feet in height;
the edge of the platean being more or less 200
feet above the river, which flowed at the base of
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the precipice on two sides of the fort. Along the
crest of the cliff, on three sides, ran the fortifica-
tions, bastions, and curtains alternately, some of
the former being very firmly built of cut and
dressed basalt, and large enough to carry heavy
guns, and the parapets of the machicolated cur-
tains were everywhere loopholed for musketry.
On the west side the promontory joined the main
plateau by a somewhat contracted neck, also
strongly fortified by a high rampart, with very
roomy and massive bastions; below it a fausse-
braye, with the same; then a broad, deep, dry
ditch, cut for the most part out of the basalt
itsclf; a counterscarp, about 20 or 25 feet high,
with a covered-way ; and beyond it, a glacis and
esplanade up to the limits of the town.

The entire eircumference of the enceinte might
have been about a mile and a half, and the
garrison in former times must have been very
large, for nearly the whole of the interior was
covered by ruined walls, and had been laid out
as a town with a wide street running up the
centre.  All the walls and Dastions were in per-
fect repair, and the effcet of the fort outside
was not only grim and massive, but essentially
pieturesque.

Nuldroog held a memorable place in local his-
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tory, Before the Mussulman invasion in the
fourteenth century, it belonged to a local Rajah,
who may have been a feudal vassal of the great
Rajahs of the Chalukya dynasty, ap. 230 to
1200, whose ecapital was Kulliance, about 40
miles distant; but I never could trace its his-
tory with any certainty, and during the Ilindoo
period it was only traditional. The Bahmany
dypasy, A.D. 1351 to 1480, protected their do-
minions to the west by a line of massive forts, of
which Nuldroog was onc; aud it was believed
that the former defences, which were little more
than mud walls, werc replaced by them with for-
tifications of stone.  Afterwards, on the division
of the Dahmany kingdom, in a.p. 1480, Nul-
droog fell to the lot of the Adil Shahy kings of
Becjapoor; and they, in their turn, greatly in-
creased and strengthened its defences. [t was
often a point of dissension between the Adil

Shahy and the Nizam Shahy potentates—lying,
as it did, upon the nominal frontier between Bee-
japocr and Ahmednugger—and was besieged by
both in turn, as the condition of the walls on the
southern face bore ample testimony, as well from
the marks of cannon-balls as from breaches which
Lad afterwards been filled up.  In 1558 Ali Adil

Shali visited Nuldroog, and again added to its
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fortifications, rebuilt the western face, and con-
structed an enormous cavalier near the eastern
end, which was upwards of 90 feet high, with
several bastions on the edges of the cliff ; but his
greatest work was the erection of a stone dam
across the river Boree, which, by retaining the
water above it afforded the garrison an unlimited
supply. I quote from a letter to my father, writ-
ten a few days after my arrival :—

“ T was greatly delighted and surprised by the
view from the baek of the house, where there is
a baleony. You look up and down a valley, in
which there is o fine brawling stream ; and about
a quarter of a mile below the house a huge dam
of solid masonry has been built across the ravine,
which holds the water back, and forms a pretty
little lake. Above this, on the south side, the
walls of the fort are built on the side of a preci-
pice of about 50 feet to the water’s edge, and the
tall grim bastions have a fine effect. The dam
connects the main fort with one opposite to it
on a knoll on the north of the lake, whose
bastions and curtains extend down the north
side of the ravine; so on looking down you see
the two forts, one on each side of the valley, the
lake between, and the precipices beyond. The
dam is truly wonderful—it is 90 feet high, 300
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yards long, and 100 feet broad at the top. The
river at its ordinary height runs over the crest of
the dam in channels arched over, and the water
falls into the pool; but when there is a flood, the
whole of the water runs over the crest of the
dam, forming a huge cataract, and is indeed a
magnificent spectacle.  About the centre of the
dam there is a flight of steps by which you de-
scend into a small, beautifully-ornamented room,
in the Saracenic-Gothie style; and there is a very
ingenious contrivance by which, even when the
river is in full flood and the cataract falling in
front of the balcony of the room, the water which
comes down the staircase 1s turned off down a
tunnel in another divection, and cannot enter the
room. The look-out from this apartment is ex-
tremely picturesque-—the great pool below, the
sides of the ravine clothed with shrubs and
creepers, and the brawling waters as they run
down the valley, forming altogcther a striking
and very beautiful picture, of a character 1 had
never before scen.”

It may easily be imagined that I was quite
content with my new quarters ; and in a few days’
time, when all the rooms had been well washed
out, and the broken panes in the excellent Eng-
lish glass doors and windows repaired, my pie-



106 STORY OF MY LIFE. [cmar. xim,

tures hung up, my precious books unpacked, and
some furniture and carpets I had brought with
me placed in the large room, the vesult was
a very comfortable apartment, There was, too,
a good garden about the house, which was very
soon cleaned up, and cventually became one of
my greatest pleasures—for nowhcere that I had
been in India did English flowers and vegetables
grow so well ; and there were several fine orange-
trees and vines too, which, when properly looked
after, gave abundant produce, as did the other
fruit - trees, with = which the garden was well
stocked.

My first task was to take stock of my new
province. Its boundaries had been ill defined
at Hyderabad, and had to be rectified before the
whole could be brought well together. To the
west, the river Sccnah, from a point nine miles
from Ahmednugger to its junction with the
Bheema, formed an excellent general line. Inside
this lay portions of British tervitory belonging to
the Collectorate of Sholapoor; but that did not
signify. To the north a range of mountains,
which Dordered the valley of the Godavery,
formed another distinct frontier. The river
Manjera, which flowed castwards, rising among
these mountains, gave another distinctly-defined
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boundary to a certain point, where it diverged ;
and from this point to Afzulpoor on the Bheema,
an arbitrary line had been drawn, which, as it
inclnded several large counties that were pri-
vate estates belonging to one of the chief nobles
of Hyderabad, could not be attached. Within
the gencral boundary too, many portions had
either been wilfully concealed or improperly and
dishonestly retained. - Howcver, the whole pro-
vinee, 18 defined in the trcaty, would have been
more than was really required ; and in the end,
after I had gone over the whole carefully, my
boundaries became more definite, and it was satis-
fuctory to think that all the country lying within
them was under my own control.

As fast as I could get them, I despatehed
managers to the different head-centres of coun-
ties wizh my orders, and to convey my assurances
of goodwill to the people.  The Arabs were fast
betaking themselves to Hyderabad, and neither
my assistunt nor I had expericnced any except
very temporary difficultics from them. In
almost less than one month I was able to report
that we had established the authority of the
British Government of India in every part of
thelprovince. My assistant’s father, Mr Cadell,
was an eminent Writer to the Signet in Idin-
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burgh ; and I was much amused when he wrote
to his son that the proceedings of two men, with
a small escort of cavalry, taking possession coolly
of a province half as large as Scotland, with a
strange population, were, to his perception, the
“most consummate piece of assurance” he had
ever heard of; and “ pray, how were we going
to govern it?” Our district was rather more
than 15,000 square miles in area; but though
the shrewd old Scoteh lawycr saw, I daresay, a
thousand difficulties, I saw none which could not
be overcome by patience, hard work, and steady
perseverance.

It was a fine climate, fortunately, and very
healthy. The tract lying between the Scenah river
and the hills was lower than the rest; but it was
open, free from jungle, and for the most part well
cultivated. Trom it the hasalt plateau named
the “ B4la Ghit ” rose to a height varying from
400 to 1000 feet, some of the highest summits
showing 2400 feet above the level of the sea.
This plateau, culturable from its very edge,
sloped gradually eastwards to the Manjera river,
and joined the northern mountain boundary,
which extended to Ahmednugger.

Nuldroog itself lay 2200 feet ahove the level
of the sea; and, compared with Shorapoor, the
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climate, even during the hottest part of the year,
was much less trying, while in the cold season
it was very cold indeed, and not unfrequently
frosty.

The “ Bald Ghit ” was renowned all through
the Deccan for its luxuriant crops of wheat and
barlev, pulse and oil-sced. Cotton did not thrive,
and what was produced was of very short fibre,
harsh and unfit for ‘export. Sugar-cane grew
well, and there was a good supply of hemp and
linseed ; but the beautiful white millet of Shora-
poor was wanting, and that grown was coarse
and hard in comparison.

I had known the people Dbefore, when I was
a boy, and many still remembered me and my
red trousers, and came to see me. The popula-
tion was almost cntively agricultural—thrifty,
industrious, practical farmers and gentry, who
tilled their somewhat hard soil with singular
perseverance and success; they were better far-
mers than those at Shorapoor, and kept im-
proving their fields till they would have done
credit to an English landowner.

I had liked the people in my early days be-
cause of their sturdy, independent -character.
Mahratta was the only language spoken, and this
I had at my command—a circumstance which, I



110 STORY OF MY LIFE, [omAP. x1L

felt sure, would inspire confidence, for everybody
soon knew that they could come to me and speak
out their minds freely whencver they had occa-
sion, without any go-between, or interpretation,
being necessary. [ knew, too, that the normal
crime of the district, dacoity, not only still
existed, but was largely and desperately prae-
tised—and this, which had defied me in former
years, must now be eradieated with a strong hand.

I believe that the people at large, with the
exception of the small portion forming the he-
reditary eriminal elass, welcomed the new rule
with sincere delight. They knew it meant se-
curity of their land and possessions, as well as
justice and protection, and extension and pro-
tection of trade. Those who were unacquainted
with the working and ways of English rule in
other districts were, perhaps, somewhat disturbed
at first at the idea, but they were few, and the
feeling soon wore off,

When I took possession of the provinee, there
was no court of law or justice whatever, civil or
criminal, any more than there had been at Shora-
poor, and none such had over existed within
the memory of any person. The agents of the
Nizam’s Government, and the Arabs, used to
punish gross criminal offences, and, in some cases,
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petty thefts; but in the great crime of dacoity
all seemed to have had a share, inasmuch as the
agent always received part, according to his
share, of the property stolen! As for murder, no
one ever noticed it, or thought of bringing the
perpetrators to account.

After a great deal of very hard work—during
almost nicht and day while it lasted—I had
gained, partly from old aceounts and partly from
the details sent in from my new managers, 2
tolerably correct estimate of the resources of the
provinee, which I' submitted in a report to the
Resident.

If T had taken the province according to the
estimates and orders of transfer of the late Min-
ister and the duftardars of Hyderabad, I should
have had a revenue of about fwo and a half
lakhs, and afew scattered portious of territory, and
there would have remained within my boundary-
line large tracts of country not under my juris-
diction. This would have cansed much confusion
and vexatious embarrassment, and probably con-
stant disputes would have arisen. Now, when I
had got all together in a kind of ring-fence, as
it were, I found, according to my rough estimate,
that I should have about eleven and « half lakhs
of Hyderabad rupees.
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Colonel Low was just going away to Calcutta
to be sworn in as a member of the Supreme
Council ; and before he went, he wrote me his
very hearty approval of what I had been able
to effect in so short a time, and particularly his
great satisfaction at the complete and bloodless
expulsion of the Arabs.

I must here, likewise, record my grateful
thanks and remembrance of the very essential
services renderced to me in respect to the latter
by the native officers and men of the cavalry
detachments sent for my assistance. The native
officers were all gentlemen by birth, most intelli-
gent, and highly respected by the people wher-
ever they went. They proved excellent negotia-
tors, and were fully trusted by all, even by the
Arabs themselves,

At Owsa, a far stronger fort than Nuldroog, my
manager presented my letter to the Arab chief
commanding the garrison, requesting him to
evacuate the place. The request was indignantly
refused ; but on the appearance of a squadron of
cavalry which T sent to my officer’s assistance,
the Arabs received the native officers with “ hon-
ours,” marched out at once, and gave up all
the large dependencies they had held in mort-
gage from the Nizam’s Government without any
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demur. Owsa was the last, indeed the only
place, that caused me any anxicty ; and I knew
that the Resident had also been very anxious
about it, owing to its reputed great strength and
the large number of its garrison. In Owsa,
Purraindah, and Nuldroog, I now held the
three strongest forts of the Decean; yet all had
submitted without using any violence, and no
further display of foree than I have mentioned.
So ended my preliminary operations in my
new provinee ; and I was about to leave Nuldroog,
in order to start on a tour through the district,
when T received a note from the Collector at
Sholapoor asking me to come to him and arrange
many matters pending between us. The prospect
of a little holiday and society was very pleasant,
and [ went. Ilis wife was an excellent musician
~—Doth sang delightfully; and it was a great treat
to me to hear once more the music of great com-
posers skilfully exccuted, and to try my own
voice in concerted pieces—a pleasure to which T
had for so long been a stranger. They were very
kind and very patient with me ; but Ifear I gave
the ladics some trouble, I had grown so rusty.
Owing to my very unsettled life latterly, my
letters to the ¢ Times ’ had become irregular, and
I could not kecp up the necessary communica-
VOL. 1L H
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tions for news which were required for fort-
nightly letters,

There were no posts through my district ; and
letters and newspapers would, of nceessity, reach
me very irregularly, while the same objection
applied to my despatch of letters. T reflected,
also, that whereas hitherto my position at Shora-
poor had left me comparatively independent, 1
was not so in my new appointment, and that 1
was not justified in writing so unrestrainedly on
political subjects ag I had becn used to do. [
therefore resigned my office of “special corre-
spondent ” to the great paper, which, from first to
last, had uniformly treated my opinions and con-
tributions with the greatest courtesy.

I could not, cither, agrec with the now con-
firmed annexation poliey of Lord Dalhousie, which
began in 1853, and scemed likely to be con-
tinved; and I knew that among the people
generally the annexations of Jhansi and Nag-
pore, and the transactions in regard to the latter
especially, were spoken of with unmeasured mis-
trust and suspicion. The proceedings in the
Bombay Presideney in regard to the inquiry into
free lands, charitable grants, and the like, had
been, or was being, badly conducted, and had
excited much discontent. My very outspoken
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Mahrattas took no pains to conceal their censure
of the conduct of Government as evineing a spirit
of greed and bad faith which was strange and
painful to many of them, and in these views
people anud gentry alike coincided.

During my period of connection with the
“Tinies,” however, T had enjoyed the privilege of
discussing and explaining, as far as possible, all
the great subjects whiehrpertained to the period :
education and its results on the people — for
vernacular education had long since become a
declared policy— trade, railways and communi-
cation of all kinds, cotton emltivation, irrigation
in all its forms, along with the general political
events of the previous ten years, momentous as
they had been. I'do not know whether these
humble efforts of mine had any effect in bringing
[ndia and its people, its interests, and its increase
of civilisation, more directly under the notice of
thinkinzg people in England. I hope so; and 1
was vain enough to think they micht have some
such eflect, as they were generally backed up by
leading articles in the paper itself, and thus at-
tained some importance.

Now, there were other correspondents in the
field, newspaper articles were better written, and
their number had increased largely, so that the
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exponents of India’s condition and wants were
manifold, and there was no use in my continuing
to send communications which must necessarily
be unconnected and desultory. My correspon-
dence all these years with my faithful friend
Reeve never slackened, and his letters were a
great source of pleasure and encouragement to
me in my work, and kept me informed of what
was going on in the political and literary eircles
in London, so that 1 did not fecl quite so much
my exclusion from them.

On my return from my pleasant little stay at
Sholapoor, I went out to my tents, which were
pitehed at Tooljapoor, my old favourite resort in
1825, How beantiful it was! The hills were
all clothed with verdure, and the view from my
tent was lovely. On the north side of the pro-
montory where [ was, lay the town, built on both
sides of a deep ravine, and at its head the cele-
brated shrine of Bhowanee or Kalee, which lay in
the hollow beneath——not indeed, in itself, a re-
markable edifice at all, but surrounded by pictur-
esque cloisters and courts, always thronged, by
pilgrims, and which formed a curious combination
of all kinds of Hindoo architecture.

Above the temple towered rugged cliffs on
cither side, and the ravine opened out into
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a large amphitheatre, bounded by precipitous
hills, that seemed like buttresses to the plateau
above. To the south was a great undulating
plain, stretehing to the dim blue horizon, dotted
by thriving villages, surrounded by luxuriant
cultivation, and checkered by ever - varying
masses of light and shade.  The line of the hills
and platean extending towards the east or Nul-
droog direetion, was ‘broken by headlands and
ravines descending to the lower country. There
was ne wood, it 18 true; but the diversified out-
lines, now rugged, and again more regular, re-
decmed the landscape from any monotony.

The climate was delightful, like that of an
English summer day, in turn clondy and sun-
shiny, with occasional light showers. On the day
of my arrival, I had just brealedasted, and sat down
to begin work in my cucherry, or office tent,
when an old Brahmin came in, and for a time sat
down quietly in a corner without speaking.  Sece-
ing that I was alone, be came up to my table,
and peering closely into my face as he leant upon
his staff, he said, “Arc you the Taylor Suhib
who came here many years ago?”

When I answered that I was the same, he pro-
duced a1 Dbundle of old papers, and asked me
whether I reeollected them. As I looked over
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them, I saw that I had put my initials to each of
them, but forgot at the moment why I had done
g0; for in any case of inquiry or scttlement it
was my habit to initial all the papers, and I
thought these documents must relate to some old
claim or suit to be revised. T was soon unde-
ceived.

“Have you forgotten, sahib,” said the old
man, “that T once cast-your horoseope, and told
you that you would return lere to govern us
after many years?  And see ! it was true —you
have come ; and, indeed, there is little diflerence
in the time [ recorded—twenty-five years! 1
had not the exact data, if you remember, that I
wanted—you could not give it to me.”

It was all true enough; there I was, the
“ruler” over them, and T then recollected how
strange it had appeared to me at the Resideney
when my destination was so suddenly altered
from Berar to these western districts, on the
requisition of the Government of Bombay. The
prediction had certainly been a strange one, and
was as strangely {ulfilled, even to the very letter
of time.

“ And you have heen a ‘rajah,’ too,” continued
my old friend, “and have governed a country to
the south for ten years; that I recorded—see,
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sahib!” and he pointed cxcitedly to the docu-
ment, ““See, there is no mistake there either!”

“Not quite a ‘rajah,’” I said, laughing, ““only
manager of the country while the rajah was a
child.”

“It was all the same,” returned the old
DPralimin ; “you were all-powerful, and just like
a rajuh, and you governed the people. And
you have seen sorrow too, sahib ; you were not
married when you were here, and now you have
lost wife and dear children, T hear? I wrote
that. I saw it all plainly—it is here. And you
are not rich, they tell me? Yet lakhs of rupces
have passed through your hands. Did I not tell
you that too?”

“Nbo, indeed,” T replied, “1 am not rich; in-
deed much the reverse, and I have had heavy
sorrows.”

“1t could not be avoided,” he said; “no one
could have mistaken what I discovered just
twenty-five years aco.  You were born for work,
not for the indulgence of wealthy idleness, and so
you will continue. If you want these papers 1
will give them to you; if not, let them remain
with me,” and so saying, he took his leave. Ile
soon afterwards went on a pilgrimage to Nassik,
and there died.
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I did not want the papers, and he kept them.
I cannot account for his prediction. I only relate
what happened. I told my old Serishtadar,
Baba Sahib, about my horoscope and its results ;
but he was not in the least surprised. »

“We Brahming,” he said, “believe in astrology,
and you English laugh at it; but when one who
understands the art casts a horoscope and calcu-
lates it scientifically; the result is scldom wrong,
You were to have gone to Derar, and yet your
fate has brought you here to Tooljapoor again, at
the very time appointed, twenty-five years after,
in spite of yourself and also of the Resident.
Can you doubt, after this 2 Is there not more in
astrology than you believed ?”

I made no comment. How could I, in the face
of the simple facts that had occurred ?

It was the rainy scason, but there was so much
to see after that could only be done on the spot
in each division of my district, that my personal
convenicnce must not be studied in any way;
and I marched along the edge of the plateau
from one division to another, halting at the head
station of each for the purpose of investigating
old accounts, records of cultivation and the like,
and, above all, gaining, as I went, knowledge of
the people.
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A settlement of the country for five years had
been directed, and inquiries were necessary before
any attempt could be made to carry out the
measure. I did not even know what the rev-
enuve of the whole district might amount to;
and the accounts received from ITyderabad, if not
actuallv designed to mislead, were at all events
most Incorreet and inco:mprehcnsib]c, proving to
be of no use whatevers I therefore began at the
foundarion—the village accounts—and was glad
to see that they had been fay Detter kept than
those of Shorapoor, when I began a like inquiry
there,  The village accountant had proper lists
of proprietors and oceupants of land, according

to the ancient Deecean system, which had never
been altered, however much it might have been
abused ; and among the records of some of the
chief towns and villages, were ancient settlements
of the officers of the Dalmany kings of Gulburgah
and Beeder, and the Adil Shahys of Beejapoor.
The most regular and valuable records were the
settlernents by Mullik Umber, the great regent
of the Ahmednugger State, which were more
minute than those of the Emperor Akbar, and
were founded upon an actual survey of the lands
and their assessment, according to their produc-
tive quality. But these had only been preserved
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herc and there, and it would be impossible to
found any new scttlement upon those that existed
as a basis for all.  The Nizam’s Government had
taken no record of cultivation; but the sums
received from villages were entered in an account
for every talook, or division, which was signed by
the hereditary ministerial officers of each county,
and which, up to the last financial year, had been
regularly sent up to the head accountant’s office
at Hyderabad. From these documents, compared
with the village aceounts and registries, I could sec
my way to a new form of account which would
embrace all particulars; and copies of these forms
were made by the village accountants, to be filled
up when the yearly period of scttlement arrived.

It was very tedious work ; but unless it were
done, it would be impossible to submit to Govern-
ment any clear or complete statement of the
general revenue, or whence it was derived. My
progress was necessarily very slow.

In the original instructions given to the Deputy-
Commissioners, they had been directed to make
use of the existing local courts of the Nizam’s
Government for the trial of all cases, civil and
criminal : but as no local tribunal or judicial
office of any kind was found by me, and none
had existed for years, I determined to introduce
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a code of laws of my own, civil as well as
criminal ; and I took the regulations of Bombay
as my guide, drawing up a short definition of
crimes and  their punishments —and in eivil

cases, of gencral procedure,—simple and intelli-
gible to all classes. I assigned various powers to
patelis, or heads of villages, to talook officers, to
my assistant, and to myself—mine being the
highest eourt of appealin the province from the
decisions of subordinate eourts, and the Resident
being the final one to whom all appeals against
me were to be referced.

This code and general plan of mine were ap-
proved of as a temporary mcasure at Calcutta,
and I pat 1t in foree a8 soon as it was sanctioned.
It lasted till Macanlay’s penal code was sent for
a pracvical trial in the assigned districts, but the
eivil procedure 1 had drawn up was, 1 think,
retaincd.  These, with instructions for the guid-
ance of police, revenue proceedings and collec-
tions, and for the conduct of every department,
occupicd a great deal of my time; but all were
as brief’ and concise as possible, though necessar-
ily embracing every point for gencral direction.

After Colonel Low’s departure from the post
of Resident at Hyderabad, several distinguished
officers were named as his probable successors.
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Siv Henry Lawrence, to whom I believe Lord
Dalhousie offered the appointment, and my old
friend James Outram, whom I would have gladly
welcomed, were among those talked of; but as
the office of Resident now involved the head
administration of the assigned districts, and as
everything in regard to them was still in an
incomplete state, a civilian of administrative
experience was held to be the fittest person ; and
Mr Bushby, once an assistant to the Resident
at Hyderabad, was appeinted to the office, which,
until his arrival, was conducted with much ability
by (then) Captain Davidson.

It was his wish, as it had been that of Colonel
Low, that my district should have a well-defined
frontier ; and all the boundaries, execpt those to
the north, had been gradually adjusted. I had
even been exempred from the vexatious task of
administering justice and police affairs in the
reserved portions which lay along the Bheema to
the south-west, and they remaincd under the
charge of their native proprictors. But to the
north, on the borders of the Ahmednngger and
Nizam’s territory, there remained a small tract,
hitherto undefined, and often much disturbed,
the British and Nizam’s villages lying confusedly
together.
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This was by far the prettiest and most pictur-
esque portion of my province. The plateau of the
“ Bild Ghat” continued to the hills forming the
Ahmednugger range ; but at one point it lowered
considerably, breaking into ravines, which ran
south towards the Scenah, and north-east to the
Godavery, a very rough tract, with a correspond-
ing roagh elass of inhabitants, who required to
be kept well under control,

While encamped at Patoda, the station of my
native collector, I explored the whole of the crest
of the platean towards the north-west, and found
the scenery very beautiful.  There was no jungle,
but the grassy hills afforded fine pasturage for
cattle, and the views from the summits of the
highest  knolls were, in some instances, very
grand.

In one place a small river, the Iucherna,
which received the drainage of a great portion of
thes: hills, fell into the lower level of the western
portion of my district with one leap of 398 feet,
sheer perpendicular fall, and now, being well
filled with water, formed one of the most graceful
waterfalls I have ever scen. I did not expect to
come upon anything so grand or picturesque as
this fall and the basalt chasm into which it pre-
cipitated itself, and I was lost in admiration, re-
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maining at the place for several days, in order to
sketch the ravine and waterfall from every poing
of view. I have described it fully in my novel
of “Seeta, to which I refer any curious reader
who may wish to know more.

I descended by a well-known pass to the low
country north of ray district, and found, as I had
anticipated from a copy of the trigonometrical
survey map, exactly the frontier I desired. A
considerable stream flowed from the west, almost
in a dircet lne eastwards, Its name was the
Suitana ; while a smaller one, the Domeri,
rising on the platean, flowed due north, and fell
into it.  Within thig line were sixteen scattered
villages of the Nizam’s mingled with DBritish
villages and my own; and after representing the
difficulty of maintatning all three jurisdictions in
a state of amity, they were transferred entively
to me, under the orders of the Nizam’s Govern-
ment. The whole tract had been in a state of
chronic feud for years, and the correspondence
and other references, regarding all manner o)
disputes, had been vexatious and endless. I
found no less than seventy boundary disputes
had to be adjusted, of which I settled the worst,
leaving the tract for the final supervision of my
assistant, who now joined me. I determined to
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proceed to Ahmednugger, in order to confer with
Mr Bell, the Collector there, as I had already
done with Mr Loughman, the Collector of Shola-
poor, npon all matters which required scttlement.

Cadell had had a little adventure at Purraindah,
by far the strongest fort in the district, situated
in his division. Ie had not been able to visit it
personally before, and when he arrived the gar-
rison shut-to the gates, mounted the bastions,
and declared they wounld mnot give it up. Ife
mighn do what he liked with the dependencies,
but they were the garrison, and they declared
that until they received orders from Hyderabad,
they would not open the gates.  Finding remon-
strance usecless, Cadell wrote to me for help, in
the shape of a troop of eavalry, with which he
could watch the place to see that no malcontents
got m fo help the garrison. I wrote to the
killewdar, or castellan, desiring him to evacuate
the fort, to which he demurved; and I then
wrote again, saying he wust do so, or fight, for
that no orders could come now from Hyderabad,
the country having been entirely ceded to the
British Government. The troop of cavalry ar-
riving almost immediately after my letter reached
him, the killadar saw that I was in earnest, and
thought “discretion the better part of valour;”
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so he opened the gates, and as Cadell marched in
and took possession, the garrison laid down their
arms, which he at once returned to them. He
deseribed the place as the strongest he had seen,
and quite perfect in every way, and there was
a very respectable garrison of Rajpoots. I was
glad on every account that the affair had been
tided over so peaceably. I visited Purraindah
myself afterwards, and shall deseribe it later.

Having made all the arrangemeunts I could in
the newly-acquired territory of Manoor, I went
on to Ahmednugger. One of my villages lay
within nine miles of the station, and, owing to its
beauty, was a favourite resort for country parties
and pienics. I met Mr Bell there, and he hospi-
tably invited both Cadell and myself to his house,
where we spent some days very pleasantly at the
great station. 1 had not becn there since the
year 1826, and found it greatly improved and
enlarged.

In my journey both to and from Ahmednugger,
I had been much struck with the capabilities of
the country for large irrigation works, and in
particular for tanks. Streams, descending from
the table-lands to the north, and tributaries to
the Secnah, afforded ample supplies of water; and
the ground, from its peculiar character, provided
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most convenient basing, which only required dams
at certain places across their mouths to be con-
verted into tanks.

In one instance a stream which had a catch-
ment area of upwards of 200 square miles, after
leaving the hills, ran through a nearly level plain
of about four square miles in area, which ended
in two bluffs about a quarter of a mile asunder.
A dam of fifty feet high-was perfectly practicable
at a comparatively small outlay, and the water
held back would form a lake twice the size of
Bohnal. T determined, with as little delay as
possible, to get up a report on the subject, and
try to have some works of the kind begun for
a ecountry which was absolutely thirsting for
water, and where every drop that could be pro-
curcd from wells or from streams was used for
the production of sugar-cane, ginger, turmeric,
and other rich and valuable crops.

Mr Bell met us at a village which we had
agreed upon, where there was good camping-
ground, and which, though under his charge, was
within our frontier, and there we passed some
days in November very agrecably. As he had
brought his establishment with him, we com-
pared our work, and he was not a little surprised,
I think, to find mine quite as regular in all

VOL. II. 1
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respects as his own, except in the revenue de-
partment, the particulars of which we had still to
unravel, whereas his had been decided by survey.
I was now settling three divisions in order to
enable my assistant to work for himself; and
when these were completed, I left him, to look
after my eastern districts on the table-land, which
I had not yet visited.

By the end of the year 1853 the whole was in
fair working order, and giving me no anxiety,
except as to the scarcity which seemed to threaten
us owing to failure of crops.  There had been no
rain since September, and comparatively little
before that. Portions of the Bombay Presidency
were already suffering, and Shorapoor was also
in distress. The accounts from thence were very
sad. Neglect, riot, and crime prevailed ; and I
was indeed grateful that, although I was worse
paid as a Deputy - Commissioner than I should
have been as Political Agent there, yet I was
spared the pain of secing all the fair structure I
had striven so long and so hard to raise rapidly
falling into ruin and decay.

All we Deputy-Commissioners had been placed
on a salary of 1200 rupees a-month, as a tem-
porary rate of payment, and, as yet, we received
no “deputation” allowance, but were promised



1858.] TROUBLE AT SHORAPOOR. 131

it, to provide for the cxpenses of tents and
moving about our districts.

When the local officers were pensioned, we
hoped that we, who had now become scrvants of
the Company, might be granted our Nizam's
pensions apart from our pay, as was at first ar-
ranged ; but ultimately this was not allowed —
both were included in the pay of a Deputy-Com-
missioner, a proceeding which I have always
considered unjust, for we were not serving the
Nizam but the Company ; and if the Government
of India had set us aside and sent its own officers,
it would have had to pay both charges out of the
revenue of the cession. When we were trans-
ferred to the new service, our rank was recog-
nised in all respects as those of “Company’s
officers ” of corresponding length of service; but
in this respect also were we painfully deceived
-——~we were placed in the category of “ Uncove-
nanted servants,” by which we lost all our former
rank and privileges, and were reduced in status.
One of our number laid down his rank, and would
never resume it. However, hard as it was, we
were grateful for employment at all, though I
have never ceased to consider it an ungenerous
act of the great Government of India, to take
advantage, as it seemed, of our necessities, and to
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give us lower pay than it gave to its own servants
in like employment, and in charge of far smaller
districts and with less responsibilities than ours.

I will state the question clearly in figures.
My pension from the Nizam’s Government was
300 rupees a-month, or £360 a-year; my pay
1200 rupees a-month.

Had I received 1200 rupees a-month and my
pension as well, my xeeeipts would have been
1500 rupees a-month. - Now I was to receive in
all 1200 rupces—that is, 900 rupees pay and 300
rupees pension ; so the 300 rupees werce saved,
which we considered taking rather a mean ad-
vantage of us. We were no more Nizant's ser-
vants, but had been taken over into the Com-
pany’s service, and, as such, should have received
salaries on the same scale as those already in
their emiploy.

By the close of the year I had already made
considerable progress in the suppression of the
terrible normal crime of dacoity. Several old
dacoits had turned approvers, and had given
details of robberics and murders, which had been
shockingly numerous. Through them stolen
property was traced, and recovered too, to a very
large amount ; and out of one dacoit’s house at
Owsa, articles of various kinds, to the value of
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1200 rupees, were taken, which had been his
share of the plunder secured on that occasion. 1
was blamed at first by the Resident for raking
up old cases; but I held my ground, for those I
had tried were all comparatively recent, though
the crimes had been committed before the ces-
sion. I was determined to eradicate the pest if
I counld, and I thought the only chance lay in at-
tacking the old gangs and in bringing their crimes
home to them. This had been done in Thuggee,
why net in Dacoity ¢ The question was referred
to Calcutta, and soon decided as regarded the
assigned districts. | All" criminal offences, such
as dacoity and murder, were deemed open to
trial within a period of ten years from the date
of their perpetration; and according to this rule
I was at liberty to work, and I did so vigorously.
Already I had achieved something, and more
would follow.

By Lord Dalhousic’s request I kept up my
correspoudence with Mr Courtenay ; I think
his lordship liked to know unofficially what I
was about, and T wrote free and unrescrvedly.
A report T had sent in upon my system of admin-
istration had interested him a good deal, and I
heard he took it away to study in private, and
that he desired I might be told this. He had
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also entirely acquiesced in my plan of revenue
settlement to precede a survey ; and to hear that
what I had done was approved of, was very
cheering.

I found the eastern portion of my district in a
far worse condition than the western, and I find
mysclf writing thus to my father in March 1854

“ While at Nelingah I was more oppressed
with work than I had been anywhere. I found
the district in shocking order: no proper accounts,
and no confidence among the people ; a ruined,
impoverished set of pauper cultivators, who have
been so long oppressed and neglected under the
Arab management, that they are, I imagine,
blunted to all good perceptions. Murder, rob-
bery, attacks on villages, plunder of cattle, and
destruction of crops, had got to such a height last
year, that civil war could not have had a worse
effect upon the people or on the revenue ; and all
agreed that if British rule had not come in this
year, the whole district would have been utterly
ruined and wasted. I never saw anything like
it. I thought Shorapoor bad, but this is infinitely
worse, and the labour it is to get anything put
right has been excessive. I can only say that I
have been obliged to work frequently from 4 a.M.
to 8 .M., with only respite for dressing and
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breakfast ; but there isno help forit. I have been
giving five years’ scttlements to such villages as
are readly to take them, but there arc many which
are so disorganised that they require to be
specially nursed.”

I had likewise introduced a regular system of
village accounts with the rent-payers and the
treasurers, which I will briefly detail.

Tuch village accountant kept a day-book and
ledger, in which the sum he was to pay was
entered to his debit, and his payments succes-
sively at stated times to his eredit. His account
was entered in the village ledger in the same
manner. If he paid an instalment, it was entered
to his credit in his book as a rececipt; and this
payment was entered into the day-book, and
afterwards posted to his account in the ledger.
Peculation was thercfore almost impossible, or
any undue exactions, and the people now began
to understand the protection that the system im-
plied. The district treasury had a similar ac-
count with villages, and the particulars of each
village instalment were forwarded to the head
treasury with the general remittances. Any
error or any exaction by any individual could
thus be traced up to its author at once, and the
check and counter-check were quite efficient in
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practice. The village accountants were at first
rather clumsy about their books, but they soon
grew accustomed to the system ; and before the
season of collections was over, I had the satisfac-
tion of finding that the plan was working easily
and well in every portion of my province.

Before I returned to my headquarters, Nul-
droog, I had the satisfaction of beginning two
new irrigation reserveirs: near Tooljapoor, on
plans and surveys which I had previously sub-
mitted. I intended that these should form the
commencerent of a system of tank-irrigation
from Tooljapoor to Ahmednugger, a question in
which the Governor-General seemed much inter-
ested, and in which he encouraged me heartily to
persevere.

The Resident also, Mr Bushby, began to see
the necessity of it ; and I was the more rejoiced at
obtaining sanction for this, because great distress
was prevalent, though it scarcely amounted to
famine yet, and three new works would enable
me to employ a great number of persons. I was
glad, too, to find that both my neighbours, the
collectors of Ahmednugger and Sholapoor, had
become strong advocates for irrigation-works,
and had sent in urgent representations to Govern-
ment on the subject. In these undertakings I
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had to make the surveys, plans, and calculations
entirely myself; but I always managed to find
time to do these before my daily work began, so
that other business was never interfered with
or postponed. It seemed strange to me that
though irrigation-works were progressing in the
North- West Provinces with great energy, in
the Bombay Presidency no one seemed to take
the least interest in them, and, had it not been
for these gentlemen; would probably ever have
given a thought te the subject; and indeed, to
this day, 1 believe but little progress has been
made in these most useful works.

I had great difficulties to encounter in the
treasury department for the first year or two.
Rents had been paid in all sorts of local cur-
rencies, and I was required to account for them
in Company’s rupces. Now I had as many as
fourteen different kinds of rupees current in my
provivee, each with its scparate value, and the
market value was often fluctuating ; the assay
rates did not correspond at all with the market
value, and, in short, the whole was a system of
inextricable confusion; and I was obliged in the
end to notify that none except Company’s rupees
would be taken in payments to the State, and
this relieved us of all difficulty.
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For a long time the proposed revenue survey
caused much trouble and vexation. A small
manual had been sent us from the Punjaub of the
system in use there, which was by plane-tables,
—and plane-tables were sent afterwards. Every
Deputy-Commissioner was to have a school of in-
struction, and to teach the putwarries, or village
accountants, to survey their own lands; and the
work was to begin at once. This was all easy
enough to write about; but the carrying such
orders into cffect was a very different matter,
T believe I happened to be the only Deputy-Com-
missioner who knew how to survey, and the rest
looked to me to begin operations.

Extensive correspondence on the subject took
place, and cost me much additional time and
trouble ; but I could not use the Punjaub instru-
ments and the compasses with which the work was
to be done—it was impossible ; and after much
writing and loss of time in useless endeavours at
explanation, I introduced a plan of my own. I
had some better plane-tables made, and worked
them by backsight, like a theodolite, and my plan
succeeded very well. T also established a school
of young men, instead of the putwarries, who
proved apt scholars, and did good work, and I
sent in my report with some specimens of sur-
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veyed lands. My plan was approved, and I was
simply desired “to go on.”

I found distress very great at Nuldroog—not
so much among the people of my own district, as
among starving wretches who came there from
all quarters so emaciated, and so shrivelled and
weak, that all, men, women, and children, were
fearful to look upon. Often, during my morning
rides, I eame upon dead-bodies lying by the road-
side, creatures who had sunk down to die before
they could reach the town; and many crawled in
who were too far gone to be recovered. FExcept
at Hingolee T had never seen famine in its worst
form before, and this was horrible to witness, I
did what I could myself, and every onc at Nul-
droog did the sames my own share amounted to
several thousand rupees, which I could very ill
afford ; and it was not for a comparatively long
time that I could get any answer to my earnest
request to be allowed to use what money I
needed, to give employment to those able to work.
At length, however, I got a favourable reply, and
about four thousand miserable wretches were set
to work to cut down the scrubby jungle in the
fort, and to clear out the old ruined works.
Gradually, as rain fell and prospects brightened,
the people began to return to their various homes.
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What would have become of us at Nuldroog
if the famine had been universal, I can hardly
conceive ; for its results from which we suffered
were fearful enough.

The monsoon was heavy, and all the month of
September proved very unhealthy at Nuldroog.
My establishment, and nearly all the clerks, both
English and native, suffered from fever, dysentery,
and other complaints; so that to get through
the needful work was very trying. We had no
other convenient shelter, and so were obliged to
remain ; but I thought it doubtful whether the
place could be retained as a head-station. How-
ever, a further trial of it was directed before it
was given up.

The year 1854 had been a truly laborious one
to me, and except during the very short period
of the late rains, I had been under canvas since
July 1853. The work accomplished had been
enormous. In KEnglish, Persian, and Mahratta,
the references and letters had been 34,474, up-
wards of 9000 of which had passed between my
asggistant and myself, many being on very intri-
cate and tedious subjects. We corresponded
officially always in Mahratta.

For my own share I had had 272 criminal cases
to dispose of, thirteen of which were indictments
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for murder : of civil cases and appeals I find no
record among my letters, but no doubt they may
have been mislaid or lost.

My revenue for the financial year was all col-
lected — except about 3000 rupees, which still
had to be remitted—and amounted to 10 lakhs
and 66,000 rupees of all sorts; which, allowing
for large deductions, exchanges, &e., became
Rs, 886,565 13 3.

The revenue for the previous year had been, ac-
cording to the local accounts, Rs, 699,305 11 8, so
that there had been an merease of Rs. 187,260 1 7,
The amount of land previously under cultivation
had been 1,192,895 beegahs; that for the present
year 1,221,947 beegahs, or an increase of 29,552,

Further particulas arve unpecessary, and would
scarcely interest the general reader.

In spite of a little fever, from which I suffered
at Nuldroog, I was in rude health. I enjoyed
the clirate of the district, and along the edge of
the table-land it was generally cool in the hottest
weather.

I was always able to work at least twelve
hours every day, and often more, except on Sun-
days, when I always read the service in my tents
to my lnglish clerks.

Every department of the district was now in
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fair working order, and I was quite prepared to
show the Resident, if he came to see it, as it was
hinted he would, all my interior economy, and
wished it to be compared with other districts of
the same class,

I was directed by the Resident to meet the
Collector of Sholapoor on the frontier, in order to
settle a boundary dispute which had arisen be-
tween the Rajah of Akulkote’s territory and the
Nizam’s, and in regard to which there had been
some scrious fighting and bloodshed ; so I made
for the spot early in November, expecting that
everything would be satisfactorily arranged in a
few days.

It proved, however, that I had to survey 26
miles of disputed boundary, and to make a map of
it, before the question could even be understood
at all ; documents on both sides had to be ex-
amined, and evidence taken. Finally, after re-
cording our opinion in separatc minutes, part of
the boundary was laid down; but the Akulkote
men came in the night, pulled up the stones
which had been placed as landmarks and threw
them away.

As I could wait no longer, and the Collector
had no authority to enforce our decision, I left
the place on the 18th December, heartily regret-
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ting that my detention had been so long and so
unprofitable ; and I moved to a village on the
eastern frontier to begin the revenue settlement
for the year. I should then be close to the Resi-
dent’s line of march from Hyderabad to Nul-
droog, and could casily join him at the nearest
point.

I was glad to find the people on the eastern
and western frontiers taking heart; and I had
the yleasure of letting nearly all the uncultivated
Jands, which had beeome covered with low mimosa
jungle. There wag a better spivit abroad in the
country, and the local baukers were ready to
make advances for the cultivation of these waste
lands on low rates of intevest to any extent. The
fact was, that agents from some of the great mer-
cantile houses in Bombay had acted upon a circu-
lar which I had sent them some months before,
pointing out to them the capabilitics of my pro-
vince for the production of oil-seeds and other
staple commodities of trade; and they had sent
agents with bills of exchange to a very large
amount to invest in these purchases. One of
these agents had bills to the extent of three lakhs
(£30,000); and in all I traced more than £60,000,
which was a very welcome addition to former
capital. No such influx of money had ever been
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known before, and I recommended the agents to
deal directly with the farmers, without the inter-
vention of any third party; and they took my
advice, and ultimately all were quite satisfied.

The Resident and his staff left Hyderabad on
the 20th December, and I met him at Kullianee,
in the Nizam’s territory, on the 1st January 1855.
He received me very kindly. As I rode into
camp, he was just starting on his elephant, and
he asked me to come with him; which I did, and
we were soon deep in friendly talk about all sorts
of things. We travelled together to Nuldroog,
where I had plenty to show him—all the treasury
books and accounts, the jail, &e., &e. ; and I had
collected the pulwariies of a number of villages
and their books, and explained my system to him,
He was pleased to say “he could hardly believe
that so perfect a system could have been organ-
ised ;” and he was more and more satisfied as
we proceeded further, and the books of other
groups of villages were shown to him. He did
not like Nuldroog at all, and said there must be
another head-station—and in this view I quite
coincided ; but there could be no change made
for the present.

I was very anxious to lay my projects for irri-
gation-works before him, and he marched with
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me to Tooljapoor, where the largest tank had
been marked out, and this seemed to decide him
in regard to the more extended system which I
had advocated. He said he was very anxious to
show that the ‘assigned districts could do as
much for their size as the Punjaub,” and pro-
mised to send on to Government all the plans
and estimates that could be prepared.

He could propose ne-change in judicial matters,
as my small code was working very satisfactorily ;
and be confided to me that T was the only Deputy-
Commissioner who had attempted to introduce
anything of the kind.

The Resident had not very much time to
spare ; we therefore went on from Tooljapoor to
Owsa, but I regretted his being unable to see the
prettiest part of the district, which lay along the
edge of the table-land.

He was immensely struck, however, with the
regularity and beauty of the fine old fort of
Owsa : and indeed, if the Arabs who formed the
garrison when I first took possession of it had
chosen to resist, the place could only have been
taken by a regular siege. I left the Resident at
Bhalkee, a point on the Hyderabad road ; and we
had, when we parted, settled everything as far as
we could. I showed him the survey work, which

VOL. IL K
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pleased him. No other Deputy - Commissioner
had as yet even attempted a commencement, and
it gratified him that I had done so, in spite of
my refusal to make use of the Punjaub system.
We parted very good friends ; and as I fancied, on
his first coming, that he had acquired rather a
prejudice against me, I was the more pleased at
the result of our meeting. I knew my district
was in a much more orderly and regular condi-
tion than any other ceded at the same time, and
I was anxious it should be ingpected.

At the request of the people, I chose the site of
a new market-town near Nelingah., Therc were
more than a hundred applications for sites, so I
designed a market-place and a hall of assembly ;
and the Resident having given his sanction, we
began to build at once, Nelingah was now a
place of trade and a resort of merchants, yet how
it was reduced! The old accounts showed its
revenue to have been 12,000 rupees a-year ; now
it did not reach above 3000.

After much tedious and lengthy correspond-
ence respecting the difference in value of curren-
cies collected during the first year, which I had
cut short by aceepting only Company’s rupees in
payments during the present year, I was able to
submit my accounts of revenue and collections at
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an early period; and the following copy of a
memorandum I sent to my father in July will
show what progress had been made :—

“ Culteeation~—Contrasting the returns of 1852-
53 with those of 1854-53, und after adjustment
of all rransfers of villages attached to proprictors,
lands released, &e., there is a clear increase of
new cultivation of becgahs 139,190, A beegal,
by the average of local niensurement, is here up-
wards of an acre—about 1.30.

“ Revenue—The gross and net revenue of 1851-
52, including all cstates resumed by us, customs
duties, &e., was i —

Gross revenue, Hyderabad ripees, . . 86,263 7 b
Village expenses, B - i . 164,882 13 5

Balance, net revenue, ITyderabad rupees, 691,380 10 0
Gross 1evenue for 1854-55 in Company’s
Tupees, . . . . . . 022,666 8 0
Deduct village expenses, . . . 97,993 8 9
Balai ce, net revenue, in. Company’s rupees, 824,672 15 3

Resull,

Net revenue, 1854-55, Company’s rupees, 824,672 15 3
Net revenue, 1851-52, Tyderaliad rupecs, 691,380 10 O

Increase in tale, . . Rs. 133,292 6 3

“The value of the different rupces is not here
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given ; and either the Hyderabad rupees may be
turned into Company’s at 21 per cent, or the
Company’s into Hyderabad, and here is the re-
sult :—

Company’s rupees, 824,672, at 121 for 100

Hyderabad rapees, . . . 997,853 1 11
Net revenne of 1851-52, as above, . . 691,380 10 0

Net increase, value, Hyderabad rupees, 306,472 7 11

Or, if the Nizam’s Government’s share only of
1851-52 for the whole province is reckoned, the
amount will stand as follows :—

Net revenue of 1854-55, as above, Com-

pany's rupees, 824,672, at 121 per 100, = 997,863 1 11
Realised by the Nizam’s Governinent in
1851-52, according to account, . 562,457 14 9

Given to the Nizam’s Government by
cession on the result of 1854-55, in
Hyderabad rupees, . . . 435,396 3 2

“ Even this is not all, for the Rs. 562,457 14 9
contained the customs duties abolished in 1854-
55. These amounted to Rs. 35,000; and there
is a further profit in decrease of village charges,
which were 19.41 per cent on the gross revenue
in 1851-52—and in 1854-55, 10.84 per cent.

“The average rate of assessment per beegah,
or acre, i3 nine annas and two pies (about one
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shilling and three halfpence); and there is no
other tax or cess whatever,

“Tu reference to the gross revenue of 1854-55,
the total remission from unrealised balances is
Rs. 620 5 6: or 922,666 8 Company’s rupecs
have leen realised, all but Rs, 620 5 6; or
£92,266, all except £62.”

There remained, therefore, no doubt whatever
that the cession of this province had been high-
ly profitable to the Nizam’s Government. The
actual receipts had very nearly doubled, and the
revenuc was secured in Company’s rupees instead
of in fluctuating currencies. The local profits of
the Nizam's talookdars, or collectors, had been
enormous. They had collected all the revenue,
for the most part, in a local currency, which was
little shiort in value in the market of the Com-
pany’srupce ; but instead of giving their Govern-
ment the bencfit of the exchange into Hyderabad
rupees, they had paid Hyderabad rupees only by
bills on Hyderabad, which were cashed in the
local debased currency of the city itself.

If this were a specimen of one province, what
must have been the result from them all?  Berar,
like Nuldroog, showed a similar difference of value
and increase in favour of the cession.

In August of this year the distress secmed
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almost greater than the year before, There had
been no rain since June, and the poorer classes,
who were accustomed to gain their living by
weeding fields and other agricultural work, were
now starving, and flocking in erowds to Nul-
droog. We all did what we could, as we had done
the year before, and it was a heavy drain on
private individuals, I urged the Resident to
allow me to begin the roads to Sholapoor and
Hyderabad, which he had promised, and which
would have greatly relieved the local strain upon
me and others, but I had to wait a weary time
for an answer.

During this month, too, I lost the valuable
services of my assistant Cadell. He had gone
to Hyderabad on leave for a month, and when
there, Bullock, who was Commissioner in Berar,
applied for furlough to England on medical cer-
tificate ; the Raichore Commissioner was ordered
to act in Berar, and Cadell was sent to Raichore.
I was very sorry to lose my friend. He had
managed four out of my ten divisions admir-
ably from the first; he was always kind, cour-
teous, and considerate to mnatives of every degree,
and had won golden opinions from all. We had
worked well together, and he was thoroughly
acquainted with his duties in every respect.
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Personally, I was very much attached to him, and
shall never forget, while I live, our pleasant days
together.

No assistant was appointed in his stead, and
the whole work of the province fell upon me,
without any additional pay; but I was grateful
for excellent health, though I hardly hoped it
would long hold out under the terrible strain
now put upon me.

We had no rain till September; but the new
roads, to the commencement of which a tardy
sanction had at length been given, provided
labour for upwards of 4000 men, women, and
children, and saved them from starvation. I
also cleared out the fort altogcther, and thus em-
ployed 1500 more persons: every old wall was
levelled, and the stones-were thrown into hollows
and covered with earth. In October heavy rain
fell all over the district, and we thanked God
that all dread of famine was at an end. The
very early crops had withered, but now every
acre of land was being re-ploughed and sown,
and the prospects were very cheering.  Another
road to Tooljapoor was sanctioned, and put in
hand; and I had completed thirty miles of one
and fifteen of another, having been obliged to do
all the surveying and laying out myself. They
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were only cleared and levelled to begin with,
and would be metalled afterwards.

My drother-in-law, William Palmer, was at
last appointed as my assistant. He had served
in a similar capacity in North and South Berar.
In the latter province no system whatever had
been introduced, neither revenue, account, nor
judicial, and the Resident had gone there on a tour
of inspection. Cadell, too, wrote from Raichore
to say that he had everything to originate there,
and he did not like it at all ; but I hoped he was
in a fair way for promotion. The work at the
large tank at Tooljapoor had been stopped, pend-
ing formal sanction by Government—Dbut this had
been granted ; and after testing all my old level-
ling by a new instrument which my father sent
to me from England, the embankment was begun
in earnest. In December all looked well—crops
were luxuriant, work progressing, and people
happy and contented ; and for this peaceful close
to a very trying year, I felt most grateful. I
again received orders to meet the Resident on his
return from South Berar to Hyderabad, at any
point nearest to my boundary. 1 therefore, while
waiting for him, carried on the survey of the road
from Tooljapoor to Kullianee, and contrived to
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get through from seven to nine miles per day,
laying down marks for the contractors and work-
men. [ finally met the Resident at his camp at
Bundapoor on the 14th January 1856. IHe was
exceedingly kind and friendly towards me. Ile
expressed himself dissatisfied with the condition
of South Berar, and was pleased to say many
flattering things about the order and regularity in
all departments which-he-had found at Nuldroog.
As still further improvement had continued since
his visit, I would have liked to have taken him
through part of my district ; but time did not
permit of it, and he could not delay longer his
return to Hyderabad. There was no difference
of opinion between us except in regard to the
survey, as to which I consistently maintained my
first position, that unless it had a scientific basis,
and the surveyors had a practical education and
knowledge of their work, they could not deal
with village lands like those of Nuldroog, some
of the areas of which were from 20,000 to 30,000
acres in extent; and that to perscvere in the Pun-
jaub scheme would not only entail loss of time,
but of moncy also.

We had several hot arguments about this;
but at last the Resident confided to me that the
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Punjaub work had been an utter failure when
scientifically tested, and he showed me some of
the correspondence, which was convincing.

I was therefore allowed now to work out my
own tables in my own way. I had a number of
clever pupils, who were ready to set to work at
once, and I promised to show results in a very
short time, which I hoped would be considered
satisfactory. All official clouds and differences
were dispersed, and we were of one accord in
all matters. In private Mr Bushby was one of
the pleasantest of companions; and we sat up
each night into the small hours of the morning,
engaged in pleasant talk, and schemes for the
further improvement of my district. He had
sent on all my plans for roads and irrigation-
works; and estimates, exceeding a lakh of ru-
pees, had been passed by Government, All this
made me very hopeful.

I thought very earnestly at this time of taking
furlough to England, and seeing my father once
more, and of bringing out my children to India,
if it were practicable. My heart yearned to see
them and all the dear oncs at home, yet there
were many difficulties. I had no society, and
no means of continuing their education; and
Nuldroog, or life in tents, was quite unfit for



1856.] ONLY AN OUTSIDER. 155

thera. I could not, cither, go home on medical
certificate, for, thank (lod ! my health was first-
rate ; and no doctor in Bombay, sceing my ruddy
checks and strong frame, would have ventured
to ¢ive me one. So I had no alternative but to
wait patiently the tide of events,

I was not without a hope, that as a head-com-
missioner was to he appointed to superintend
the whole of the distriets; I might be nominated
to the post. This would have involved residence
at Hyderabad, where I could have had home and
friends for my children; but in this I was dis-
appointed. Alas! I was not a regular Company’s
scrvant, only an outsider, ¢ uncovenanted,” and
the Company’s rules conld not be infringed!
Alrcady, I heard from Mr Courtenay, there existed
much jealousy in regard to the offices held by
“Joval officers;” and much as Lord Dalhousie
wished personally to serve me, he dared not pro-
voke further dissatisfaction.

On the 6th March, Lord Dalhousie departed
from Caleutta for England, leaving behind him
a minute, which has its place in history, in which
he detailed what he had done during his vice-
royalty. His last annexation had been Oudh;
but that bad not been his own work. It had
been for some time imminent, and was finally
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decided upon by the Court of Directors and the
Government of England. It is only in future
histories of India, and from his own papers,
should they ever be published, that the character
and acts of Lord Dalhousie as Governor-General
can be properly estimated ; as yet, he has had his
enlogists, and his bitter opponents, almost, indeed,
amounting to defamers.

To my humble pereeption he was the most
practically useful and single-minded ruler that
India had ever possessed. His great mind took
in every question with a singular clearness,
whether it were large or small, momentous or
unimportant, and he improved everything he
touched. To him India owes electric telegraphs,
railways, extension of practical education, large
irrigation projects, roads, and the removal of
many disabilities under which natives suffered.
No one who ever worked under Lord Dalhousie
could for a moment question his unerring detec-
tion of any weak point, and the great power of
mind and application which distinguished him,
and at no period of Indian history had the admin-
istration of India been so admirably conducted.

To reccive a word of praise trom him was the
desire which lay ncarest every heart; and when
given, it was never in a cold or niggardly
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spirit, but warmly and most encouragingly. To
myself personally, though I knew him not, he
had been, both privately and officially, kind and
considerate from first to last; and I only regret
that I cannot find among my papers the last
expression of his lordship’s sentiments towards
me, in transmitting a copy of the last despatch
of the Court of Directors in reference to the affairs
of Shorapoor.

I have spoken of my own work, and have
called it bhard, lasting from twelve to sixteen
hours daily; but this was made up of the petty
details of one province. Tord Dalhousie did as
much ecach day, with the direction of all India
on his mind. “No ene can record,” wrote the
“Times,” “ for few knew, of his daily toil, or how,
with a delicate frame, he overcame it, but which
overworked and destroyed his physical powers,
and in 1860 sent him to his grave.”

When he left her, India scemed secure and
peaceful, and be retired with a very sincere con-
viction that so she would long remain !

I was desired in February to meet a native
commissioner from Hyderabad, to settle the
boundary of jurisdtiction, which had been under
dispute, and we were to act in concert. I waited
wearily for a month, losing the best period of my
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season ; and when at length the commissioner
arrived, he had received no instructions, and
further delay ensued. At length, after he had
made references to his Government on various
points, we arranged affairs amicably.

I was principally engaged in trying criminal
cases, which were both numerous and heavy;
but there were no dacoities now, and these cases
belonged chicfly to the period before the cession.
As a proof of what I had to do in judicial affairs,
I may here mention that Mr Compton, who was
judge of Sholapoor, sent me a memorandum of
the result of his work within a certain period.
He had tried 72 cases, whercas my file showed
172 for the same !

My police system was working well. Every
patell, or head of a village, was made a local
magistrate, with certain powers, and a small
allowance; and as a mark of distinction, the
post was much esteemed. It gratified me also
to find that my rules for the police were ordered
for adoption in every province of the cession.

My accounts were made out, and sent up to
Hyderabad with the administration report in
July. The increase of cultivation in three years
had been 184,000 acres., In 1835-56, 72,000
acres of new land had been taken up, but 34,000
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were abandoned in the famine, which would not
have been the case had rain fallen, and we should
have had, with that, 218,000 acres of increase.
As the revenue augmented, petty taxes would be
remitted, as I had arranged from the first, This
year 40,000 rupecs would be struck off, yet the
whole revenue would not be seriously affected.
I need not give again all the details, as those of
the previous year will suflice.

In August Mv T. N. Maltby, of the Madras
Civil Service, was appointed head-commissioner,
and Mr Dushby was relieved from the extra
duties which had heen imposed upon him, and
which were very oncrous.  We looked out now
for changes and amendments, which would form
part of a more regular system than we had yet
experienced. It was very evident to our com-
missioner, in the first place, that without inereased
establishments, the demands for regular reports,
constantly increasing, could not be complied
with, nor could the strain on any one who could
and would do the work be borne much longer.
As some relief to me, my head ministerial officer,
“Baba Sahib,” a very shrewd and excellent
revenue - officer, whom I had brought with me
from Shorapoor, was promoted to the rank of
extra-assistant ; and he, with my assistant Mr
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Palmer, relieved me of much of the petty detail
which had distressed me before. Cadell had
been appointed Deputy-Commissioner in South
Berar, and Eastern Raichore had been added to
the western portion as part of the new arrange-
ments. He was now, I was glad to see, on the
highroad to promotion, and he had truly well
earned his advance. My work never slackened
in amount; aud in reply to my father'’s query as
to how my day was spent, I wrote as follows :
“Up at 5 A.M., and go out ahout the survey of
the roads. In by eight o’clock and answer letters,
English and Mahratta, till ten ; bathe, and break-
fast over at eleven. Then to cucherry work,
trials, &e., till 6 p.m., without stirring—often, in-
deed, till seven. Dine, and sit an hour or so with
Palmer, if he is there, or with some native friend,
by way of a rest, which brings up the time to half-
past cight or nine. Then to my room, and work
at translations or other business till eleven or
twelve. Count up all this and you will see there
is no time for anything except hard work; yet,
I am very thankful to say, I have neither pain
nor ache.”

The public works did not slagken either. Every
road I had surveyed and marked out was in
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active progress, and there were now six long
distances under the labourers’ hands.

Our new Commissioner had written to me to
say that he proposed taking my district the first
in his projected tour of inspection. He was to
leave Hyderabad on the 20th November ; and as
I had a little leisure time and needed rest, I went
intn Sholapoor on a visit to my kind friends, Mr
and Mrs Compton. What a treat this was to me!
She was a highly-accomplished and exquisite
musician, and it was delightful to listen to her.
I had heard so Little music since I had been in
England, and had nearly forgotten all I knew ;
but it came back to me, and I had the great
delight of singing all my favourite duets, Italian
and Knglish ; and they were so kind and sympa-
thetie, these dear friends, that my heart warmed
to them both, nor did our friendship ever lessen.
My pleasant stay ended abruptly, as T had to
return to Nuldroog sooner than I expected.
Another assistant was added to my staff, Lieu-
tenant Temple of the Madras Army, who, having
passed an examination as civil engincer, and hav-
ing been employed in the survey, and as superin-
tendent of roads and tanks, would be of the
greatest use to me. He arrived at Nuldroog on
the 30th November, and was followed by a second
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native assistant, Jewanjee Rustomjee, a Parsce,
so that now I bad two English and two native
assistants. Mr Maltby had seen at a glance
that it was no use overworking his Deputy-
Commissioners. He unfortunately met with a
severe accident, which prevented his leaving
Hyderabad ; and 1 was much concerned at this,
for I had looked forward to his coming with
sincere pleasure, and I knew that he was one to
appreciate all 1 had done and was striving further
to accomplish.

During my little visit to Sholapoor I made the
acquaintance of the surveyor-in-chief for the
railway, and I asked him to come with me to see
my embankment works, roads, &e., and, above all,
to test my survey with the theodolite. He came
to Nuldroog, tested the suryeys of three consider-
able village lands, and gave me a certificate that
he could find “no appreciable error whatever.”
Here was a grand triumph for me! Government
had refused me a theodolite, and I had been
working in my own fashion, and somewhat in
the dark.

My system with the plane-tables was quite
new to my friend, and he did me the honour to
ask me for one of my instruments, which I con-
sidered a. high compliment. The certificate he
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had given me was too valuable to retain, as it
entered into full details of his tests, and I for-
warded 1t to the Commissioner.

Although he had not seen them in actual
working, Mr Maltby ordered at once the adoption
of my system of accounts in all departments, and
dirceted it to be put in force in all districts of
the Commission. My police regulations had al-
ready been adopted, and, at length, what 1 had
been working for so hard scemed to be appre-
ciated; and 1 received, by a minute of the
Supreme Council, the “special thanks of the
Governor-General in Council for my valuable
services.”  And so ended the year 1856, with
many thanks to God for all His merciful pro-
tection.  Kverything around me was peaceful
and prosperous ; there was good hope of a fine
season ; my toads were opening out lines of
trafliz all through the country; and trade was
brisk and profitable,

I bhad held many eriminal trials during the
year; but the last one in 1856 was more than
usually extraordinary. A farmer and shepherd,
the possessor of some wealth, had two wives—
one old, the other young, The elder wife had
no fumily, and he had married a younger one in
the hope of having an heir born to him. Much
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jealousy existed between the women, though they
did not live in the same house, or even in the same
village. One morning, carly, the shepherd was
found dead in his sugar-cane field, which he had
gone to watch alone during the night. His head
was literally knocked to picces with large stones,
but the body could be perfectly identified. There
had been a feast in his house the evening before,
and a kid had been killed by his nephew, and
many of the neighbours had  partaken of the
dinner, at which the shepherd and his elder wife
had appeared to be on the best terms. At the in-
quest and local investigation, many suspicious cir-
cumstances were brought forward against the clder
wife and the nephew, and both were committed
by me for trial.  One of these was, that the wife
of the nephew declared her husband had been
absent most part of that night; and when he re-
turned home he threw a thick sheet over her,
which he had with him, saying she must be
cold, and that he was going to her village, and
she must follow. On this sheet were large
patches of blood, which she had not observed at
night ; but she had given it to the police when
they eame in the morning. I had sent the shect
to Hyderabad in order that the blood-stains
might be analysed ; but it could not be proved
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that the blood was human, and the male prisoner
swore that it was that of the kid which he him-
self had killed for the feast.

There was a great deal of circumstantial evi-
dence in the case; but it was impossible to con-
vict the prisoners upon this only, and they were
very ably defended by a native advocate. When
the defence was closed, I was on the point of
recording an acquittal;although I was inwardly
sure the prisoncrs had done the murder; and I
had taken my pen in hand to write, when the
woman, a tall maseuline figure, began to beat
her breast, and cried out with a loud voice—

“Stop, Suhib! do not write! You do not
know the truth ; you would writc what 1s wrong.
All that my advocate and the witnesses have said
to you is false. Lics! lies! lies! I did the
murder, and” (pointing to the nephew) “le
helped me! He knocked him down with a big
stone, and then we killed him between us.”

It was quite in vain that I cautioned her that
this confession must be made use of against
ler if she persisted in it. She only said the
more—

“Ties! lies l—we did it, he and I, and he will
tell you so himself. Is it not all true?” she
said, turning to the other prisoner, “ Don't be
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ashamed of it. Speak the truth before God and
the Sahib.”

“It is all true,” said the young man, quite
calmly-—*“ quite true ; and I will tell how we did
it.  Wag I not his heir ? and he had always de-
nied me my share beeause he said he would have
children by his new wife. Could I bear that,
Sahih 2”7

“(Could I bear his Jeaving me for a wooden-
faced girl ?” cried the woman, beating her breast
violently, “No,nol I did it! I did it! I and
he; and if he were alive now, and we two were
free, we could not let him live, Take down all [
say 1 she shricked—* take it all down, and hang
me afterwards, for my heart is burning ! burning !
burning ! ”

I recorded their confessions, which were long
and very circumstantial, not only corroborating
the evidence in every material point, but explain-
ing how the murder had been long planned,—how
the woman had engaged five men of a village in
the British territory to do it, and had given them
two rupees cach as earnest-money; but their cour-
age failed them, and they had given the money
back to her: then, as she sad, there remained
no one to do it but her husband’s nephew and
herself. After all was recorded, I passed sen-
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tence of death upon both.  The proceedings were
sent on to the Sudder Adalut or Supreme Court
of Calcutta, the sentence confirmed, and the hor-
rible pair hanged together. I shall never forget
the look and action of that woman as she cried
out to me “not to write,” and poured forth a
torrent of confession which she could not repress.

In another case of dacoity which followed, the
clear evidence of the widow of the owner of the
house attacked, who was a young and very beau-
tiful Brahmin girl, affected me very deeply; and
the subject of that trial forms the opening of
my romance of ‘ Sceta.”  The deposition of Seeta
given at the first inguiry is that of the Brahmin
widow, with very slight alteration.

Indeed my operations against the dacoits of
my district were Deginning to tell heavily
upon them. Oune large gang, very notorious in
1627-29, were at length brought to justice, and
stolen property to a very large amount was re-
covercd from them and recognised, A zemindar
of the adjacent Dritish proviuce, a great man in
his way, was also tried and convieted on many
charges of dacoity, and was sentenced to fourteen
years’ penal servitade; and these instances of con-
viction, and many more, purged my province of
dacoits,
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New-Year’s Day of 1857 found me at Nelin-
@ah, where I had been for two days. All was now
very prosperous, and the crops were splendid.
Every one was in good heart, and applications
for waste lands were very numerous; in a com-
paratively short time none would remain to be
taken up. My new assistant, Temple, had gone
to work steadily, and was studying Mahratta
with every prospect of ‘hecoming a proficient.
He liked the people, and they liked him ; and, as
I had before done with Cadell, I made several
yearly settlements to show him how the work
was done, and he was a very patient and good-
tempered scholar. He had been with me on the
Hyderabad road so far ag it extended, and he
completed the survey of two branch lines to Nel-
ingah and Sowérd to Latoor—all of these I left
to him to look after, as he could afford the time ;
but the works were making rapid progress every-
where, From Nelingah I went to Khardsa,
half-way to Owsa, as I was very anxious to sec
some Hindoo cave-temples of which I had heard
a good deal, and none of the archaologists of
Bombay seemed to know anything about them.
I found them well worthy a visit—excavated in
a cliff of laterite or coarse stone ; but some of
the pillars left were richly decorated with carv-
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ing, and several of the halls of the temples were
large and airy. The whole were amini ature, ap-
parently, of the caves of Ellora, but very humble
copics of these noble temples ; and though there
did not exist even a tradition of their origin, I
concluded they must have been the work of the
Rajahs of Kullianec—either the Chalukyas, or
their successors the Ydddvds of Deoglur or Dow-
latabad. I could disgever no inscription to copy
and send to the Asiatic Society of Bombay, but I
measured the temples and sent plans of them, as
I did ulso those of the fine Buddhist excavations
near Daraseo, which i1 many respects were very
remarkable, and had been previously unknown.
The day I arrived at Khuardsa I received the
melancholy intelligence of the death of the Resi-
dent, Mr Bushby. Hec had over-fatigued himself
when out on a country cxcursion, and brought on
an illness from which he never rallied. I regret-
ted him very much ; for although we had had some
differences of opinion on various local questions,
yet to me individually he had been kind and en-
couraging, We corresponded constantly, and he
was ever urging me on to attempt and begin
further public wouks, and expressing satisfaction
at the result of those already completed. It wasim-
possible to conjecture who might be his successor.
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After staying a few days at Owsa, for the
trial of the prisoners confined in the jail there,
I went by the new line of road to Sowdrd and
Nuldroog. This latter portion was quite finished,
and measured 24 feet in width, looking like a
good gravel-walk the whole way. This had
before only been a rough track for carts, indeed
sometimes merely a path winding among the
great basalt boulders: = At Nuldroog, the first
building [ had used as a jail was now too small,
and I began enclosing the larae magazine with a
wall 21 feet high and plastering it inside. There
were now 400 prisoners in the jail, and I had
established a school of industry, which was going
on well.  Some of the prisoners were making rope
and tape, others weaving, and more manufac-
turing carpets of strong cotton—some of these
were very pretty, and showed much skill. Nor
did T allow the women to be idle; they made
various articles in a kind of knitting which was
taught them, and other kinds of work. The
prisoners were likewise set to build the new jail
wall, and were useful in a multitude of ways.

After a good look round Nuldroog, just to see
that all was right, and testing all the surveys
of villages within reach, I went on to Sholapoor
for a few days’ rest, and to indulge myself in a
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little music ; and I promised to go there for a long
visit during the rains, when I could not move
about my district. My friend the surveyor-in-
chief was not at Sholapoor, but Licut. T. of the
Artillery, who had belonged to the Trigonometrical

Survey of Scinde, accompanicd me to Tooljapoor,
bringing his theodolite with him. He was curi-
ous to see what [ was doing, and he remained
long enough to test my surveys of several large
villages—-all of which, I am glad to say, he found
correct,

I asked him to make a report to me on the
subject, which he did, explaining in detail the
tests he Lhad made, and their vesults, which T sent
on to Mr Maltby=and if the Commisgioner had
any doubt about our work, I knew this report
would remove it; but he wrotec word that he
was sare we were fully able to carry 1t on cor-
rectly ; and I was rejoiced to find that my plan
of using the planc-tables was turning out so
thoronghly successful.

I had now leisure to make measurements for
the completion of the noble embankment at Bhit-
orec, which was one of my principal projects.
The high-water level showed an arca of upwards
of two square miles; the water would have an
average depth of 25 feet, and the irrigation chan-
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nels on the right bank of the stream would carry
water to Ahmednugger itsclf, which needed it
sorely, This great work had been begun, accord-
ing to tradition, by Salabut Khan, the great
Minister of Almednugger, who died in 1588,
and whose mausoleum overlooks the admirable
site for the lake which he had selected. As
each would benefit alike by the work, the Nizam’s
and the British Governments were to share its
expenses ; and [ was so anxious to sce it put in
hand, that T worked very Lard at all the plans,
scetions, and surveys.  Bhidtorce was one of the
most delightful of all' my villages, and I had
constant visitors from the cantonment. Lieut.
Cotgrave of the Engineers, with an assistant, was
sent to help me.

Between us all, we finished what we had to
do; and the cross-levels of this basin gave a result
of upwards of sixty millions of cubic yards of
water-storage, while the expenses of the work
would be comparatively moderate. Mr Cotgrave
had not had experience of tank-engineering, but
he very soon took in the project, and entered into
its details with great spirit and zeal; and on
looking into the particulars of the former por-
tion which had been completed, we were both
excecdingly struck by the profound science which
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had been evinced by the ancient Mnussulman
engineers.

A survey of the high watershed lying between
my district and the great valley of the Godavery
river was necessary in order to caleulate the
amount of rainfall for storage in the large tanks
I had proposed; and I began this from Bhito-
ree, and finished about 100 square miles of if,
which all fell into the basin I had tested when I
came first to the district.

I had now gained the amplest data for irrigation
projects both here and at Bhitoree; and when
I should find leisure to do so, would submit them
with my administrative report. How anxious the
people were for water |—mot only for cultivation,
but for their cattle; and what noble memorials
would these works be of our rule in the provinee!
I bad discovered among the hills a refuge in hot
weather——a village 2470 feet above the sea-level
by barometer and boiling-point of water. I did
not leave it till the end of March, and then it
was quite cold at night and very agreeable during
the day. The scencry was beautiful all along
the mountaing to Ahmednugger westwards, and
over my own district castwards; while to the
north lay the wide plain of the Godavery, and
Aurungabad and its hills beyond. Even with
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the naked eye 1 could see the glitter of the
marble dome of the great tomb of Aurungzeely’s
daughter in the far distance, and of other domes
and minavets in the city; but my time was up
—1 had to meet my assistant Palmer, and to lay
out a new piece of road south to Daraseo and
north towards the city of Beer. After all was
done, the rainy scason would begin, and we
should assemble at Nuldroog.

My plans were changed by a note received
from Colonel Davidson, from Baroda, where, after
leaving Hyderabad, he bad been appointed Resi-
dent. Now, it appcared, he was promoted to the
vacancy at Hyderabad, and sent me word that
he should be at Nuldroog on the 12th April. 1
reccived his mnote while at Manoor on the 6th,
and I had 120 miles to travel over as best I could
in order to meet our new chief, who was an old
friend of mine. By relays of horses, and a palan-
keen from Tcoljapoor, I managed to reach Nul-
droog on the morning of the 10th, as the sun was
rising, and 1 found everything looking very nice.
Next day at 4 A the Resident arrived, and I
was very glad to welcome him, and to congratu-
late him on his new appointment, He had heen
overworked at Baroda, and looked ill; but the
offer of the Hyderabad Residentship was too
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tempting, and he had abandoned his previous
idea of going on furlough to England for a few
months” leave, until he should have established
himself in his new position.

As soon as it was light, he asked to be shown
all over the fort, expressed his approval of the
new jail, and heard all about my schemes for
roads, and all the irrigation projects, to which
he promised his help and countenance, declaring
that one of his first undertakings at Hyderabad
would be to complete the road to a junction with
my frontier, [ explained the progress of the
survey, and, in short, everything connected with
my work in all departments, and he had not one
single objection to offer to any of my plans. He
stayed with us till the evening, Temple having
ridden in from Owsa during the day; and we
then sent him on, with our hearty good wishes
for a safe journey, and after this relapsed into
our usual monotonous routine of daily work.

I returned to my camp, and made surveys and
plans for the last large tank I had to prepare for
execution in the ensuing year. It would collect
the drainage of 574 square miles ; would have an
average depth of 24 feet, and an area of 13%
square miles; and would, when completed, be
a truly noble work,
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I had much anxiety at this time about many
things, and one especially was the very severe
illness of my father-in-law Mr Palmer, who
throughout my life had been so steady, loving,
and truly helpful a friend to me in all my doings.
He recovered, however, very slowly ; but his
son, my assistant, was obliged to leave me and
go to Hyderabad for advice about his eyes,
which began to fail him terribly. He could now
scarcely see to write his name, and was unfit for
duty. I took charge of his subdivision myself;
and the travelling season being over, returned to
Nuldroog by the close of May.

On my way to Nuldroog, my assistant Baba
Sahib had met me at Darasco, and in course of
a conversation which we held privately, he told
me that very disagreeable rumours had been
flying about that disaffection prevailed in the
British territory, and that it was reported an
attempt would soon be made to turn the DBritish
out of India altogether.

I had heard this myself, but it had made no
impression upon me. Who could or would think
it could be true, while the whole of India lay
apparently in profound peace? Who could
dream of any rising ?

“Do you remember,” said Baba Sahib, “the
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anonymous letter sent to you by the Bombay
Glovernment some time ago? I think it was
in February; that was a warning, and kindly
meant, though it sounded rude and insolent.
Now the almanac for this year 1914 is most
alarming ; it goes back to the hundred years’ of
the battle of Plassey, and declares that the rule of
the Corapany must come to an end in bloodshed
and tumult. This is-what is disturbing men’s
minds, and we must be very careful. When I
saw the almanac for the year, I had almost
determined to write to you to have it stopped,
and prevent the public reading of it if possible ;
but I knew that you would say such a step would
give it too much importance. Do you not hear
ugly rumours yourself ¢”

I scarcely liked to confess that I had; but
since February I had been receiving several
anonymous letters sent through the ordinary
post, with various post-marks, all warning me, as
a friead to mnatives, to take furlough to Eng-
land and join my family, and leave the district
to its fate. They were worded mostly in this
way ;—

“ Although you have many friends, and the
people worship you, you have still enemies
who will approach you when the time comes,
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and you will mnever know who strikes you
down.”

All these letters were marked ¢ private,” or “to
be read by himself,” and, like other anonymous
productions, which were common enough, I had
read them and then torn them up. I had not the
smallest fearof the people in my district ; but these
letters, taken 1n connection with those which had
been sent confidentially to-Lord Elphinstone, had
more effect upon me than I cared to acknowledge.

The advent of 1914 had been preceded by
frightful cholera and floods 1n Bengal, discontent
about the greascd cartridges, and the mutiny
of the 19th Bengal Native Infantry; but such
cvents scemed to have no possible conncetion
with the general uprising of the people; and even
if, in Bengal, they were suspicious of infringe-
ments of caste, what could that possibly bave to
do with the peaceful and apparently loyal furmers
of the Deccan ?

In Bengal, however, there now appeared to
be real alarm. Lord Canning’s proclamation
of May 16th proved that there was, as there
seemed to me to be, direct sympathy between
what the people of Bengal were warned of by
Lord Canning and what I knew was being felt
all round me. I could only infer that the evil
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prophecy of the curious almanae, the same in
purport everywhere, had in reality disturbed the
minds of the unthinking and superstitious. What
could be done? I heard the same apprehensive
reports from Hyderabad. The Resident and
others wrote to me about them ; and from Ahmed-
nugger, Sholapoor, Berar, and other localities,
came the same tidings : and out of all the letters
whick reached me and Temple, there was scarcely
one which did not make some reference to the
subject.

I conufess I was considerably relieved when I
received an order to remit all the money I had
in the treasury to Bombay for the Persian war.
I fels, in any case, 1t was hetter to be without it.

I well remember the receipt of the “ Extra”
from Mecerut of the 11th May. Who that was
in India at that time can forget it ¥ One could
not but shudder at the awful news; but there
arose a hope that it might only be a local mutiny
which could be checked without spreading fur-
ther, and that peace would soon follow ; and yet,
if common precaution had been taken at every
station as early as February or March, before the
evil wind of 1914 began to blow, many and
many a valuable life would have been spared.
Now it was too late, for throughout the Bengal
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army disaffection was widely prevalent, and was
beginning to bear [ruit almost day by day every-
where.  Warnings had not been wanting.
Friendly natives had endeavoured by many
means to put Englishmen on their guard ; but
no hints were taken, no precautions used, and
the blow fell at last.

The following letters were written home to my
friends, though with no view to publication at
the time ; but for the convenience of my family
and others interested in the subject, they were
printed and circulated privately withont my
knowledge :—

NuLirooo (WestERN Croud Disrricrs, DEccax),
June 21, 18567,

No Government despatch that ever left India will
be looked for with such auxiety as the mail which takes
this. The close of the Affyhan war was a period of in-
tense excitement ; but then it was for an army retiring,
and one which could, united as it was, bave borne down
everything before it. Now the fear arises from the
army itself. To say that a Bengal army exists, is, 1
fear, hopeless. The list of regiments that have broken
into open mutiny, or have been disbanded because of
disaftection, has extended to more than half the regular
regiments already, and who sha'l say how far it may
not extend ? "How will it be possible to trust any after
this? Happily, as yet, no disaffection has been mani-
fested in the Bombay or Madras armies, and the native
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States are one and all faithful. There has been excite-
ment at IIyderabad, of course, and one night a standard
was planted, around which some rabble assembled ; but
the Minister sent a party of Arabs to keep order, and
thosa assembled fled, nor has any atfempt at sedition
been renewed. Davidson has a small detachment and
a few guns at the Residency, more to assure the people
of the Residency Bazaar than aught else; and all is
quiet, There had been suspicion of communication be-
tween disaffected parties in the native regiments and
the city rabble, but no frace could be found ; and such
reports have been common at all ‘times, for the last
twenty years, in any periods of gcneral exciteruent.
The Minister and Nizam are steadily with us; and it
scems they have the Arabs ¢n Land, which perhaps
some doubted. Of course the general interest is now
centred in Delhi ; and I think and hope that you will
hear of its fall by this mail.  News, by electric tele-
graph, to Davidson, of the 24, {from Delhi, said that
a breach had been made; but the most material was,
that the king had thrown himself on our protection,
and that the mutineers were divided among themselves.
They Lad been defeated with great slanghter outside the
walls, by our troops, under General Barnard; and the
results of their two attacks on the outpost of the Meerut
post on the Hindun, were also slaughter and defeat.
That the whole will be quelled, and speedily too, I have
not the least doubt; but, meantime, it is a period of
intense anxiety and excitement, as you may believe.
It is most satisfactory to see the people of our newest
provinces—the Punjaub and Oudh—as yet unmoved by
what is going on. Those of the North-West have not
been loyal, and more plundering has been carried on by
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the rural population about the large stations than by
the mutineers, Here we are all perfectly quiet, and I
trust in God may remain so. With a purcly agricul-
tural population there are no elements of excitement ;
and unless it be among any of the chiefs in the Southern
Mahratta country, no chance of disaffection exists on
this side India.

One naturally asks what has been the cause of all
this—of a whole army becoming at once disaffected,
and officers and men, Hindoo and Mohammedan, aban-
doning allegiance, pay, and pensions-—risking all in
this wild attempt to subvert the Government, for ne
one can doubt thab that is the end aimed at. It is not
only that present advantages have been risked, or cou-
siderations of them thrown away ; future considerations
are involved as well. Al sepoys, or most of the Bengal
army, are connceted with land,—there was hardly a
farmer or proprietor of any kind who had not a son or
relative in the army; many were themselves landed
proprictors: all ave known, and, as traitors, have for-
feited their estates. Tt would seem also, by the wanton
butchery of officers, and by tlie measures at once pur-
sned, that it was desired to leave no chance of accom-
modation or retreat. I suppose all this will come out
sorme day. It is impossible but that a commission must
be appointed to sift the whole to the bottom, and devise
a remedy. The authorities, blindly confident, or timid,
or conceited as they may have been, must open their
eyes now, and not only look danger in the face, but
provide against its recmrence. Some people talk of
Russia ; but I cannot think what she can have to do
with it, or how sceret means could have been devised
for the corruption of the army. That a general con-
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spiracy was made, who can doubt?—the fact of the
circulation of those mysterious cakes of bread last year
showed this, though no one suspected the sepoys, or at
least declared that they did.

But observant men have done so for many years. I
have never met an officer who had seen Bengal troops,
who was not amazed at their lax discipline. Colonel
Jacob, long ago, said that the “normal condition of the
Beongal army was muting,” for which he was nearly
losing his commission; but it was fact. At Mooltan,
and through the whole of the Punjaub war, the men
were hardly to be trusted; and after it, Sir Charles
Napier had to quell one mutiny, which had not the
appearance of heing aun isolated ebullition of feeling,
though it did not spread., Caste has been the bane of
that army, and 1t has been most strange to me always
to hear caste spoken of as an advantage. Brahmin
sepoys are, no doubt, a fine race; physically, no finer
men exist; temperate and well-behaved always, and
thiey are liked by officers; but they have viewed with
dread the gradually extending territory of the Dritish
beyond seas, which to them are dreadful, and yet where
they might sooner or later have to go—nay, would have
to go. Tnlistment is only made for general service
vow ; and while it has been made by young hands, to
get the cnly service possible, the old hands had not
taken the oath, and it must have been an object of the
lower and younger grades to free themselves from theirs,
There are many reasons why mutiny has broken out,
which T see are prominently given in the newspapers—
foreign service, suspicion about the Enfield cartridges,
general lax discipline, absence of Earopean troops, and
vhe like ; but there are others which I do not sce no-
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ticed at all, but which strike me as having had some
effect. These are: 1st, The way in which the Com-
mission in Qudh has been working, and its result as
regards the landholders. This class—petty Rajahs,
Thakoors, and landholders of all degrees-—are powerful
under the native governors, and lawless to a degree.
They had as much Jand as they liked, and paid only
what they chose. The Government was at perpetual
feud with themn; and they had the best of it, I sus-
pect. Now that is all changed, and there cun be no
distinction of persons. ~2dly, It issaid that the appoint-
ments in the Commission, as regards the heads of it,
were not good—too many regulation men—and that the
revenue screw was not spared at all. I do not know
how this is, but suspect that all combined has had more
to do with the Mutiny than any other cause—or if not
more, that it has had the eflect of arousing to action all
other subjects of real or fancied discontent. 3dly, I
doubt also whether the revenue system of the North-
West Provinces is sound — Thomason’s system, so
belauded by its supporters. It has not secured pro-
perty to the middle classes; and the yeomen, who are
our sepoys, have lost lands, which are swallowed up
by moneyed men. The Santhal rebellion was of this
kind; but there, interest and exorbitant charges on
money transactions had driven saveges to despair. The
middle classes of tenants in the North-West are not
savages, and watch and have watched with jealousy the
operation of laws and courts which have sold up old
properties and encumbered new opes. 1 cannot dilate
on these subjects ; but keep them in mind, and I think
you will see hereafter that they have had effect bane-
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fully to weaken attachment which might have been
secured by other means.

I am confident in your English resources. It will be
seen that a very large force of Kuropean troops is needed
for India, and that henceforth they must be en masse,
as Sir Charles Napier most truly observed and urged.
Isolated parties are of no use, and, as in case of the
assembly at Delhi, can only be got together after long
delays, and then inefficiently. I have no doubt the
Government will send {from. 10,000 to 20,000 men
divectly, and meantime what there are will hold their
own at least; but I hope the Delhi matter will have
been scttled by this time, and, after that, the rest is
rather of detail only, Without money, without leaders,
without guns, resources, or ammunition, what can a
rabble of sepoys do? Secial mischief only ; and that,
horrible as it has been and may be, is the price at which
we are purchasing experience. Perhaps, in the end, all
will be hetter than before.  ITllusions will be dispelled,
and there will be no trifling with danger. There must
be a native army, but that of Bengal will not be what
it has been. There will be more European cavalry and
infantry, and more artillery; more irregular levies or
armed police: in short, we shall be wiser and sadder,
and shall not trust, as we scem to have been doing for
many years, to our good fortune or prestige. This, too,
may have been one of those solemn warnings, given in
God's providence, resulting from struggles in men’s
minds between forms of belief —the fact between
heathenism and Christianity,. What the Saxons were
to Charlemagne, the Hindoos, mutatis mutendis, may
be to us. A oreat struggle between light and darkness,
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civilisation and savages, is no doubt progressing, and,
like others before it, will have its phases of excitement
and misery. Lord Canning is doing well now, but was
not decisive enough perhaps at first.  Yet who shall
say it ?

Mranows TAYLOR.

NuLorooe, July 6, 1857,

You will read with horror in Tugland the accounts
from the Bengal stations, where regiments have muti-
nied. T will not dwell upon them. Mutiny, and a
declaration for the sepoy’s cause, whatever it is, might
have heen expected in an organised vising of this kind;
but it is clear now that the extermination of officers,
with their wives and families, wag one main object—and,
alas! it has been accomplished with fiendish barbarity
in many instances. I cannot think otherwise than that
England will bLe stirred as she has rarely heen stivred
before; and that it Tias needed but the perusal of the
accounts of the last month, and even of the last fort-
night, to arouse a spivit of venpeance against these mis-
creant sepoys, such as has been rarely, if ever, displayed
among you, and that troops will be sent out instantly
in large numbers.  We have not yet heard of the fall
of Delhi—that is the point on which all interest centres
at present ; and the operations thiere are not known, ex-
cept that General Darnard had repulsed three sorties
from the place, with great loss to the mutineers. Dy
the last accounts—that is, up to the 16th—the General
was waiting for some reinforcements from the Punjaub,
-which had reached Umballa on their way down to him.
T daresay the place is strong; and as all in it are fight-

o2
ing with halters in prospect if taken, they are doubt-
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less desperate; and it is clear nothing can be risked.
Reports have come down country to Bombay that the
place has been taken, but they are not officially econ-
firmed as yet; so we must wait in paticnce. They are
strong in Calcutta, and I darcsay by this time have
some of the Chinese troops therc; if so, they will be
pushed up the country with all speed.  The Punjaub is
quiet—mno rising or disturbance—which speaks well for
the local administration, All through the Deccan and
south of India there is entire tranquillity. Hyderabad
is well ‘n hand by Davidson, who will get credit for
what he has done;  The Nizam and the Minister are
stanch, and the Arals well in hand also; they have no
sympathy with the Dengal movement, or with a king of
Delli, and will be faithful to us.  IHere we are all quiet
and peaceable as any one could wish, and also in all
the adjeining districts, British and Nizam's, We were
rather apprchensive, a weelk ago, that a regiment of
Nizuan’s Contingent cavalry, which had mutinicd at
Aurangabad, and was at first stated to be in full march
on its station, Mominabad, about sixty miles from this,
might make a dash at us for the sake of the treasury;
but that report was false. No men moved from Auran-
gabad till General Woodburn’s force arrived there by a
foreed marel of seventy miles from Ahmednugger, The
General went straicht to the cavalry lines, surrounded
the reginent, when the greatest number of the men
submitted at once—in fact, joined him; but some re-
mained till a charge or two of grapc was sent among
them, when they fle? for the most part, sixty-four being
taken prisoners. Of these, several have been hanged,
and some transported; and the example will have a
good effect—no doubt, indeed bas had, for no one has
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stirred elsewhere. I have about eighty of the men of
this corps on duty in the district, but all have behaved
well, and seem right glad to be out of the mess. There
was an ugly sort of conspiracy at Sattara, when the
matter first broke out; but Rose, the Collector there,
who is a good officer, has nipped it in the bud, and all
is square again,

You will see that the ex-king of Oudh has been
confined, and that Government have a clue to his par-
ticipation in the matter, I have from the first thought
that Oudh was the cause-ef this. Onr Bengal army are
Oudh men for the most part; and, as I may have said
before, the clieck on habitual lawlessness in Qudh, and
no less lawlessness in the ranks of the army, was hardly
to be endured. No doubt the counspiracy has been
long matured. It Lias been no cartridge question, or
any other question, but a strugsle to break bonds,
which were getting tighter every day. If this outbreak
had not occurred, the crisis would have come in some
other form, and might possibly have been worse. Ag
it is, it is only a question of time. The Ganges is rising
fast, and steamers can get up with troops easily and
quickly. 5000 men from China will hold everything
till you can send us more; but for some years to come
India will require many more European troops than
she has had. In this Lord Dalhousie failed, that he
trusted the native army when it was clear they were
not in hand as soldiers should be. 'With a new annex.
ation at one end in the Panjaub, and one in the middle
—-and considering the character of Oudh, which was far
more lawless than the Punjaub ever was—there should
have been a heavy European force there and at Delhi,
All this is too late now: we have only to retrieve the
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losses, and our power will be stronger than ever, and
the attachment of all well-disposed classes greater; for
it is cleur to all, when any disorganisation ensues, what
will be the result to property. Government will be
sadder but wiser; and the administration of India for
the next hundred years more civilised than it has been
since Plassey. The savagery of the worst State in India
has had its burst—a fearful one it has been—but the
retribution will be as fearful. All these men are landed
proprietors in Oudh. Dare they return there to be
hunted down? TEvery man’s name is known, and his
place of residence ; and when our turn beging again, woe
to them ' Small mercy will he shown to the violators
and murderers of English women and helpless children.
As it is, there appears a lull.  About half the Bengal
army has not stirred, Many of the corps are doing
good service, and will perhaps wait to see the issue of
Delhi.  By-und-by, as eorps move up from Calcutta, the
rebels will be between two fires. 'We know they have
no ammunition or material in shot and shell but what
may have been got at Delhi;jand no ammunition but
what was found there. Where are they to get caps for
their muskets, which are all percussion? We see at
Benares that they threw away 1400 stand of armns, Now,
if they kspt their arms and discipline, they might be for-
midable; but without either, they are no more than the
rabble, which has never yet stood——and never can—
regular armies. So I sce good hope in prospect; and
as we must have had it out one day, the worst is over, I
think. Every one wil blame Lord Dalhousie, I daresay.
T only see that he was wrong in not covering his annex-
atious with sufficient Furopean troops, and this the

tussian war prevented his doing. We ought to hear
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by the mail coming in what you say at home to the
beginning of the Mutiny. But we cannot hear what you
know of the worst for another fortnight, or month per-
haps. This mutiny will give us an electric telegraph to
you, no doubt, when you can hear daily news fromn
India, But we should be thankful that we have at least
steam to carry over distress to you in a month, and per-
haps gain help. You will see that men are equal to the
emergency. ILawrence at Lucknow has done wonders,
Colonel Neil and his Madras Fusiliers are renowned
already—a gallant-spirited man _as any we have.  In
the Punjaub, too, they have determined men and troops
enough, as they have got rid of all the Bengal men,
We ouly want troops for the North-Western Provinces
and Central India, and we shall be all right in a few
months, Meanwhile, the more anxious ¥ngland is the
better,

You will see what Lord Camning has done about
the press. L think it was needed now; but it may be
relaxed, except to native prints, herealter, And I hope
these murders and massaeres will ease Exeter Hall and
its party of some of its cant in regard to “ sympathy with
natives.”

I am quite well—and here, but that we read news-
papers, should have no anxiety whatever. Tell this to
all who ask after me. God bless you! and believe me
ever yours faithfully,

Mespows TAYLOR.
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[Tn the month of August Captain Taylor was promoted to the
Deputy-Commissionership in North Berar, and proceeded to
his new station at Booldana. ]

JAULNAW, September 7, 1857,

I have got so far on my journcy to my new country,
—that is, about three-fourtlis of the distance. 'We eannot
travel luxuriously as you do, but I have come about
180 miles in nine days, with my tents and servants
well up, which is not bad work. I give all a rest here,
and hope that Bullock will-come in from Booldana to-
day, uill when [ shall vecupy myselt with writing, and
first to you. I had intended to have done so on the
road; but the double marches, evening and morning,
though they are not over ten or twelve miles at the
most, interrupt every attempt to scttle to anything.
My journey has been a very pleasant one; there was
no rain to speak of: aud throngh the Nizam’s country,
in which I could not possibly have becn treated with
greater civility and distinetion had T been the Hesident
himself, deputations met me from all the large towns
and stations, and I was helped on in every way I could
desire. The country is perlectly peaceful and loyal to
us, But it is sad to see so much of it waste, and to
hear the peuple complaining, not so much of active
oppression, as of no one taking the least interest in
them, except to screw what can be got out of them,
I see, however, changes for the better in the systemrof
district management, and there seems to be a system
at last ; but it must be, even with Salar Jung, that he
has little assistance, much opposition, and in all cases
very lukewarm co-operation. I trust, however, that a
man so thoroughly in carnest and single in purpose will
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succeed as he deserves to do. His conduct through the
trying crisis of June and July has been very admirable;
and as it has passed the ordeal of the Mohurrum safely,
Hyderabad may be considered thoroughly safe, I thiuk,
as its people throughout the country are entirely well
affected.

You ask me in your last what the effect of this
mutiny upon the princes of India scems to be. Tt is
not an easy guestion to answer, but I will give you my
opinions ; and, unless we sustain very unlooked-for and
serious reverses, I do not think they will alter. At
present, then, I think all is in a satisfactory state. Cer-
tainly there is no sympathy with the mutineer sepoys,
neither politically nor as fur as creed is concerned.
The papers will give you details, but not one of the
large States has moved or openly displayed sympathy
with the sepoy wmovement. Wherever these Poorbia
sepoys, whether Hindoos or Mussulmans, have had
service, they have mutinied and gone towards Delhi,
as they did from our service, Contingents of native
princes which at first. appeared loyal to us, but which
consisted of the same classes of soldiers as our men,
broke away as well from us as from their nomina¥masters
and joined the general confederacy. You see this ex-
emplified in the events at Indore and Gwalior, and the
cases of the Kotah contingent, Bhopal people, &:.; but
as soon as Holkar was rid of his mutinous soldie 'y, who
marched to Delhi, and his own Mahrattas ralliec round
him, he welcomed the Resident back, and matte rs now
are much safer and quieter than before. The princes of
Rajpootana have been loyal and stanch, I belie'e, to a
man, helping with their men as far as was neeced. 1T
can, however, readily understand their not sendin 5 large
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bodies into the field, with an infectious spirit abroad,
and without any apparent head, knowing that there is
amongst them as strong a love for plunder and anarchy
as existed in the time of the Pindharees, nay worse.
Native States have thercfore kept quiet, sending only
what they themselves could entirely depend on; and in
this they have been right.

That there is any combination among native States
against us, [ have no suspicion; and a combination
to set up a head, as an Emperor of Delhi, would, I
should think, be the last-thing that any one of them
wanted. If it were possible that such a result fol-
lowed, even for a while, the impossibility of cohesion
is most transparent to all ; while the certainty of exaec-
tion, extortion, plunder, and insecurity of property, is
alike clear to every one. Better, therefore, as it is, to
them ; and they are accordingly quiet, if not active
and sympathising friends. . At a first glance you might
think that the Nizam State would sympathise with a
“Delhi Raj.”  But the Nizams were faithless to Delhi,
utterly so, and would have to pay a heavy reckoning,
nay, be utterly extinguished, if possible. The Mahratta
princes, what remain of them, hold territories wrested
from Delhi. Would they be spared? The Rajpoot
princes, the oldest feudatories of Delhi, have, as I
have said, displayed active sympathy with us, retain-
ing and protecting the political agents with them, and
helping with supplies, and in other ways of which the
papers give details. 1 have from the first looked
anxiously to see whether any grand political move-
nent or confederation could be detected, but as yet
there appears none, and I think the Government will
Lave the sume intelligence from the Governor-General.

VOL. 11, N
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No; as yet the movement appears confined to the Ben-
gal army, and to that portion of it which is called
Poorbia or Hindoostanee. The Sikhs will have none of
it: Goorklias are stanch; but wherever these Poorbias
are, there are disaffection and open savagery of the worst
description. The reason of this is as yet a profound
mystery. That the whole of the Bengal army was
prepared to rise about the 15th May, there can be
no doubt now; and that its rising was not simultane-
ous, has been providential. Even now, regiments that
have been disarmed hreak away. occasionally. Corps
of irregular cavalry that have been considered stanch,
mutiny and make off to plunder, and join, if they can,
the Delhi or Tohilkund parties, even without arms, or
pay, or plunder. To doubt, therefore, a preconcerted
plan in this mutiny would be absurd. It has existed,
and exists; and ont of the whole Bengal army I do
not think there are at present more than half-a-dozen
Poorbia regiments who are stanch, or who have proved
loyalty by action. It will be long before the origin of
the movement is known. Whether, as has been sup-
posed, it is in reality a plot of the Delli priuces to
attemipt to regain sovereignty,—whether it is owing
to intrigues in Oudh,—whether an attempt among a
powerfill body, bound together as the Hindoo Poorbias
are by one bond of religious belief, to establish a
dominion of nilitary pricsts as existed in the ancient
days of Hindooism,—or whether it is one of thesc out-
breaks of savagery against civilisation, of which we
have instanccs innumerable in the history of civilisa-
tion, remains to be secn, My own impressions lead me
much to the latter belief  Civilisation is pressing hard
on Hindooism, perhaps also on Mohammedanism: I do
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not say Christianity, for that as yet is far off ; but that
amount of civilisation which has proved progression
of knowledge to be incompatible with Hindooism, and
to be sapping its very existence. This may have led
to conspiracy among Brahmins, and by them the Raj-
poots or Kshettriya classes have been aroused to action.
These classes compose the Bengal army. There are no
others, Hindoostanee Mussulmans are much Hindooised,
and were originally part of the Hindoo people. Hence,
when it became necessary, there has been for the time
a completa identification of the interests of all. Again,
for the last fifty years we have been breeding up a race
of stalwart priests for our army. In the most deplor-
alle mannver we have strengthened every prejudice by
enlisting none but them. The magnificent men of that
army were the admiration of all, they were accordingly
pampered and indulged by all ; they would not allow
intermixture of other elasses; they recruited them-
selves; and each corps, from the officers down to the
lowest private, were not only elassmen, but fellow-
priests as Brahmins, or lLioly warriors as Kshettriyas.
Can anything more pregnant with mischief be ima-
gined? Yet so vain were Dengal officers of their men,
and of their men’s caste, which was the strangest thing,
that mention or thought of anything low - caste was
ridiculed,—and the Madras and Bombay armies held
as things of nought. So it went from bad to worse, as
regards discipline ; and while the sepoys strengthened
themselves in their regiments, civilisation was treading
hard on their heels sutside. Sepoys were not educated
men, exceph in ceremonials as Brahmins. Education
was spreading over Dengal and the North-West Pro-
vinces very fast. It would have followed into Oudh,
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and as yet Oudh was a stronghold of dark Hindoo fana-
ticism. The Oudh Brahmins are known by other
Brahmins for their attachment to, and study of, the
mystic rites of Bhowanee or Kali, These rites are held
in abhorrence by Deccan Brahming ; they call them fear-
ful and unholy, and those among them who have know-
ledge of them are held in dread by the rest.. Of such
are the Bengal sepoys, the Brahmins and Rajpoots of
Oudh and as far south as Benares. And since they
have broken forth and shown themselves in their true
colours, it has not surprised me to see that the mask
completely thrown off has displayed in savagery that
spirit which in those districts preduced Thuggee, which
had its most noted leaders from among these very classes.
I have given you these reasons to explain why I think
this more a movement of savagery against civilisation
than aught else, and I still adhere to my opinion that
the annexation of Qudh was the inceutive to this out-
break. Perhaps thie way in which Oudh was managed
at first, and till Lawrence got it, made it more imme-
diate than it otherwise would have been. Outram took
Oudh, but has always eschewed details of management,
The first managing man under him was a thorough-bred
Bengal civilian, as the phrase goes,—haughty, quarrel-
some, imperious, and a red-tapist of the worst school.
So T have heard him described. He did much mischief,
no doubt ; and then must have begun the organisation,
or the idea of it. Strange to say, Lord Dalhousie could
not see danger in trusting a new country to the mili-
tary occupation of a people whose freedom (lawlessness
is a better word) his measures were curtailing every
day. He too believed in the Bengal sepoy as others
did. Yet he wags bringing that scpoy’s father and
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brothers into subjection, looking after and taxing their
lands, preventing them from indulging in outrages and
dacoity. For years and years we have recruited from
Oundh; and for years and years we have known the
Oudh population to be the most Iawless in India. Was
it expected that it would like civilisation, or a strong
Government, or restraint of any kind ?  And were not
the very men wo enlisted as lawless in their way as
their brethren at home,—refusing foreign service, refus-
ing discipline, refusing intermixture of other castes 2 All
this was: some saw it, and some wrote about it. Those
who did write aboutit, either to the public or to Govern-
ment, were marked and ruined mcn; they were never
advanced. Many people are getting courage to speak
out now, but it is too late. It was a pleasant delusion,
that Bengal army, while it lasted ; and so were all other
Bengul delusions pleasant—nothing was like them,
The men who held them were intlated ; they were, in
fact, Bengal civilians, and who should gainsay them?
—— wrote to me only the other day that he knew
every one, for years past;who had striven publiely or
privately to expose these delusions, had been a marked
man, So it went on. One would have thought that
when last year the cakes of bread flew through the
North-West Provinces, it would have aroused suspicion
of some intrigue, or would have been traced. What
notice was taken of it? None, that I know of; or if
any suspicion was entertained it was shut up. If Gov-
ernment knew of suspected disaffection—or if at any
time what Napler wrote, what others hinted, what even
broke out in oceasional mutiny, was known,~—and I am
impressed with a conviction that it was known, and
feared too,—why was India left so defenceless in regard
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to European troops? But this is another part of the
suhject, now, alas! causing waste of life and treasure,
which will keep India back for years.

There is another matter, or cause of disaffection,
which. I will briefly mention, because it affects the
people of the country. T have doubted the revenue
system of the North-West Provinces very much ever
since I knew it. It has made village communities
throw off attachment to Government, I think, by weak-
ening the bond between them; and it hias reduced the
bond of the landholders, whether great or small, to a
simple question of muoney - payment, the most easily
broken. Tt has also given headmen too much influence,
and reduced village communities to a state of vassal-
age to them, rather than retaining them in a direct
communication with Government authorities. This sys-
tem is the far-famed “ Thomason ” system ; one whicl, no
doubt, got in most money with least cost—but otherwise,
I think, and bave always thought, was regardless of the
people, and regardless of the bond which should have
been maintained, rather than broken. You see the
result now in some shape. Leaders of villages have
abused authority, petty chicfs have leagued with them,
both parties have taken to plundering property not be-
longing to their own classes. Here and there, there are
symptoms of revulsion, and the people, tired of being
plundered, have risen on their headmen, and invited
back the European magistrates ; and this will progress,
I think and trust, as if to show, without doubt, the
utter inability of these people to 1ale themselves with-
out plunder and massacre, and the utter insecurity of
property in whatever shape it may exist, This may
have its effect in time in restoring order; but the opera-
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tion of reducing to order a country which has become
disorganised is necessarily slow at any time, and one
can hardly see or think whowm to trust when Govern-
ment has crushed, as it will crush, the originators of
the Mutiny. It is sad to think, too, that all the promo-
tion of natives to offices of trust and confidence has in
most instances proved futile to check disorder or main-
tain authority. There have been, it is true, some faith-
ful men, some bright instances of personal exertion to
aid our authority, but they are lamentably few; and it
must be almost more bitter to those who have selected
these authorities tosee them supine or faithless, than to
encounter the mad savagery of the native army. It is
too soon now to speculate upon final results as to the
civil government of the country. It may, it is true,
be comparatively easy when order is once more estab-
lished ; but the shock to all has been a rude and violent
one, The civilisation of mind, which most of us thought
had made progress, proves to be only skin-deep, and
not to have affected the masses of the people at all, and
will have to be commenced again, I hope in a more
earnest and practical spirit than before, I adhere to
my opinion that a government on the part of the
Crown will be the best policy to pursue, and there can
be no doubt that a double Government will not answer.
Whethar it is understood by the people, that the Com-
pany has been, as it were, abandoned by the Crown—
that it only occupies the place of “farmers” of the
country, or is in the position of a weak interloper,
and can be thrown off —I do not know; but there is
mueh in the discussions on the renewal of the charter,
and the comparative absence of Kuropean troops, to
favour the supposition in minds which canno} under-
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stand European politics or the constitution of our own
country. I see that Sir Erskine Perry has already
made a motion on the subject; but the extent of the
calamity must be fully known before a remedy can be
applied, and I think the result will be 8 Government
into which no division of authority can enter. No one
will be hardy enough now to support the doctrine that
India can be governed by opinion. It must be by
‘European troops well distributed that government can
be maintained. T shall be anxious to see what turn
your counsels take on thig subject, one on which all
in India are well assured that England is doing her
best, and that the past will be retrieved in time,

I have nothing particnlar to say of myself. T was
very sorry to leave the Nuldroog district; the people
were quiet and attached, the country was fast improv-
ing, and Improvements as to roads and other matters
were in active progress. 1 do not know on what
principles Berar has been managed, and have to get
acquainted with the people,—a long matter, with a dis-
trict of its size. I will write you more from Booldana
by-and-by, and when I see my way into what is before
me, God bless you.—With my dear love to all kin-
dred, believe me ever yours faithfully,

Meavows TAYLOR.

BoorLpAna, NorTH BERAR, Sepiember 26, 1857,

I arrived here on the 14th, and took charge of the
distriet, and your letter of the 6th of August reached
me a few days after. I wrote to you from Jaulnah,
when staying there to wait for Bullock, and I hope that
letter has come safe to hand. I do not think I have
missed any mail since this war began; for such as my
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opinions are, and means of observation, I am anxious
you should have the result of them for yourself, apart
from all public discussions which reach you from India
and are made in England, You have done my first
letter much honour,—more than it deserved, I fear, for
it was written in a hurry, and in some alarm perhaps,
and more than there need have been; and yet I cannot
say 1 lave ever felt alarm for anything south of the
Nerbudda since the Mutiny broke out, and as yet, you
see, we are safe. So long as Hyderabad remains quiet
awd attached, there is mno apprehension, I think, for
Southern India ; and I sincerely believe that it is both.
The Mchurrum passed off quictly, and there is no excite-
ment at present. On one point they appear obliged to
temporise, which is, the trial of Torra Borg Khan, the
2ohilla zemindar who led the attack on the Residency.
He has not been hanged, as he ought to have been, nor
given up, nor will the head of the Adalut in Hyderabad
condemn him for taking part in a holy war; it would
be against Mohammedan laws, and the Minister appears
helpless in respect of bringing him to punishment for
the prescnt.  Heis, however, still in coufinement, and it
is safe policy not to press anything at the present. I
have no apprehension of any Mahratta league.  In the
Deccan the old Mahratta families arc weak, and I do
not think there is any one who would have sympathy
with Sindia after the long break there has been in the
connection. The Brahwin influence was never liked by
the true Mahratta families, and ke would not join Nana
Sahib, the representative of the Peshwah, nor would the
Sattara family. There have been reports that Sindia
was deposed by his troops, and Delhi proclaimed. Dut
this wants confirmation, and is not believed. Holkar,
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the Quicowar, and the Kolapore chief, the Jagheerdars
in the South Mahratta country, are all stanch and
quiet, and, whether singly or collectively, are too weak
to attempt coalition ; such at least is my impression,
and I imagine Lord Elphinstone says the same. The
Mahratta people of the Deccan, too, are well off as to
employment and landed settlements ; they appear tome
to have ceased to be warlike in every way, and, under
a good system of government and easy taxation, have
fairly abandoned old ways and settled down into active
farmers., No doubt there were some intrigues at Sat.
tara which were put down with a strong hand by Rose,
the Collector, who behaved admirably. There were
some plots also at Poona and Beloaum, got up by low
adventurers, without leaders or means, but having a bad
“animus. These also were promptly discovered and the
conspirators executed, The reported mutiny of one
Bombay regiment at Kolapore cansed some alarm for
the time lest it should spread ; but it was an attempt
by the Hindoostanees of the regiment, which was, be-
yond anything we have seen yet, insane and futile ; and
these men were disposed of very gallantly by the Mah-
ratta Horse and the true men of their own corps. In
this matter the Kolapore Rajah was well affected, and
gave what help he could; and you know he is one of the
representatives of Sivajee, and many of the old Mahratta
familics hold by him and his little court. The Brah-
mins of the Decean are not military people in any way,
and they are well represented and provided for in Gov-
wnment employ. I do not think there is discontent
among them, and if there were, they have no sympathy
among the Mahratta people, who do not like them.
Under all these points of view, I do not think there
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is ground for apprehension of any Mahratta rising or
combination, and I hope my views may be ultimately
correct.

Now the more T look back to what T wrote to you
first, the more T am inclined to adhcre to the opinions
Ithen espressed, and have since repeated.  The Moham-
medan sympathy in the movement has been secondary
as far as the people are concerned, even in the North-
West Proviuces, but the share of the King of Delhi and
his large family of soi-disant Shahzadahs in the original
plot, while it remains to: be investigated, is meantime
borne out by facts. - I have long considered the Bengal
army utterly unsafe. It had become impossible to
control the priestly faction of which it was composed,
and to which all others were subordinate; for the
Molammedan portion of it was just as arrogant in
respect {0 caste prejudices ag the Hindoo, and followed
the Hindoo lead. It was impossible to convince Bengal
oflicers of the mischief attending any caste as an
element of military service under us.  No attempt
was mude, or could have been-made (except by tuking
the bull by the horns, which no one darved to do), to
break down the caste influence, except by the very
partial offort of the enlistment of sepoys on oath. for
general service—which of course, and as might have
been foresecn, was useless in contact with the old and
very powerful element of the former system. I dare-
say this was admitted by those who chose to think-—
and T will venture to say there were few who did not;
still, the old prejudioe in favour of high-caste Brahmins,
arising no doubt out of the comparative ease by which
they were managed as soldiers in garrison, the fine
appearance of the men, and the bravery occusionally
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displayed in recent times, with the prestige of old
victories, all combined to perpetuate the illusion ; and
while the soldiery were led to look up to the service
as an hereditary right, they became the less disposed
to brook any interference with it. You see how these
men were gpreading fast into the Bombay army. As
Hindoostanee men rose to rank as subadars and native
officers in general, and returned to their native villages,
they were employed to bring down batches of recruits,
fine stalwart young fellows, who enlisted readily, and
no doubt served well. Mahrattas, as their country has
been seftled, and become, as it is,'one expanse of cul-
tivation, needed no employment for their young men,
and, except the very lowest classes, did not enlist in
the army. Those regiments into which a ITindoostanee
element has been onca infused, became more and more
Hindoostanee from year to year; and the 16,000 men
said now to be in the Bombay army would have been
doubled in a few years more, with the same kind of
contrivance, the same views, and no doubt eventually
the same conduct as the Bengal army itself, Happily,
most happily, this has been broken up. The design
of enlisting any more of these people, and the danger
of even allowing what there are to remain, is too im-
minent to be overlooked, and it will be averted. In
the Madras army I believe there are a few Hindoo-
stanees here and there, but very few, and they will, T
trust, be got rid of But in the Madras army there is
another influence not unlike what prevailed in Bengal,
which needs to be checked in time ; thisis the Moham-
medan, and you will do good service by bringing it to
notice in those quarters where it can be remedied.
The military portion of the Mohammedans of the Madras
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Presidency lie about Arcot, Seringapatam, Vellore, and
other places, and are exclusively military, looking, as
the Bengal and Oudh Brahmins did, to hereditary
services. They are known to be bigoted, and even
natives mistrust the Thull Ghat Mussulman as turbulent
and unfaithful. They have their old ideas of rule
under the Mysore ¢ominion of Hyder and Tippoo,
brief but brilliant- possibly have no sympathy with
Delhi, but trune sympathy with the cause of Islam.
They are not cultivators, like the Sikhs and Mahrattas,
but look to service as sepoys—in short, to a military
life, rather than to any other, and have found it in the
Madras army to a greab extent. It is only necessary
that this combination, which provides all the cavalry
and many of the infantry regiments, should not be
allowed to proceed as it has done in Dengal; and there
is plenty of time to avert it. 1 have known many men
who thought that the more a vegiment was connected
by family tics the better; hut we now see the danger
of it as regards the Bengal army, and, under the
constitusion of the native mind; everywhere the same;
and the danger attending combination induced by a
sense of power, I think should be prevented. T am
not writing or thinking any wrong of the Madras
army, which as yet has proved wonderfully stanch
and obedient in wany trying times and forcign wars:
I only wish to prevent the possibility of its becoming
other than it is and has been—the possibility of its
gaining that conviction of power, which has destroyed
the Bengal army, as it will assuredly any other army
which is infected by it. By what mcans this can be
best effected is not in my power to state. It must
be done silently, gradually, and without exciting sus-
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picion. I have often thought a partial admission of
half - castes, as also enlistment of negroes, or some
of the martial Cape tribes, would be good, and negroes
best of all ; and often and often, iu old letters, have 1
dwelt on this subject, and alluded to the increasing
predominance of caste power in the native armies,
particularly in that of Bengal; but who attended
then? Another idea is, that part of every native
regiment should be European,—say one flank company
or both flank companies, with more English non-com-
nissioned officers, The French mixed natives and
Europeans together in this manner with good effect,
Doth as to work in' the field and discipline in garrison,
and it prevented combination. It has long bLeen the
opinion of able men that artillery should be exclusively
European, and natives used only as assistants, as I
may say, under them ; and in this I entirely coincide.
It is the artillery only of the mutinous Bengal army
which does any execution, and costs nus men to re-
cover; and yet the guns have not in general been well
fought, and are taken by comparative liandfuls of our
troops. But I am wearying you, I daresay, with these
disquisitions,

The siege-train has reached Delhi, and the final
result there cannot Le delayed. Every one knows by
this time of the wmunificeut aid you are giving us, and
the rest is but a work of time. The cold weatlier is
before us, the Pritish army will have the best of the
year for field operations, and it is little to say, I think,
will perhaps, in the end, be disappeinted that there is so
little left to do. T myself think there will be compara-
tively fow left in Delhi when it is assaulted, and that
our final operations will be in Oudh, where most of the
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mutineers will fight pro aris et focis, and not for the
King of Oudh, or any potentate whatever. It will be
satisfactory to you to see how few persons of rank are
concerned in this movement, and how few of the people
in general, when the millions of which the population
of Hindoostan is composed ave reckoned. Idle savagery
exists everywhere, and the country has never been dis-
armed. Plunder and violence might be expected from
such classes, and it has no doubt abounded, to the
misery and disgust of those better classes who were
secure under us. [ cannot but think that this has had
a great effect in our favour thronghont the country, and
must, too, in the worst districts about Delhi and in
Owdh. T trust the complete disarming of the Bengal
Presideacy will be the fivst work of the new Govern-
ment. It has worked well in the Punjaub; and indeed
for all Tudia a “licence to earry arms bill” would he
very advisable, Oundh niust be disarmied, of course.
They did not hesitate Lo disarm the Punjaub almost as
the first measure, and we sée the benefit of it now; but
they dared not attempt to disartn Qudlh, becanse it would
have affeeted the Bengal army, and so it remained as
before, stronyr in itself as having perpetually resisted the
Oudh Government, and stronger as being part of our-
selves, with which we dare not interfere. It will be
broken now und reduced, and with it will be broken all
military prestige, and T hope cowmbination, not only of
the Braluuins and Rajpoots, but of the petty rajabs and
zemindars who abouud., In our next revenue settle-
ments, ton, we might break up combinations in regard
to land, and by seeing that every one gets what he re-
quires for cultivation, make him dependent more upon
Government than on his feudal chief. T mistrast those
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North-West scttlements, I assure you, very deeply, and
think that had the Government made grants to the
people instead of to the middlemen, they would have
had more content, more real attachment than in the
other course. That course, however, got most money
at least cost of collection, and so was persevered in.

I do not go into details of events; those the news-
papers chronicle steadily. A few Bengal regiments re-
main stanch, and do good work, as the 31st at Saugor,
&c. ; but the rest are gone, and happily, I think, sparing
our Government any chance of sympathising with them
afterwards. You will know the sad, sad particulars of
Cawnpore in time; and I beg you to read the deposition
of a soubadar of the Bombay army, who for his faithful
conduct has been promoted, with 1000 rupees, and the
military order of merit. I dare say, and hope, that there
will be many such examples come to light by-and-by.
You may hear by this mail that Delli has been stormed,
and Lucknow relieved' by Havelock and Outram. If
they do not kill the King of Dethi, I hope he will be
transported to England with all his family, The King
of Oudh should go too, and be kept there, as Dhuleep
Singh is, in honour and respect. There should be no
flinching in this, I think.

I would not have you thiuk, from anything I have
said, that T am against the annexation policy of Lord
Dalhousie. The fault was, not guarding it sufficiently ;
and if, as I believe, it has been the direct means of
showing the true temper and worth of the Bengal army,
it has been the more welcome now that we are free to
remedy it. 'We should have been hard pressed if this
outbreak had occurred when we had the Russian war
on our hands. I am delighted to see the question of
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the Queen’s Government openly canvassed; and it should
be carried steadily through till Queen Victoria’s procla-
mations are in every village of Iudia belonging to her.

This is a nice little station. Myself, Captain (rant,
and his wife, are the only tenants of it. DBullock’s
house, which he lets me live in, is very comfortable.
The situation is on the table-land just above the Ghit,
on the south side of the Berar valley, six miles east of
a place called Dewul Ghit, which 1 daresay you will
find in any good map. The climate is very good—just
now most delightful; and Tam quite hearty, and well as
ever T was in my life, T am thaukful to say. Now
gool-bye, and God bless you all =My most alfectionate
regards and remembrance to all, and believe me ever
yours most faithfully,

Mrapows TayLomn.

1 cannot find my wsual statement of revenue
and cultivation for this official year, 1856-57,
which would have given the details of each
department. Tounly find in a letter to my father,
dated June 4, that the net amount of revenne
wag 919,000 rupees in round numbers, and that
the 40,000 rupees lost by abolition of customs
duties had heen nearly made up.

The inerease in cultivation had been very
nearly 85,000 acres in the year, which, together
with the previous increase, made a total of
219,000 since the cession. 237 miles of road

VOL, 1L 0
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had been completed, and much more had been
surveyed, marked out, and was in progress.

The survey showed a result of 260,000 acres
completed ; and the surveyors, who could not do
field-work in the rains, were now occupied in
making fair copies of village maps and registrics.
These maps were most creditably executed, and
some of my pupils evinced decided talent as
draughtsmen.

I was in daily expeetation of a reply in regard
to the principles and working of the survey
which I had drawn up, and submitted in Novem-
ber 1856; but eight months’ work had shown
decided and continuous improvement in every
respect ; and as the tenures of land had not
entered into the first propositions, and I had to
make many explanations in regard to future con-
tingencies, my final report was delayed. My
readers would scarcely understand the minutie
of village and landed tenures, and I will not
inflict them npon them here; but I may mention
that I found a great proportion of the occupants
of land to be mirasdars—that is, persons who
hold their portions of land in hereditary occu-
pancy, and had so held it for generations, on a
fixed rent. Most of these had suffered from local
exactions, and but too many had thrown up their
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ancestral lands, and had emigrated to the British
provinces.  Of these great numbers had now
returned, and had taken up their former estates
where they were in possession of yearly tenants,
Others, in cases where the land had been im-
proved, had paid the occupant a sum of money
for reoccupancy; but all miras rights were
reclaimable within a period of forty years of
absence, To preserve the local rights of these
maras proprietors, the tenants of miras lands
had only been recognised as yearly tenants; but
they were not disturbed so long as they paid
their rent regularly.

The third was a fluctnating class, who took up
lands which generally belonged to the village
area, on yearly tenure only. These were con-
stantly changing, and passing from village to
village, for the most part unthrifty people, with
neither capital nor credit, and but few cattle.

I could see plainly the advantage of settled
classes, and of giving them security of tenure, in
order to induce the employment of capital and
the improvement of their estates ; and I proposed
that all holders of land should be made pro-
prietors, and that the land should be not only
actual property to all, but that it should be
allowed to be bought and sold or mortgaged like
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any other marketable commodity. Also, as the
lands in all surveyed villages had now been
defined, that the owners and occupants should
have the option of taking out title-deeds for
them, on stamped paper, which at the head should
bave a map of the land or estate, whatever it
might be, great or small ; and that in the body of
the deed the boundaries and general deseription
of every ficld ov division should be detailed, the
estate to beeome the hereditary property of the
holder, subject only to a lien on the part of
Government.

I fixed the term of thirty years for the first
settlement of revenue, at the expiration of which
period a revision should be made, and the rent
fixed as a permanent settlement in perpetuity.

The Bombay survey was admirable, as far as
it went, and the occupants of land were secured
by registry; but I thought that possession re-
quired more security than registry, and that
actual title - deeds would provide this, enable
the land to be bought and sold, and satisfy the
proprictors, I saw, too, that by the plan 1 pro-
posed the rcal marketable capital of the country
would be enormously increased, and the intrinsic
value of the land would become a source of wealth
to every individual holder. I also, at the same
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time as the land survey, carried on a survey of
village sites.  Every house was numbered, and
its boundaries defined and measured, and title-
deeds for this deseription of property were to be
given separately.

When all my rules were drawn up and com-
pleted. T made a translation of them into
Mahratta ; and having assembled the chief men
of villages, the officers and anirasdars, as well
as other landholders and occupants, as many
as wonld attend, I laid before them the paper I
had drawn up, telling them what I proposed to
do if permitted by Government.

At first anything so definite and so valuable
was doubted, and T believe the people, who had
all through their lives been under a system of
exaction and oppression, theught there was some
dark sinister plan lying below the surface; but
when they came fully to comprehend the projects
laid down, and received my assurance that title-
deeds would Dbe given for all lands, even the
smallest holdings, the delight (for I can call it
nothing else), the enthusiasm, and the gratitnde
of the people knew no bounds. It scemed to
all as it a new lite were opening before them—-
peace for themselves, and their descendants after
then.
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Two years previous to this, I had saved the
people from a measure proposed on the system of
the North-West Provinces, by the Supreme Gov-
ernment. This was, to make a settlement of my
district, and all the others were placed in the
same category, with zemindars. Now there were
no zemindars, in the Bengal sense of the term, in
the ceded districts, with whom any settlement
could be made. Tho officials who went by that
name were the ancient hereditary officers of
counties, not necessarily landed proprietors, ex-
cept in payment of their local services. It was
impossible to elevate such persons into land-
holders, or to give them the rank and position
of such, or to transfer to them properties which
belonged to other people. Such a course wounld
have interfered seriously with those landed pro-
prietors in villages who were very sturdy in
maintaining their hereditary rights ; and the set-
tlement in this manner seemed to my perception
utterly impossible, and any attempt to force it
on the people would have produced not only
universal discontent and anger, but in all like-
lihood a serious insurrection. I wrote, as I was
obliged, a great deal on the suvject, and I believe
I was considered ‘“most impracticable and ob-
stinate,” and incurred, I have little doubt, much
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ill-will ; but for that I cared absolutely nothing.
I could not uphold what I believed would be an
injury and a wrong to my people, or become a
party to any course which I considered was not
only unjust and unpopular to the last degree, but
which would abolish all those ancient hereditary
tenures to which the people had clung with
devoted pertinacity through all revolutions and
vicissitndes for many-centuries, and which the
old Mussulman kings and rulers of the Deccan
had continuously respected.

My view of this question was very strenuously
supported by my friend Bullock, Commissioner
in Berar; and, in the end, [r¢joice to say that we
so far prevailed as to enlist the sympathies of
our Chief Commissioner on our side, who carnestly
protested against the system proposed from Ben-
gal, and was successful in his opposition, inas-
much as the question was deferred for “future
considcration.” In his Administrative Report of
1870, Mr Saunders, Resident at Hyderabad, and
ex-officio Chief Commissioner, states, p. 14 :—

“Orders were actually issued by the Govern-
ment of India for a settlement of rights on the
basis of the village community system, and were
suspended only in deference to the earnest pro-
test of Mr Maltby, the then Commissioner of the



216 STORY OF MY LIFE, [cmaP. xiL

Hyderabad Assigned Districts, some of whose
assistants, such as Mr Bullock and Captain
Meadows Taylor, had passed their working lives
in the Deccean, and perfectly understood -the
nature and meaning of the facts they had to
deal with in their newly-acquired provinees.”
Again, after the final territorial arrangements
with his Highness the Nizam in 1860 were com-
pleted, the question was revived by the Govern-
ment of India, and orders were again issued in
the most stringent terms,  All honour is due to
Mr Saunders, who, although himself a Bengal
civilian, possessed ample means of studying the
question from previous reports and local obser-
vation, and had the firmmness to resist and main-
tain the existing system; and, as he states,
“when the report was drawn up, the final orders
of Government werce passed, and the system of
field assessment and recognised recognition of
cultivating occupancy was formally sanctioned.”
The people of Berar had also obtained a zealous
advocate in Mr Lyall, Commissioner of the pro-
vinee, also a Bengal civilian, whose report, after
study of all previous correspondence, formed,
perhaps, the basis of those by Mr Saunders, and
rescued the rights of the hereditary and all other
classes of occupants from transfer to a class of
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persons who had never possessed them, and who,
indeed, made no pretence whatever to them in
any way. I had the subject much at heart, and
must, apologise for this long story about it ; yet
I cannot refrain from quoting Mr Lyall’s own
words, which explain the system on which the
new settlement was made in 1869 :—

“The English Government has now placed the
tenvre of land in Berar-on a stable foundation.
After some hesitation, for a settlement on the
North-West Provinees model was first actually
ordered, the Bombay system of survey and settle-
mert according to ficlds has becn adopted.  The
whele country is being marked off into plots,
and assessed at rates which hold good for thirty
years. Subject to ccrtain restrictions, the oceu-
pant is absolute proprictor of his holding ; may
sell, let, or mortgage any part of it, cultivate it, or
leave it waste, so long as he pays its assessment,
which is fixed for the term of thirty years, and
may then be raised only on gencral principles ;
that is, the assessment of an entire district or
village may be raised or Jowered as may be ex-
pedicut ; but the impost may not be altered to
the detriment of any one occupant on account of
his improvements. . . . When the registered
ho.der alicnates his estate, he does it by surren-
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der and admittance, like in English copyholding.
Indeed the Berar occupancy has many features
resembling the copyhold estate in the reserva-
tion of manorial rights. Thus, in fifteen years,
the Berar cultivator has passed from all evils of
rack-renting, personal insecurity, and uncertain
ownership of land, to a safe property and a fixed
assessment.”

All this is in exact aceordance with the plans
laid down by me in 1856 as the principle of my
own survey of the provinee of Nuldroog; but in
my humble opinion it does not go far enough.
It neither gives title-deeds for the land, nor does
it assure the landholder that after the expiration
of the thirty years” assessment any further adjust-
ment of rates shall be final and unchangeable in
perpetuity. Possibly the grant of title-deeds may
be deferred only till the present term of thirty
years has expired ; but 1 rejoice to see that a
perpetual settlement with all bond fide proprie-
tors of land throughout India is now publicly
advocated, if not publicly notified ; and I trust the
bill to be passed on the subject will include the
issue of title-deeds. I cannot imagine a more
beneficial or more popular meusure, or one more
calculated to secure the gratitude of the agricul-
tural classes of India. These deeds would be
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issued by millions, and the property in land
would be an enormous addition to the national
wealth of India.

I feel that this digression may have been
wearisome to some of my readers, but in writing
the ‘Story of my Life’ I cannot pass this over with-
out notice, as it was a point on which, firmly
believing myself to be in the right, I deliberately
risked not only the goodwill of the Government
of India at that time, but my own employment
as Deputy-Commissioner. 1 would never have
agreed to carry out the unjust measure proposed
in ignorance of local tenures by the Government
of India, and my friend Bullock and myself were
prepared to have resigned our appointments in
case stringent orders were issued on the subject ;
and there is no act of my public life which, to
this day, gives me more sincere pleasure and
satisfaction than my successful resistance to the
orders of Government to the settlement being
made according to the North-West system,

It was hoped the Mutiny would be confined to
Bengal ; but very early in June the regiment of
cavalry stationed at Aurungabad, or a portion of
it, was decidedly in a mutinous condition, and
was, perhaps, only checked by the attitude of
the infantry and artillery who were loyal. Ap-



220 STORY OF MY LIFE, [emar, xuL

plication had been made to Ahmednugger for
assistance, and the General marched at once upon
Aurungabad with part of a dragoon regiment and
some horse-artillery. Hearing of their approach,
some of the native cavalry broke away at once,
and proceeded to Hyderabad and Hominabad,
exciting much alarm throughout the country.
The dread was great lest the whole Contingent
might be infected with the spirit of the army of
Bengal, for most; of the Contingent infantry were
from Qudh, and thus their example might have
spread to the Madras army ; happily, however,
—most happily and providentially—-the Contin-
gent remained otherwise fivin.

The re-establishment of a new empire at Delhi
would not at all have suited the Nizam ; for his
ancestors had declared themselves independent
when the empire had fallen into decadence. And
this consideration alone, had others been wanting,
would have prescrved his loyalty.

It was impossible not to feel great anxiety at
Nuldroog. After the mutiny among the cavalry
was known abroad, and, I think, when the mu-
tineers arrived at Hominabad, they must have
had some communication withi those who were
with me. They seemed unecasy for several days,
and the native officer who was in command
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secmed uneasy too ; but the men professed entire
loyalty when I went among them ; and as they
were quartered in the town, they could not do
much harm to any ome. They were watched
carefully by the police. Eventually three of the
troopers broke away at night and went tos rards
Hominabad—the rest remained at their post. 1
had no means of pursuing the fugitives, indeed
my deing so would net-have answered any good
purpose ; and cven supposing the cavalry had
come to Nuldroog, on account of its treasury, and
attacked it, as it was reported they intended to
do, T had ample garrigon inside the fort, in police
and infantry, to have repelled them.  The great
gute was the only mode of eommunication with
the interior, and the approaches on all other sides
were defended by inaccessible precipices.  Shola-
poor, too, where the troops were quite loyal, lay
within twenty-six miles of us, and a reinforcement
conld be obtained in twenty-four hours at any
time if needed ; but the stout old fort no doubt
induced a feeling of security which might not
have been felt in less well-defended quarters,

On the 23d July, I was very agrecably sur-
prised by a letter from the Chicf Commissioner,
Mr Maltby, informing me that T had been nomi-
nuted “settlement officer” and “surveyor-in-chief”
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to all four districts of the cession, on a salary of
1500 rupees a-month for the present, and 300
rupees travelling allowance. All my maps and
proposed plans of settlement had been approved
and confirmed, and I was to set about collecting
an establishment as soon as possible, g0 as to
begin my work directly the monsoon admitted of
my so doing. This was indeed good news; and I
looked anxiously to the time when I could sur-
render all revenue affairs to a successor, who I
hoped would be Cadell, as he knew the district
and the people so well, and all were attached to
him. My new duties would be infinitely more
congenial and agreeable ones to me, I felt; and
to get rid of the interminable details of revenue
business would be a very great relief. I was in
high spirits at the prospect opening before me,
and at the thought that all my labour at the
commencement of the survey would now bear
good fruit for the people and save me much
trouble. Mine was, however, “the only district
in which any attempt had been made to carry
out the orders of Government, and my proceed-
ings, from first to last, had been eminently suc-
cessful, and reflected the highest credit upon me.”
So wrote Mr Maltby; and I was very much
gratified at his kind expressions.
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I was quite easy about my district in every
respect, The revenue would increase up to two
lakhs, which would be its maximum, till the con-
clusion of the survey; and in all other respects
everything was progressing steadily and well.
There had not been a single case of dacoity for
upwards of a year now |

But I was doomed to disappointment, and all
my pleasant dreams rudely dispelled, at least for
the present, by the receipt of an express from the
Chief Commissioner, on the 24th August, inform-
ing me that I had been appointed Deputy-Com-
missioner of Berar, vice Bullock, who was trans-
ferred to my district ; and I was to proceed there
with all possible speed.

With this publiec notification came private
letters from the Resident and Mr Maltby, both
to say that my immediate transfer was a neces-
sity—but why, they did not tell me. Their let-
ters urged me to make no delay whatever, and
the Resident’s note was characteristic :—

“Go to Berar directly, and hold on by your
eyelids. I have no troops to give you, and
you must do the best you can. I know I can
depend upon you; and I am sure you will not
fail me.”

I would have started that very day, but my
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camels were out grazing in the country, and
Temple was absent, to whom I must make over
the treasury and all current business. What
wounld come of the survey now I knew not, nor

“ gettlement officer.” 1

of my appointment as
saw the call was very urgent. It was not a time
to waste words or thought in idle speculations.
My duty was clear before mie, and the times were
too exciting to venture to ask any questions. 1
was, however, assured that 1 should be promoted
to be a Deputy-Commissioner of the first class
on a salary of 1500 rupees a-month.

It became known later that the survey op-
erations had been suspended till more peaceful
times, and all public works as well-—till the
present threatening aspeet of aflairs was at an
end,

On the day appointed for me to leave—the
27th August—I was presented with a publie
address from all the official and prineipal persons
of the province. This ultimately received 1622
signatures, and I append a translation of it here.
I had not the least conception that such a pro-
ceeding had ever been intended. The address
was beautifully written in Mahratta, and pre-
sented to me on a very handsome silver salver,
which I now use constantly.



1857.] ADDRESS. 225

True Translation of a Makratta Address to
Captain Meadows Taylor, Deputy-Commis-
stoner, Daraseo District, dugust 27, 1857.

(After the usual preliminary compliments.)

“Sinece your arrival in this country we have all
been happy and prosperous. Now an order has
come from Government that you are to go to
Berar, and Government has no doubt directed
this because of your gualifications, and fitness,
and ability for that duty.  As it is a higher office
than this, it will be a source of pleasure to you;
and we all pray to God that He will be pleased
to protect so kind and merciful an officer, and
we shall be very grateful, so God will hear our
1_)1’:' L}V(_T 3.

“ But now we are to be scparated from you,
and arc thereby fallen into a sea of grief. We
shall never be able to give suflicient praise to you
for the manner in which you have protected the
people hitherto—how you have created means of
prosperity-—and for your various good qualities.
Still we have it in our hearts to address you in
some sort, and you are to be pleased to accept it
in order to gratify-all.

“In the year 1853 you came to this district
as Deputy-Commissioner ; and, considering its

VOL. 11, P
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cireumstances then and now, there is a very great
difference in its condition, of which you are the
sole cause. When you came, there were no good
roads in Nuldroog; all the village strects and
paths were filthy and useless, and cven men
travelled with difficulty. But you, with much
personal excrtion, have made proper arrange-
ments for the good comfort of all.  We all know
this, and it has all come of your kindness.

“There was an immense guantity of waste
land in the district,  This has been cultivated
sinece you came, and is now inhabited; and by
provision of water and other circumstances in the
country, hamlets, villages, and market- towns
have been founded and built, and trade has very
greatly increased, by which all obtain a livelihood,
and there is no distress of any kind.

“ Before, in this district, dacoits and gang-
robbers and plunderers who openly committed
murder, used to go about in force, and the in-
habitants were much afflicted by them. But you
established police, and settled everything, and so
entircly extirpated these people, that not even a
trace of them remains. From this protection of
life and property, one of the principal benefits
which result from the British Government was
secured to this district.
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“In the year 1855 therc was a very heavy
famine in this land, and it was difficult even for
rich people to support themselves.  In that hard
time many poor people were at the point of
death ; many could get no food, and in their
straits even abandoned their children. We all
saw this. Then you made great cxertions to
save these poor people, and began with large
establishments to clear the fort, and to make
roads—as well to the advantage of Government
as to the people ; and thus you maintained the
poor, who had no other means of subsistence.
Of those who were uot able to labour, you, from
your own private funds, supported thousands.
So if we scek for benevolent and usefal people
like you, we find few of them.

“ From the tanks which you strove tv ¢t con-
structed, thig district will be greatly benefited,
and from this your name will be sung with praise
when our women grind at their mills,  DBut if we
now say all we have to say it would only fatigue
you, and take up much time ; therefore we will
be concise, and close this with what 1s due to
your good qualities.

“ But what shalt we say ?  You were as father
and mother to the ryots. You heard the com-
plaints of the poor and protected them. In your
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durbar, as flies to honey, all classes and degrees
of persons gathered and mingled together with-
out apprchension; but we never saw yet that you
ever used harsh expressions to any one. Your
perfect knowledge of our language assured com-
plainants, for they knew they were understood,
and were contented; and uever, on any occa-
sion, have we seen that any one was treated with
indignity or affronted in your durbar.

“We, who are the servants of (Government in
this district, as also all the ryots, well know
what your conduct has been, and know also that
your kindness to us has never decreased. You
have taken care of us as of our children. Were
we to relate how you have exerted yourself for
us, we should never make an end of it. It will
be diffienlt for us to obtain another superior like
you, and we considered it good fortune when we
obtained scrvice with you. Now you are going
from us, and our misfortune is apparent to us.
Be it so. Wherever you go, may God prosper
you, and may our country be prosperous through
you. So we entreat God. Our hearts are full,
and we can say no more. So also, before you
came here you were at Shorapoor, and there, too,
you made all happy, and made that district pros-
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perous. Such praise have we heard from many
persons who came from thence.

“ Now our last request is this, that as you have
hestowed on us so many obligations and so much
love upon us, we, to show our gratitude to you,
have signed this address, which all assembled
have agreed on, and we pray you will be pleased
to accept it. This is our unanimous representa-
tion, waich you arc to-be pleased to accede to.

(Jigned) - JEWONSER RUTTONJEE,
SHUNKUR RA0 RUGGONATH,
Ertra-Assistant Commissioners ;

“And 1123 zemandars, patells, and other re-
spectable inhabitants.”

(Dated Nuldroog, 4ug. 27, 1857.)

I can mever forget the scene in the publie
cucherry when this was read to me. My old
friend Shunkur Rao Baba Sahib, read it with
the tears running down his checks, and there
were fow dry eyes among the vast crowd that
had collected. The old ery, *“ Mahadeo Baba Ke
Jey!” was raised outside and taken up by thou-
sands, It was the first time I had heard it at
Nuldroog. I was much moved. Nothing, 1
thought, could exceed this simple but carnest
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expression of the feelings of the people towards
me, and their manifestation of regard and affec-
tion was very grateful to my heart; and if I had
stood between the people and wrong in the
matter of land—if I had governed them justly
to the best of my ability—if T had insured for
them peace, and laid the foundation of pros-
perity, this was indecd a grateful reward—all I
could have hoped ox wished for on earth.

That night as I left the fort and town, [ found
all the road and street lined with the people,
cheering me with the old shout, « Mahadeo Baba
Ke Jey!” and many were weeping, and pressing
round to bid farewell; and I was followed for
more than two miles out of the town with the
same cheer, by a crowd from which it seemed
difficult to get away.

At every village I passed through that night,
and till my frontier was reached, the village
authorities, clders, and people came with their
farewells and best wishes, in crowds, from all
points within their reach, praying for my speedy
and safe return. My departure from Shorapoor
had been affecting and painful to me, but the
demeanonr of the people here was, if possible,
more touching and affectionate.
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CHAPTER XIV.

1867=08,

I arrivep at Jaulnah on the ninth day. I had
intended to travel faster, but a feverish cold I
caught on leaving Nuldroog, when my palan-
keen doors were open and a chill night wind
blowing through them, confined me to my bed
for one whole day and night, and retarded my
progress, so that I could not make double
marches.  The warm greetings and farewells did
not ceuse till I reached the city of Beer in the
Nizam's dominions,—everywhere the same recep-
tion, most hearty and aflectionate.

The native district officer at Beer, on behalf of
the Nizam’s Government, came out to meet me
with a large retinue, a distance of six miles ; and
I found my tents pitched in a very pleasant
garden close to the city, and a most ample
breakfast cooked at the officer’s house, and ready
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to place upon my table. He pressed me very
much to stay as long as I could, but I dared not
linger ; and in the afternoon I pushed on again
to a village on the Hyderabad road, where there
was a good bungalow.

Next day I had to cross the Godavery at Shah-
gurh ; fortunately it was not in high flood, but it
was not fordable. Here I found all my camels,
baggage-ponies, and servants, clustered together
on the bank of the river—the ferrymen would
not permit them to pass; and as soon as I came
up there were some very ominous cries of Deen !
Deen !'* while the ferrymen, who had taken their
boat to some distance, waved me off. I had no
escort—-only four men out of twenty-four who had
been sent with me from Beer; the other sixteen
had already crossed thexiver. I bad not brought
my own cavalry escort from Nuldroog; some of
them still appeared very restless, and I thought
it was safer to leave them where they were. As
I and my servants were parleying with the boat-
men, an old Byragee whom I had never seen
before, raised the old cry loudly : “ Mahadeo Baba
Ke Jey !” he shouted—and many joined, drown-
ing the Deen ! Deen! most confpletely; while on
the opposite side of the river, near the town of

* «Tor the Faith |” the Mohammedau call to arms.
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Shabgurh, a large body of cavalry came in view,
making it very doubtful to my mind what would
be the next move. This, however, was soon de-
cided by one of the horsemen, the officer in com-
mand of the party, tying a white scarf to bis
spear, and at the same time despatehing two
other boats with a few dismounted men to my
assistance.  On seing this, the party who had set
up the ery of Deen ! Been! holted up the bank,
looking sulky enough, and I saw them no more;
while the three boats took me, my bearers, ser-
vants, baggage, and camels, across the river in
safety.

The horsemen had been sent by an old friend
of mine, the Talookdar of Umber, with orders
to see me safe over the river. He did not expect
me so soon, or he would have sent them before.
He had Leard that the Mussulmans of Shahgurh
had betrayed a very fanatical spirit, and had said
I was not to be allowed to proceed; and he
feared for my safety.

This escort would not permit me to halt at
Shahgurh, but carricd me on to a village eight
miles further, where they had ordered a small
tent to be pitched for me, and there I slept. Next
morning we all went on to Umber. My old
friend was ill and could not leave his house ; but
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he sent his son with a large cavalcade to meet
me, and entertained me most hospitably all day.
My friend, who was able to visit me in the
evening, told me that he feared several mutineecrs
of the Aurungabad cavalry were conccaled at
Shahgurh, and that a Mussulman priest had been
preaching rebellious addresses; but that he
should send fifty men to the crossing place for
the protection of travellers. I left the escort
here that had accompanied me from Beer. The
men were sadly vexed at the scene at the river,
and that they had not been with me; but as we
could not all have crossed together, [, anticipating
no difficulty, had desired them to precede me. I
now dismissed them with a letter to the Talook-
dar of Beer, thanking him for their services.
Next day I marched twenty miles, and arrived
at Juulnah, I was rather amused at the “cloud
of cavalry ” sent to attend me by my old friend,
whose only regret was that he was not well enough
to accompany me himself. Orders had been for-
warded to a Parsee merchant at Jaulnah to sce
that a house was ready for me; and as the can-
tonment was nearly emptied of troops, there
were plenty at my disposal, and T found myself
located in a very comfortable well - furnished
bungalow belonging to the Colonel of the 6th
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Cavalry. Here Major Gill, who had been for
sonie years employed by Government in copying
the Buddhist frescoes in the caves of Ajunta,
came to see me, and gave me a letter from Bul-
lock, which had come in by express, begging me
to wait for him at Jaulpah, which I was glad to
do, especially as a heavy fall of rain set in, and
marching would have been next to impracticable.
Two days afterwards my friend joined me, and
told me what had occurred. - On the outbreak of
the Mutiny several of his cavalry escort had
broken away, very much as mine had done, and
the whole district was reported to be unsound.
He had asked for troops, which it was impossible
to send him ; and after a very sharp correspon-
dence on hoth sides, our sudden exchange of dis-
tricts was peremptorily ordered. I had been told
nothing of this, but had simply acted according
to the short urgent letter I had received ; but
the prospect of having to keep Berar quict after
what I now heard, was not encouraging by any
means.

[ was likewise told that I must be prepared to
find the internal cconomy of the district very
irregular.  When Bullock had gone on furlough to
England, his successor had not carried out the
general instructions promptly, and I should find
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the progress made slow, but he hoped I would
soon set things all right ; he had begun to work
hard on his return, and thought he had put mat-
ters in training. I told him he would not have
much trouble with my district, as it was in capi-
tal working order ; and so we parted. This was
no time to show vacillation or uneasiness, and 1
was determined to go through the country and
among the people exactly as I should have done
had T heard no unpleasant rumours, There were
no troops to be had, so there was no use think-
ing about them. As much of the Contingent as
could be spared, and geveral half-mutinous regi-
ments of cavalry and infantry, were collected at
Edlabad, near Boorhanpoor, and prepared for
service with (then) Sir Hugh Rose’s force; and
for the time, no bolder course could have been
adopted. Nevertheless, the Resident was assailed
fiercely by the press; accused of shifting the
responsibility of managing mutinous troops on
others, and of ruining the chances of Sir Hugh
Rose’s suceess by placing in his rear a large bri-
gade of the best troops in India, who could not
possibly be depended on. But Colonel Davidson
knew his men. He issued a spirited address to
them, appealing to their loyalty, and encouraging
them to go forward and win fame under Sir
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Hugh Rosc. The men obeyed ; and after the
brigade joined Sir Hugh, it shared in the whole
of the Central India campaign with him, and
behaved well to the very last.  Colonel Davidson
had in view a much higher aim than merely
keeping the troops employed mn the ficld. His
object was to show that the Nizam had no sym-
pathy with the re-establishment of the monarchy
of Delli; and that his own troops were assisting
the Iinglish to quell the Mutiny, and crush the
authors of it ; and in this point the Resident’s
bold measure was suceessful beyond his hopes.
On the 19th July, the Residency at Hyderabad
was attacked by a concourse of Rohillas and other
city fanatics, who were easily vepulsed ; but the
Resident was at issue with the Commander of
the Hyderabad Subsidiary Force, who not only
differed from him on the question of retaining
the Residency at all as a fortified post, but
advised its total abandonment, and the loca-
tion of all belonging to it within the canton-
ment. Happily the Resident took his own way,
and he saw clearly that his desertion of the
Residency would have the cffeet of weakening
the Minister (now Sir Salar Jung, G.C.8.L), and
also the Nizam himself, both of whose lives had
been threatened by fanatics. It was when it was
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determined that the Contingent Force should
take the field, that my friend had applied for
troops, and the utter impracticability of the re-
quest was resented.  “ Berar,” wrote the Resident
to me, “ which contains more than two millions
of people, must be kept quiet by moral strength,
for no physical force is at my disposal.”

Delhi, attacked first in June, and before which
a position only was maintained till the siege
began on the st September, was taken by storm
on the 14th, but resistance continued inside un-
til the 20th. LEvery native in India who could
think at all, had watched the progress of the
siege from Junc to September with the greatest
anxiety as to which would win the victory—
England or the Moghul; and many doubted
whether the small force of English in India could
make any lmpression on the immense power of
the native army of Bengal. And the long delay,
to which they were so little accustomed in Eng-
lish operations generally, strengthened this feel-
ing considerably,

As 1 approached the head station of Berar,
Booldana, I reccived deputations from the prin-
cipal landholders, merchants, wnd bankers of the
chief towns, who were all eager for authentic
news; but I could discover no symptom what-
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ever of disaffection. The great Mussulman col-
ony below the plateau of Booldana had been one
of the chief points of anxiety to my predecessor ;
and, as soon as | could, 1 marched there, sending
down a light tent before me. I gave no other
warning, and was quite unexpected by the native
officials and my English assistant, whom I found
in charge. Though my sudden appearance at
the head town of their county, when I had as
yet visited no other, at first excited some sur-
prise, and perhaps suspieion, we soon became ex-
cellent friends., At first I felt rather doubtful,
as nobody came near me, and my servants heard
very disagreeable yumours; but at length one
leading man came forward, then another, and
another, I suppose, to take my measure ; and then
all the people came, many hundreds, and raising
the old cry, “DBolo Mahadeo Baba Ke Jey!”
which some one set up, the whole asscmbly
joined in heartily, and proffered service whenever
and however I needed them. “They would
watch the frontier,” they said; “they would
not let in Scindia’s disaffected people; they
would follow me to Delhi if I would only take
them there; they wanted no pay—only food,
and ammunition for their matchlocks; they
would be true and faithful to the English,”—
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and many more promises were made, and faith-
fully kept.

From that day they never gave me the least
uneasiness ; and, if I had had occasion to call
them out, would, I firmly believe, have done
their duty nobly.

I wrote what had occurred, privately, to the
Resident, by express, and I believe my despatch
was a very considerable relicf to him, as he was
under great anxiety about Berar.

I need say nothing upon the condition of the
internal economy of Berar at this time. Culti-
vation and revenue alike seemed to have declined,
and did not exhibit the clasticity of Nuldroog. I
had to sct things torights as much as I could, and
the Commissioner wrote that he would come to me
in January. Very hard work fell on me, as my
assistants were new to the duties, and had not
been trained to a regular system, which, had it
been adopted from the first, would have rendered
matters easy now to all. There was, too, a heavy
arrear of appeals and civil suits; but every allow-
ance was to be made, for the territory had under-
gone 50 many changes from one hand to another ;
and my friend Bullock’s health having failed, and
his being obliged to take furlough just after his
appointment, had not given the district a fair



1857.] SCENERY. 241

chance. The climate was very encrvating, and
the distriet so extensive, that I felt very thank-
ful my first appointment to it had been altered
for Nuldroog, as I am quite sure my health would
never have held out under its relaxing influence.
Indeed I felt anxious now as to whether 1 should
Le able to stand it; but this only experience
would prove,

Booldana was a pleasant place on the south
table-'and, above the valley of Berar, and had
been fixed upon' as the head station on account
of its fine climate; for there was the greatest
possible difference in the air up there and that
in the valley below. The views were beautiful
down the wooded ravines, and my carly morning
rides were far more picturesque than any about
Nuldroog. But I had no time to stay there
long, and, after a fow days’ rest, I took my estab-
lishment into the valley, and began work in
earnest. It was not by any means pleasant, as
I was obliged to find much fault with the man-
agers of divisions, who, being provided with am-
ple instructions, had neglected to carry them out,
and had neither kept their own accounts in order,
nor those of the villages under them. Neither
were the village books nor the records properly
kept. These were matters of detail, as to which
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I need not perplex my readers, for, except at
great length, they could not be explained intelli-
gibly ; and if they were, it would not answer
any purpose.

I confess 1 thought I had been badly paid at
Nuldroog, having received 300 rupees a-month
less than had been granted to the Deputy-Com-
missioner in Berar, solely because the latter had
a higher revenue and pepulation: the area of
both were nearly sunilar. However, it was no use
grumbling now." 1 had dowe the work at Nul-
droog to the best of my ability, and now I was
going to try to set things straight here, and 1
hoped to get the district rapidly into order. As
yet I had received no additional pay. I, as second-
class Deputy-Commisgioner, was holding a first-
class district; Bullock, as first-class Deputy-Com-
missioner, holding a second-class district. But we
supposed some arrangement would be come to in
time.

Although both Delhi and Lueknow had been
taken, yet the pacification of the country was far
from complete; and rebellion in the Central
Provinces, close to my own northern frontier,
had made, and was making, rapid progress.

There was now much more alarm and uneasi-
ness than before the taking of Delhi, which was



1867.] THREATENED ASSASSINATION. 243

far too distant from us to excite more than pass-
ing interest.

[ veceived many anonymous Jetters, apparently
from friends, warning me of contemplated assas-
sination, and stating that when I was disposed of,
the native troops at Ellichpoor were prepared to
rise, and, aided by the military and predatory
classes of the district, would plunder the chief
towns, and join the ~rebel forces beyond the
SAtpoora range ~which —constituted my whole
norvhern frontier. At Nimawa, Captain Keatinge
had been obliged to conceal himself in the jungle,
having lis wife and childven with him; and they
escaped almost by a miracle.

At Jubbulpore and Sangor, rebellion was at its
Leight, not ouly in the mutiny of native regi-
ments, hat by the risings ol petty rajabs and
nawabs, and of the people of the district, always
noted for their turbulent and predatory habits.

There was hardly one spot where loyalty pre-
vailed; for as the regiments broke away from
their several stations, with or without violence
and murder, as it might be, all restraint was re-
moved from the lawless classes of the people at
large, and these were every day growing stronger
under the evil spivit and licence which could not
be checked.
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On the eastern portion of Berar lay Nagpore,
by no means to be trusted ; and it was owing to
the large force of faithful Madras troops who
were stationed there that no serious outbreak
ocemrred in favour of the deposed family, on
whose behalf, it was reported, intrigue was busy
throughout the whole country. On my western
frontier lay Khandeish, not sccurc either. Nana
Sahib had active agents there, as he aspired to be
Peshwah ; and all the northern frontier of that
province was in contact with Scindia’s and Hol-
kar’s territories, where rebellion was rife.

Berar was the centre of these three great pro-
viunces, which stretched across the whole of India,
and formed, as it were, the barriers that were to
prevent the rebellion from spreading southwards;
and of the three, Berar was the most important
perhaps, as, if the rebels had broken through the
passcs of the Sitpoora range—a very easy pro-
ceeding—and had been joined by the military
classes and indigenous marauders of the province,
it i impossible to say how far disaffection might
have extended to the Nizam’s dominions.

From October, therefore, as the circle of war and
mutiny grew wider, reaching wy northern fron-
tier, the danger increased almost daily; and it
was only the thorough attachment and loyalty of
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the people to the English rule which saved Berar,
under God’s blessing, from insurrection.

I have already mentioned the goodwill and
proficred devotion of the Mussulmans of the
westo:rn portions of my district; and as I travelled
up the valley slowly to Akola, I was equally
gratified by the conduct of the Rajpoots, who
resided there in large numbers.  There had been
fierec and bloody feuds between these two great
classes from time fo time, on occasions of religious
festivals ; and this scemed a good opportunity
for them to break out again; for I had literally
no troops on whom I eould rely, and those at
Ellichpoor were more a sowrce of uneasiness to
me than anything else, as, although they were as
yet orderly and quiet, it was felt that any cxcite-
ment might cause them to break off and join
their rebel brethren at Jubbulpore or in Central
India. Their officers were very mistrustful of
them, for many were from Oudh ; and who could
rely on them after the mutiny of Seindia’s troops
and their march to join the main body of the
rebel forces ?

I was grateful for the attachment cvinced by
the Rajpoots of vhe Akola district, who also prof-
fered service wherever and whenever it might be
of use. All I could do was to ask their aid in
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watching the passes, and in apprehiending parties
from the north who might seck to sow rehellion
among us. This they promised to do; and in two
instances they actually did so,succeeding in arvest-
ing and bringing to justice a number of delegates
from Scindia’s mutinous troops at Boorhanpoor,
whom I tried and sentenced to transportation
and penal servitude. And these events prevented
any further attempt of the like nature.

There were several petty rajahs of the moun-
tain tribes of Gonds iwho received hereditary
allowances or stipends from the Berar adminis-
trators, and who were responsible for the several
passes which led from the north. All these came
to me and tendered their services, nor did any
one case oceur of disloyalty or neglect.

The northern frontier was thus made as secure
as I could under these circumstances make it ;
but, in Colonel Davidson’s expressive phrase, I
was literally “holding on by my cyelids.”

I will not deny that it was a period of fearful
anxiety. No aid could be cxpected from without,
and the anonymous warnings were more frequent
than ever, while evil reports flew daily through
the country. My servants kept a horse saddled
for me every night in case of necessity for escape.

I had no guards except a few police, and I
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was carrying on my duties in my tents as usual :
making the yearly settlement ; examining village
books, district books, and accounts ; trying appeal
and civil cases ; holding criminal trials, and the
like. One great benefit to me was my being able to
speak the vernacular language, Mahratta, fluently.
The people felt that T understood them, and came
to me freely with petitions as to any real or ima-
ginary grievancc.

There had been some corruption at work among
my chuprassies or office attendants, which seemed
to be of long standing; and I one night over-
heard a conversation between two of them who
lay outside my tent walls, when they thought 1
was asleep, about division of the procceds of
their gains, upon the receipt of petitions, which
would have been amusing cnough but for the
nuschief that such extortion for presenting peti-
tions to me occasioned. I at once adopted my
Nuldroog plan, which was to have a large box fit-
ted with hinges and a padlock : a slit was cut in
the 1id, and notification made that all petitions
henceforth were to be dropped into it, and that
petitioners were to attend every afternoon, when
the box would be epened before me, and the papers
publicly read. The box was placed in an open
space before my tent, and was presently filled
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with petitions; the two men, whose confidential
talk I had overheard, were then called up. 1
took my wusual seat outside my tent, and after
addressing the crowd, I had the men’s badges
removed, and they were turned out of camp in
disgrace.

I think, nay, T am positive, that if every
Deputy-Commissioner, situated as I was, had such
a box, they would find it-an admirable plan. It
had an excellent effect in my district, and inspired
great confidence among the people. Any frivo-
lous complaint was at once dismissed ; but many
corrupt practices and grievances were brought to
light ; and as each petition was taken out of the
box, the name of the petitioner was called out,
and every applicant knew that his paper was
considered, and heard 1t read before me. A
memorandum was then written on the back, re-
ferring it to the district native officer for report
if necessary.

I was now fairly among the people ; and though
so often cautioned and advised of danger, I felt
that rcliance on them was the safest conrse. Onee,
in a Bombay paper, it was stated that I had been
attacked and murdered; but I wrote to contradict
the report before the departure of the mail for
England, and the dear ones at home knew noth-
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ing of it; nor did I, as I see by my letters home,
mention any current reports, and, indeed, I alluded
very little to the condition of affairs at all, or my
own carcs, I lived, however, in a state of per-
petual alarm, and every day added to the anxiety
I endured. Every detail of deeds of violence in
Central India—of which, almost daily, fresh ru-
mours reached me, sometimes very much exag-
gerated—the arrival of every “ express,” night or
day, in camp—caused unavoidable excitement.
Who could say what news it might not bring ?
At that time all Deputy-Commissioners of pro-
vinces and political officers nsed to send such ex-
presses, when and how they could, to cach other,
giving local news, and with a request that the
express might be forwarded to the next anthority.
Many a man in India was ¢ holding on,” never
flinching from his post, dying there bravely in
many a terrible instance, or, when hope was gone,
escaping with bare life, often through hosts of
encimies, and thankful for that mercy. “ What
if Berar should go ¢” I often thought; and how
could I hope to escape? How thankful T was
that T was alone—-that I had only myself to think
of ! Had 1 had wife and children with me, as
many hod, my anxiety would have been increased
a thousandfold,
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True, my people appeared steady and trust-
worthy, and business procceded as usual, as I
moved my camp from village to village; but
Berar was 250 miles long, with an average
breadth of 60 miles or more, and the population
was two millions. Who could answer for all ?
And from day to day for some months, one felt
as if in the morning one might be murdered be-
fore night, or at night be.dead Lefore the morning.

The Resident’s anxiety on my account scemed
to incrcase; but I assured him in my letters,
which were rare, that so far [ eould not trace any
disaffection, and that a good spirit seemed to
prevail among the people, even where I had felt
most uneasiness myself. ~ Still I often longed
to be in the roughest scenes in Central India
rather than bear the load of responsibility on
my mind day and night: it was a terrible strain
upon me.

I was at Ellichpoor on the 9th December, and
I stayed there till the 13th. It was very cold,
the thermometer showing 36° and 40° in the
mornings. It was the head civil station of a
subdivision of my district, and I was greatly
indebted to Captain Hamilton, wiro superintended
it, for his watchful supervision of the frontier.
The people were deeply attached to him, and
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gave him information freely. How welcome
were the large baskets of delicious peaches grown
in his garden at Chiculdah, the sanitarium of
Ellichpoor! and I wished I could go up there
again ond revisit the old scenes.

The native officers of the eavalry and infantry
hoth visited me, and I congratulated them on the
honours which their regiments were winning in
Central India. Theyr appeared to be intenscly
gratifie] at the news which veached them from
time to time, both in newspapers and private let-
ters, and at the prospeet which was opening for
farther good service under Sir Hugh Rose, whose
forces were now advancing into the disturbed
districts.

Many of the men also came to me “ for a talk,”
and raised the old cry of my regiment, which was
known to all.  So I hoped the dwsaffection of the
cavalry at Fllichpoor was a groundless rumour.

‘When the glorious news came from the Northern
Provinces, the victory over the Gwalior troops
at Cawnpore, and the sccond relief of Lucknow,
with many other successful engagements in Cen-
tral India, the year 1838 opened very brightly,
and with good hope that the general campaign
against the vebel forces would be brought to a
brilliant conclusion in a few months, Already
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the various combinations of the rebel army and
the various rebel chiefs had been much broken ;
now they were growing dispirited, and had no-
thing to fall back upon. When the constant
arrival of troops from home made it manifest
to all that England was fully roused, and was
putting forth her strength and her enormous
resources to save and help her sons, the hopes
of the rebel leaders fellyand they felt their ina-
bility to war against her.

I am not, however, writing a history of the
time,—-that 1s in far abler hands than mine. 1can
only relatc what affected me personally.

My own position wasg decided by the Governor-
General, who decreed, ag I thought he would,
that my friend was to be reinstated in Berar,
and T to return to my old quarters—Nuldroog.
The Commissioner, Mr Maltby, had been at Nul-
droog, had seen all my work, and approved of it,
and had becn much struck by the independent,
though thoroughly respectful, demeanour of my
Mahratta farmers. They had visited him freely,
and assured him of their prosperity and loyalty,
and he wrote me a very flattering letter on the
condition of the district generally. In Derar I
had done my utmost to redeem irregularities and
reconcile conflicting accounts; but three months
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had been too short a time to do all I wished,
or to leave things as straight as I should have
liked.

Bullock was to leave Nuldroog at once, and
wigshed me to meet him in the eastern portion
of the district as soon as [ could ; and I too was
anxious to get back to my old work before the
very Lot weather began. Derar was beginning
to tell upon me ; the old fever had returned in
periodical attacls, and 1 was tormented with
scvere neuralgoia, from which T could obtain no
relief whatever. I had used the hot springs at
Salbudlee with some good effect, but it was not
lasting, and I greatly dreaded the hot seasom.
All the accounts had been sent in, and I found
that one lakh out of two, sct down for remission,
wag recoverable : the village books were now in
order, and only carcful supervision was needed.

While in the eastern portion of the distriet, I
had been able to perform an essential service to
Government, which had great effect on the war
in Central India,  One day I recelved an express
from Colonel Hill, Assistant Quartermaster-General
of the Madras army, attached to General Whit-
lock’s force at Nugpore, which had not marched,
and was not able to do so, for want of draught and
carriage bullocks. He requested T would, if pos-
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sible, purchase and send to him 600 at once,
leaving 400 more to follow; and added, if T could
not manage this, there would be no hope of getting
any except from Mysore. The Nagpore provinee
either would not, or could not, supply them. I
set to work directly. The province of Berar con-
tains the finest draught eattle in India, and plenty
were to be had at moderate prices.  No sooner
were my wants knownthan my camyp was crowded
with noble beasts: In two days | had got half the
number, which were gent on wnder an escort of
police, and day after day other herds were de-
spatched ; and this enabled the siege-tram and
heavy stores to be sent on without delay, so that
eventually the whole force was set in motion,
with an ample supply of trained cattle.

I received not only the thanks of the generals
commanding for this assistance, but of the Gover-
nor of Madras in Couneil ; and it was very clear
that, if these cattle had not been sent up from the
gouth, Whitlock's force could not have accom-
plished what it did in marcling upon Jubbul-
pore, and, by a lucky stroke, capturing the Kir-
wee treasures, I thought myself fairly entitled
to a share of the Kirwee booty for the service I
had rendered ; but it was decreed afterwards by
Sir J. Phillimore, that as I did not belong to the
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force, © my chance, though just in equity, was not
admissible.”

In my letters bome at this period 1 wrote very
carnestly on the question of pressing the direct
rule of the Crown in the future government of
India, and that the time Lad arrived for a change
to be made with advantage.

There was a very gencral impression that the
great Company was ondy afarmer of the revenues;
and while royal Louses would acknowledge and
respect the Crown, they would have, cspecially
after late events, no such feeling for the Com-
pany.

I suggested many other material changes as to
high covrts of justice and tenures of land, several
of which have been carried out; and I had the
honcur done me of some of my letters being read
in the “ tlouse.”

The letters written to my cousin Reeve, and
already given, embody most of my opinions and
suggestions.

Strange indeed was the weird prophecy of Plas-
sey in 1757-581

The Company’s rule was to last for a hundred
years. In 1857-58 it had virtually expired, and
1859 witnessed its total extinction !

It was my intention, after leaving my friend,
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to go direct vid Aurungabad to Beer. Mr Malt-
by was now on his way to Berar, and Bullock and
I moved on to meet him early in February, when
he asked me to accompany him through the dis-
trict, and to visit with him the caves of Ajunta
and Ellora. This would have been a very plea-
sant holiday for me; but again I was to be dis-
appointed. We met the Commissioner near Oom-
rawuttee, on his way to Ellichpoor, and the very
next day came an “express” from the Resident,
directing me to lose not a moment in proceeding
to Hyderabad on business relating to Shorapoor.

I had scen by the papers a short time before,
that the Rajah had been suspected of treason,
and that troops had been sent to watch the east-
ern and western frontiors of his district. Now I
learned that he had attacked a small foree which
had been ordered to Captain Campbell’s assist-
ance—this officer having been "sent to Shorapoor
on a special mission; and the Rajah being de-
feated, had fled to Hyderabad, where he had
been arrested.

Mr Malthby spoke very kindly to me of all he
had noted in the Nuldroog district, and hoped I
should soon be again at liberty to continue my
work there, especially the survey operations. 1
ventured to ask whether I might be allowed any-
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thing for my labours in Berar; but he could not
say—and my travelling expenses had been a very
serious pull upon my resources. 1 was to receive
plenty of thanks ; but although these were very
gratifving, they did not pay me for the very hard
work and terrible anxiety I had gone through :
but—there was one comfort—I had ¢ held on by
my eyelids!”

I pushed on now by double marches to Hingo-
lee, and thence to Hyderabad, where I arrived on
the 18th March, after having travelled 300 miles
in sixteen days—not very fast perhaps; but my
continuned travelling had blistered my people’s
feet, and 1 could not get on quicker.

I went of course to Mr Palmer’s house, and
found him well and cheerful ; but the Resident
would not hear of my being with any one but
himself, and sent for me directly. I was very
kindly received. He at once increased my pay,
appointed me now Commissioner of Shorapoor,
on 1800 rupees a-month, or, at the least, 1500,
and said his wish was to keep me altogether in
the political department.

He told me all the high officials, and chiefly
the Governor-General, were more than satisfied
with what 1 had done in Berar.

VOlL. 1L, R
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CHAPTER XV.
1858,

Tre Rajah of Shorapoor was a prisoner in the
main-guard of the “ Royals” at Secunderabad,
and I went three times to see him. He had
deliberately rebelled against the British Govern-
ment, and was to be tried for his life by a mili-
tary commission, which would shortly assemble.
As may be imagined, he was deeply affected on
first seeing me, and he threw himself into my
arms, quite unable to speak for some time. Even
the honest fellows of the guard were moved, and
much surprised that my appearance should have
so sudden and extraordinary an effect upon their
prisoner. In appearance he was much improved
—he had grown stouter, fairer, and more manly ;
but though handsome, his features bore unmis-
takable signs of dissipation and excess, which 1
was sorry to see. Now, his face was so distorted
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with his emotions that it was difficult to judge
what it would be in repose.

“0 appa, appa!” was all he could ery, or
rather moan, as he sat at my feet, his face buried
in my lap, and his arms clasped tightly around
me; “O appa, 1 dare not look on your face!
1 have been so wicked—oh, so wicked! I have
done every crime— I have even committed
murder ! O, if the earth had opened, and swal-
lowed me up, it wounld only have been just. I
cannot tell you all new, appa. My throat is
parched, words will not come; but to-morrow,
appa, you will come again—do come, and then
I will tell you all.”

It was useless to remain then, aud only painful
to us both. 8o 1 promised to return on the mor-
row, and went away.,

It was a sad case, and 1 feared there was no
hope for him—none whatever. His unwarrant-
able disaffection began with that of the Southern
Mahratta country, where some of its chiefs had,
as was proved afterwards, laid their plans for
a general insurrection, in connection, no doubt,
with Nanu Sahib, and the general mutiny in the
Bengal army ; and the vigorous conduct of Gen-
eral Jacob alone prevented this rebellious move-
ment.
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The Rajah of Shorapoor had been early inveigled
into these intrigues, and was an active promoter
of them. He was invited specially, as an ancient
feudatory of the Peshwahs, to join again the
Mahratta standard ; and owing to his reputed
wealth and the numbers of his clan, was not a
chief to be overlooked by those disaffected.

If he could be induced to take the field with
ten thousand men, the Beydurs of the Raichore
Doab, of Bellary, Dharwar, and Belgaum, as well
as thosce also of Mysore, would rise and follow
him as their leader, and could plunder as they
listed. His vanity and cupidity were excited,
and he fell an easy prey to these representations.

Even after the Beydurs of the Southern Mah-
ratta country had received some very severe
checks, the attitude of the Shorapoor Rajah was
considered threatening and suspicious. He had
collected Arabs and Rohilla mercenaries in addi-
tion to calling his own clan together, while he
was more than suspected to hold communication
with foreign mercenaries at Hyderabad. Those
were anxious times, and it was impossible to allow
any known conspiracy to exist, without watching
it very narrowly. A strong force was sent,
under Colonel Malcolm, and placed about equi-
distant between the Beydurs of Shorapoor and



1858.] HIS DISAFFECTION. 261

those of the Southern Mahratta country ; Colonel
Hughes, with a Madras force, watched the eastern
frontier of Shorapoor ; and the Contingent troops
at Linsoogoor lay, as it were, between, ready to
act in concert with either force, according to
necessity.

The Resident, however, was very anxious to
save the Rajah, and to rescue him from his evil
covnsellors, feeling a peeuliar interest in the boy
who had for so long been o ward of the Brit-
ish Government ; and early in January 1858 he
despatched his assistant, Captain Rose Campbell,
to Shorapoor, to remonstrate with the Rajah, and
endeavour to bring him to a sense of his danger,
and his promised allegiance to the Dritish Gov-
ernment.

This considerate kindness was, unfortunately,
thrown away. The Rajah was in the hands of the
worst favatics of the country, on all sides—cven
from Mysore and Arcot—and would listen to
neither warning nor advice ; and at length, when
Captain Campbell received an intimation from the
Rajal’s own servants and relatives that his life
was in serious danger, the force from Linsoogoor
was ordercd to support him, and arrived at Shora-
poor on the 7th February, encamping near the
town. A narrow valley, surrounded on all sides
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by lofty hills and rocks, was pointed out as the
camping-ground ; but Captain Arthur Wyndham,
who commanded the force, was too wary to be
misled, and moved on to an open plain, where
he was comparatively safe from any danger of
surprise.

At night he was attacked by the Rajah’s whole
force of Beydurs and foreign mercenaries; but
lie held his position brayvely, and early in the
morning Colonel: Hughes, who was at Deodroog,
twelve miles distant, and to whom a special
messenger had been despatched, arrived with
all his troops. It was very plain that had
Captain Wyndham remained on the ground first
pointed out to him, he would have endured very
heavy loss, if not total defeat. As it was, his
force suffered but little, but he had inflicted seri-
ous damage on the Shorapoor rebels.

Coloncl Hughes arrived early on the morning
of the 8th, and he and Captain Wyndbam, with
their united troops, drove the Beydurs and others
from the hills into the town with severe loss.
Unfortunately Captain Newberry, Madras cavalry,
was killed in a charge against a body of Rohillas,
and his subaltern, Lieut. Stewar., badly wounded.
As the city of Shorapoor was very strong, the
approaches difficult of access, and the walls and
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bastions crowded with defenders, they did not
attack it at once, but waited for Colonel Mal-
colm’s foree, which had moved close to the west-
ern frontier of Shorapoor, and who had been re-
quested to come on with all possible speed.

When this reached the ears of the Rajah, and
hie heard also that Colonel Malcolm’s force had
with it a large proportion of English troops, who,
togethor with two companics of the 74th High-
landers under Colonel Huglics, made a sufficiently
imposing array—he saw that there was no chance
of escape except by flight ; and, in the evening,
accompanied by a few horsemen, he left Shora-
poor, and procecded direct to Hyderabad.

He believed me to be at Nuldroog, and intend-
ed to have given himself up to me there; but
hearing on his northern frontier that I had been
vemoved to Berar, lie' changed his route, and
made for Hyderabad, where he arrived with but
two followers left. There, having made a fruit-
less attempt to gain the protection of the Arabs,
he was found wandering ubout the bazaar, was
apprehended, and taken to the Minister, Salar
Jung, who at once sent him on to the Resident.

As soon as the fiajah’s flight Liecame known, all
the Beydurs and mercenaries left Shorapoor dur-
ing the night, and dispersed, whereupon the Eng-
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lish foreces marched into the city unopposed, and
found it almost descrted.

Such is an outline of the occurrences that took
place, and I hoped that when I next visited the
Rajah, he would disclose to me all the particulars
of his rebellion and the causes that led to it. I
found him mueh calmer during our second inter-
view, but very rescrved on many polints.

“ Do you remember, appa,” he said, “ that the
day before you left me, you warned me of the
evil people who were about me; and you said, if
I did not dismiss thew, and lead a steady life, I
should not hold Shorapoor five years; and I pro-
mised you I would send them all away, and Jook
after my own affairs®”

“I remember it well,” I replied, “and how
you wrote to me and told me that yon were in
trouble, and would come to me; and 1 sent you
word to do so at once, for that I should now be
near your border. But you never came, though
T wasg there nearly a month, and 1 expected you.”

“No,” he said, ““they would not let me go to
you, appa ; and if I had gone it would have been
no use ; you could have done nothing. What was
to be has come to pass, and I nrust bear my fate
now, whatever it may be. When that evil wind
blew, the people came and said it was the time
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to rise.  The English had lost everything in the
north, and were beaten everywhere ; they could
not keep the country, they said, and were flying
to Tingland as fast as they could get to their
ships. This was told me, appe, by Brahmins
and others from the south, from Poona, from
every where.

“'T'hey promised, by their incantations, to raise
me to be Rajah of all the country—from Shora-
poor to Rainéshwar—and if 1 marched at the
head of my twelve thousand, they said, all the
country would rise, and we should be conguerors.
Then Mahrvattas from Poona, from Sattara, from
Kolapoor, from Mungoond, from Bheem Rao, who
had secured all the disatfeeted people of Raichore,
persuaded me to join them, and offered me what
I pleased if 1 did so; but still I did not go. 1
was still true to the English and to you. I knew
I was right. I did not move a man ; nor did 1
allow one of my people even to go to the assist-
ance of the Beydurs of llulgully, their brethren,
many of whom were slain.  And then my people
rebelled against me, and called me a ¢ coward and
a fool,” because I would not let them go.  Arabs
and Eohillas now came around me, and one man,
worse than all the rest, swore to me on the Kordn
that the Arabs and Rohillas of Iyderabad, and
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all the Mussulmans, had declared a crusade against
the English ; that the Madras troops would not
fight, and they would all come and join me if I
would rise. And these men and my own evil
companions gave me brandy, and made me drunk,
and they took my seal and used it, and led me into
evil which I could not help, and did not know.

“ When Captain Campbell came to me with
the letter from the Resident, ask him whether 1
did not receive him with all honour and respect.
But the people about me and the Hyderabad
men said he was a Kafir and a Feringhee, and
that he must die.  Had not all true men put
to death any English they could find ? And they
told me about Cawnpore, and Jhansi, and Delhi,
and how all the English had been slain—even
women and little -ehildren ; and I thought of
you—and of your children—girls too,—and 1
was grieved ; but they made me drunk again,
and they determined to murder Captain Camp-
bell the next time he came; but I sent him
private warnings, and this 1 could prove to you.
Ask my uncles; ask ——, and , and others ;
they will tell you. Ask Captain Campbell if they
did not warn him. I speak no llc why should I?
my life is not worth saving now. I have done
too much crime to live ; I dare not tell you all ;
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you would not touch me or let me come near t
you. O appa, appa! why did you leave me ¢ L
you had stayed with me, all would have beer
well 1 I tell you, if Captain Campbell had comc
to me again, no onc, not I myself, could have
saved his life; the men who were to cut him
down were standing ready: but he attended to
my warnings, and was saved.

“Then the troops-ecame, and when I heard
the first gun fired at night, I knew all was gone.
I had no faith in my people’s courage, although
I had not been able to stop their madness, and 1
went up to a bastion and stood there all night.
They told me-—what a lie it was!—that the
Linsoogoor troops had lost their officers and fled !
but when 1 saw, as day broke, the whole force
and the English soldiers driving all my people
before them into the city, and a shell burst close
to the bastion where I was, killing some, and
wounding more—ah ! why did it not kill me?
—when I saw this, I say, I knew there was no
hope left, and I thought to myself, ‘I will go
to appr, and give him up the Sumusthan to
do with as he pleases’

“1 told Runguma (the eldest wife) to hide
herself, and to tell the others all to hide for the
night, and get on as well as they could to Nul-
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droog to you. When 1 got to Narribole, I heard
you had gone to Berar, and I turned through the
hills and across the jungle to Hyderabad, riding
the horse you bought for me. This is all my
story, appa; it is true, all of it. If I can re-
member any more you ought to know, I will tell
you. I wish you to know everything.”

Hours had passed while he poured out this
tale ; hours of intense suffering to him, and bitter
self - reproach.  Sometimes he would stop, and
throw his arms round me passionately; some-
times kneel beside me, moaning piteously; again
he would burst into loud hysterical sobs which
shook his frame. [ did my best to soothe him,
and gradually he gave me the details narrated
above. I have given only the heads, which 1
took down for the Resident’s information. Tt
would be impossible to remember his wild inco-
herent exclamations, his sudden recurrence to old
scencs when he had played as a child about me,
with his sisters; of the enjoyment they had had
in the magic lantern I showed ; of the little ves-
sel on Bohnal Lake, and the happy expeditions
there : and all those recollections of his innocent
carly life, made the scemes tnyough which he
had lately passed the more grievous and full of
reproach.
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I asked him if he would like to see the Resi-
dent, who had promised to accompany me on my
last visit to him if the Rajah wished it. To my
surprise, he drew himself up very proudly, and
replied, haughtily—

“No, appa; he would expect me to ask my
life of him, and I won’t do that. Tell him, if you
like, that if the great English people grant me
my life, I and mine will be cever true to them;
but I deserve to die for what-1 did, and I will
not ask to live like a coward, nor will T betray
my people.”

I think this speceh, which I reported word for
word, pleased the Resident better than anything
he had heard of the Rajah before.

“The poor lad bhas spirit in him,” he said;
“and T will not forget all you have told me of
him.”

I weut once more to sce the Rajah, the day
before 1 left for Shorapoor. I should soon see
his wife and his other relations, and I wished to
know whether he had any instructions or mes-
sages for them. He was calm, though he could
not repress his old loving ways to me—but very
quict. [ told him I was going by ddk to Shora-
poor. “ What could I do for him there?”

“ Appa,” he said, “you remember once I said
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to you, that the British Government should have
Shorapoor if I left no heir; and I have none. I
only wish now I had written this down ; but at
that time I had hope still: and I wish now to
say, that T want you to have it yourself; the
people love you, and you must never leave it. [
will write this with my own hand, if they will
give me pen and ink and some paper.”

“No,” I said, “it could: not be as you wish;
and besides, the Government may pardon you
when all is known.”

“ And spare my life ¢ No—1I will never ask it.”

“That would not save it,” 1 answered. “If
Government 1s merciful, they will give you your
life freely, without your asking it.”

“ What do you think, appa # Shall I have to
die ?” he-asked.

“I think so,” I said. “It would be wrong in
me to give you any false hope, or to raise the
slightest shadow of one in your mind. Many
have been false who should have remained true,
and you were a child of the English.”

“ Why do you reproach me ?” he asked, sadly.
“You know all ; 1t was not of my own will, when
I was in my senses, appa.”

“I do not reproach you,” I said, “for I do
know all; but those who will try you do not.
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Speak the truth before them boldly, and exactly
as you have done to me, and send for me if you
think 1 can help you.”

“1 will surely tell all,” he answered, calmly;
“but if they press me to disclose the names of
those who excited me, I shall be silent. Govern-
ment i3 powerful enough to crush them if they
rise, But what can they do? Was I not the
strongest among them?® . And yet, where am
I now? Shall I, who have to face death, be
faithless to those who trusted me months ago?
Never, appa! I would rather die than be sent
over the black water, or shut up in a fortress
always. Suppose they scntence me to that, I
could not bear it.  No; the meanest Beydur
could not live if he were imprisoned—and shall
I, a Rajah ?”

“If you have to die,” said I, a good deal moved,
for there was much nobility in his speech, *die
like a brave man.”

“1 ghall not tremble when they tie me up to
a gun,” he answered, gravely. “ If you could be
near me to the Jast, I should be happier. Only
one thing, appa—-do not let them hang me. I
have done nothing to be hanged for, like a robber.
Tell the Resident that is all the favour I ask.
Promise me to tell him.” And I promised.
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“ 1 have unothing now to give you, appa,” he
continued. “ They have taken away all T had,
even my amulets; but take what you will at
Shorapoor, in remembrance of me.  As to all my
people in the palace, they ure yours; and you
will care for them, I know. I shall never see
them again, now. I ask nothing more.”

Theun, throwing himself into my arms, he clung
to me for a long time; silently ; then kissing me
cently on the forchead, he said—

“Go, appa—go now. [ shall never look upon
yvour face or hear your veice again; but I am
thankful to have seen you. Tell them all that
you have been with me, and that I wag not a
coward.”

And so I left him, among the men of the guard,
who looked on with kindly, wondering eyes,

“1le was very fond of you, sir,” said one of the
sergeants, as [ passed out, “ and before you came,
was asking for you constantly. You must have
been as a father to him.”

“He was like a child to me,” I sald, “ till evil
people came between us, and temptation proved
too strong for him. Now, I fear, it is too late to
help him.”

I told the Resident all that had taken place,
on my rcturn, and all the Rajah had said,
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especially about his not wishing to make any dis-
closures that would im’p]icate his associates ; and
he respected the poor boy’s vcticence on these
points.

“We will save him if we can, Taylor, when
the time comes,” he said. “ Just now, things
must take their course. Dut I am sure there is
good stuff in the lad; and if we can save his life,
he will be all the better for this experience.”

My hearvers to Shorapoor were laid; my ser-
vants and baggage had preceded me by some
days—and they would, I hoped, have all ready
on my arrival.

Mr Palmer had no hope of the Rajah’s life
being spared, but he took a great interest in bhim,
and onlv feared that his death might he consid-
cred necessary as a warning to all the plotters in
the South, of whom, no doubt, there were many,
though there had been no actual rising exeept the
unimportant one at Hyderabad, and the intrigues
in the So. hern Mahratta country before men-
tioncd.

I bade all Hyderabad friends farewell on the
30th March in the evening, and went on by

-es to Shorapoor, putting up in the villages
during the day, for it was too hot to expose my-
self to the sun. The nights were, fortunately,

VOL. II. s
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cool and pleasunt still, and I hoped to arrive at
my long journey’s end by the 3d April, when I
should have travelled over 500 miles.

I reached the Bheema river on the morning of
3d April, long before it was light, indeed not
long after midnight, hoping to get into Shorapoor
soon after daylight ; but it was quite impossible.
I found the river-bank crowded with people, from
all the villages round, come to welcome me back
again to my old geenes, and I had to wait to ex-
change grectings.  Very warm and affectionate
they were.  “Now,” they said, “ they would have
no more fears ; all would take up their lands and
go to work quietly, go long as I remained with
them :” and I assured them I[should remain. All
the head - men, patells, and putwarries, all the
principal farmers and traders, assembled to give
me the first greetings ; and they told me the road
was lined with crowds from all the country-side.
Many had been waiting for days, as it was re-
ported I should arrive sooner than I did. When
I could get away from these, I passed on in the
same manner from that village to the next, always
with crowds running beside my palankeen, and
a blaze of lights carried by tb2 village torch-
bearers. Now I had to stop while some old friend
dismounted from his horse or pony to embrace
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me or kiss my feet; and again, when village
authorities came out to meet me with their simple
offerings and libations of water. I could, in truth,
have dispensed with the crowds, for the dust rose
heavily in the air, and there was no wind to
scatter it, and the torches incrcased the heat per-
ceptibly, while to slecp was out of the question,
When day broke, the throng scemed greater and
greater-—men, womeny and children pressing on
my palankeen to touch my feet, or even my
clothes-—and, as I neared Shorapoor, vast num-
bers, apparently thousands, came out to meet me,
and my bearers could only advance at a slow
walk, often being obliged to halt altogether.  So,
through the first suburb and up the steep road
to the eity, amidst shouts of the old ery of < Ma-
hadeo Baba,” the scrcam of pipes and Beydurs’
horng, and thumping of big and little drums, |
was conducted into the first street, where further
progress was clearly impossible.

I had never before seen even this excitable people
so frantic; women weeping passionately, grasping
my hands, kissing my clothes, or touching my
feet-—crying, “ Oh, you are come again; we see
you; we shall suffier no more!” They raised
their children above their heads and showed me
to them, showering blessings on me the while.
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The terraced house-tops were full likewise, and
the shouts and cries quite indescribable. It was
now cleven o’clock, and my slow progress through
the town occupied almost an hour more. The
sun was blazing hot, and I was faint and wearied
out ; still the showers of garlands, the handfuls of
sweet powder and dyed rice, thrown on and over
me, continued till 1 was close to the palace guard,
when my bearers turned-in, and I was frec.

Captain Wyndham and all the officers had been
most anxious, cspecially when the shouts were
heard as 1 entercd the streets ; and my delay
was so unaccountable that they feared I had mct
with opposition, till they were assured I was only
“being welcomed,” and therefore abandoned their
idea of sending a troop of cavalry, which they had
ready, to my assistance,

I had never dreamed of such a welcome. It
was intensely gratifying, and I was deeply af-
fected by the fecling displayed by all, which could
not be mistaken. Captain Wyndham and others
had seen something of my reception from the roof
of the palace, and had wondercd not a little, as I
had myself. It proved, at any rate, that I was
not forgotten ; and I thanked Gnd for this from
my heart very gratefully. The English officers
congratulated me very warmly.
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T was very glad of a refreshing bath and a sub-
stantial Dreakfast, which had been got ready for
me ; aud then I lay down to have a sleep, which
[ necled much after the night's work. When 1
awoke, several old native friends were waiting for
me. We were located in the new palace I had
built for the Rajah, which afforded good airy
shelter for us all.  The large upper room was the
“mess " and public room; and soon all the male
members of the Rajah’s family and State officers
assembled there
and great-uncle.

Pid Naik’s sons, their uncles,

All were as much concerned as I was at the
unexpected events which had led to my second
arrival at Shorapoor; but they told me that for
more than a year past they had lived in perpetual
alarm at the conduct of the Rajah, who seemed
to have become quite deranged by constant in-
toxication.

In the evening 1 went to sce the Ranees, who
had assembled at the house of the father of the
¢ldest Rance, close to the palace. As may be
imagined, it was a sad and trying scene for us
Al T could not either console them or hold out
any hope that the Rajah’s life would be spared.
They had, too, lost all they possessed, except the
few ornaments they wore.  When the Rajah had
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desired them to escape the night he fled, they had
gone out by the northern gate on foot, and made
the best of their way to villages, where they were
sheltered by the people. Some few women-servants
followed them ; but when they heard the Rajah
had gone to Hyderabad, and was a prisoner, they
took advantage of & proclamation issued by Cap-
tain Campbell, and ventured back to Shorapoor—
not to the palace, as that-was occupied by troops
and soldiers, but to the house where 1 found them.
Some of their clothes had been sent to them, but
everything valuable was declared prize property,
and was confiscated.

When the ladies grew more calm, I told them
about my interviews with the Rajah, and the
various messages he had sent to them. They had
almost expected to have heard before now of his
public execution.

“I could not save him, appa,” cried Rungama,
the chief Ranee, whom I had petted as a child—
“I could not save him; he was quite mad of late,
drinking brandy those horrible men gave him con-
stantly, which made him furious. Then, when he
was quiet, he used to lay his head in my lap, and
call for you, and tell me he knew he should lose
the Sumusthan, but that he would die like a
soldier at the gates if the city were attacked.
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Again and again we all implored him to go to
you, but we did not know you were so far away;
and he always said if he left, the Rohillas and
Arabs would plunder the city, becanse he owed
them so much—and so he stayed.”

According to an arrangement made with the
Resident, T issued a general amnesty to all except
certain persons who had been leaders and exciters
of this most miserable rebellion. The people of
the city and of the suburbs were still in the vil-
lages to which they had fled ; but now they re-
turned. All the shops were opened ; and in a few
days the markets were full, and firewood, fruit,
and vegetables were as plentiful as ever. Captain
Wyndham’s company occupied the palace, and
were ordered to secure all valuables as “ prize.”
My house was tenanted by a company of the
74th Highlanders. The troops of all arms had
cotered the city; but though property of every
kind had been summarily looted, the people had
remained unmolested.

In the treasury there remained nothing except
a few State jewels; others had been hurriedly
secreted, but were returned by those who had
them in charge. I do not think a single article
was missing, and any coin found had become
prize-money.
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I deeply regretted that all the old records had
been cither burnt or destroyed, — letters from
former kings of Becjapoor and Beeder, Rajahs of
Beejanugger ; of the Emperor Aurungzeeb, with
the impress of his large hand dipped in sandal-
wood ; of the Peshwahs, and others. Great por-
tions of these I had already translated, and had
intended to continue when I should have leisure,
hoping to complete a very interesting historical
State paper; but all were gone now.

The Resident allowed me to draw on the Resi-
dency treasury for as much as I required, and 1
got bills cashed as they were wanted for current
expenditure. Many of the patells and heads of
villages came in during the first week and as-
sured me as to the cultivation of the country,
and that such of the newly-cleared land as could
be managed would be taken up at once; so alto-
gether there seemed a fair prospect of revenue.

The investigation upon the occurrences which
led to the rebellion was cut short as much as
possible. There was no good in raking up old
scores, especially as the Rajah, as chief of all,
had been the one responsible, and he was on
his trial at Hyderabad. Theie was one man, a
Mussulman of Hyderabad, who had preached a
holy war at Shorapoor, and had been the insti
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gator-in-chief of much trouble, and who, in con-
cert with a wicked Brahmin whom I remem-
bered, Krishna Shastree, pretended to miracnlous
power and divination. These two had, by their
false prophecies and mischicvous counsels, de-
luded the Rajah more than any others; and, as
dangerous characters, were worthy of death, or at
least transportation for life.

The Brahmin eluded all pursuit, and disap-
peared. The Mussulman, however, was appre-
hended after some time at Hyderabad, and sent
to me for trial, when evidence was produced
conclusive as to the projected murder of Captain
Campbell, in which he was to have taken an
active part; and his own treasonable conspira-
cies being distinctly proved, he was condemned
to death. The sentence was confirmed by the
Resident, and he was publicly hanged at Shora-
poor.

The great interest of the time was centred in
the Rajuh’s fate. There was no doubt, had he
been taken in arms during the attack by Wynd-
ham’s force, that he would have been at once
tried and summarily executed—and cven now
there secemed bt small chance of his life; but
the Resident wrote to me saying he thought, if
I asked it, the Rajah’s life might be granted,
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especially if T explained with what ruffians he
had been sarrounded, and how misled.

I sent an “express” at once with an earnest
appeal for merey.

A few hours after my arrival in Shorapoor the
old Brahmin priest came to me privately.

“Do you remember, Sahib,” he asked, “ what
I once told you, and what the Rance said wheu
we were with her at her bedside ¢7

¢ Perfectly,” I answered ; “you said the Rajah
would not live to eomplete his twenty-fourth
year, and that he would lose his country.”

“Yes, Sahib,” he went on; “part of the pre-
diction is already fulfilled, and the rest will
surely follow-—it is quite inevitable.”

“Do you think the Rajah knew of the predic-
tion?” I inquired. “If he did, it may have
made him reckless,”

“I do not think he knew it,” replied the old
priest ; “for the last time I saw the box it was
in the treasury, with the seals unbroken, as you
left it.”

(Captain Wyndham had secured the box, and
kept the horoscope with the rolls of calculations
as a curiosity, not knowing their purport.)

“We cannot say,” I continued, “ what may yet
happen ; the proceedings are not over, and the
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Resident, and I are both determined to save the
Rajalvs life if we can.”

“[t’s no use, Sahib,” returned the Shastree,
shaking his head mournfully ; “your intentions
arc merciful, but you are helpless before his fate.
He will die—how, we may not see; but he must
die--he cannot live. You, Sahib, and I, are the
only two living that possess this secret, and you
must be so good as to tell me directly you know
his sentence. I cannot believe: that the Govern-
ment will spare him. T firmly expect that he
will be blown away from a gun.”

When the Resident’s letter came, I sent for the
old Shastree and read it to him, and also my own
strong appeal in veply.  “I hope the Rajal’s life
is now safe,” I said. “Listen to what I have
written, The Governor-General, who is kind
and merciful, will scarcely refuse this request,
supported by the Resident.”

The old man shook his head sadly. “Till the
last day has passed to which the calculation ex-
tends, I have no hope,” he said; “it cannot be
wrong, and but little time remains. It grieves
me, Sahib, to go over the figures again, but the
present aspect of the planets is very calamitous
to the Rajah, and all through next month the
combinations show extreme danger. We can-
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not help him, and you have done all you could ;
you can do no more—only wait” So we did,
anxiously.

From the time I had quitted Shorapoor, no reg-
ular accounts appeared to have been made up ;
but I had been joined by my old head accountant,
Sceta Ram Rao, now Assistant Deputy-Commis-
sioner, to whom I could offer better pay, and who
was rejoiced to serve again  under me. He knew
all about the revenues of Shorapoor, and could
help materially. A schiedule of the whole period
of the Rajah’s administration was drawn out, and
the result was that three and a half lakhs, or
£35,000, of new debt had been contracted, while
every rupee of the former surplus had altogether
disappeared.

We had much to do in revising district ac-
counts ; but all was progressing well, and my life
was a very pleasant one. 1 had charming com-
panions in Wyndham and his wife, who became
my very dear friends, and our love and friend-
ship will continue while life lasts. They were
interested in all my doings, and it used to be a
great delight to me to show them all my roads
and the improvements I had made during my
residence at Shorapoor. The roads were sadly
out of repair, but we scrambled over them on
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horseback, and I soon had them put to rights
again.

I could not get back my house while the 74th
remained ; but I held my cucherry in the hos-
pital, and was constructing a large, airy, thatched
barrack for the soldiers.

At last the news came.

The Rajah of Shorapoor had been sentenced to
death ; but the Resident had commuted his sen-
tence to transportation for life, which was the
most his power admitted of. ~ This sentence had,
however, been still further commuted by the
Governor - (fencral to four years’ imprisonment
in a fortress near Madeas (I think Chingleput).
In addition, the Rajah was to be allowed to
have such of his wives as he pleased with him,
and his own servants. - If he showed evidence of
reform and steadiness, his principality was to be
restored to him.

I sent off at once for the Shastree.

“ Listen,” said I, “to the gracious and merci-
ful determination of the Governor-General. The
Rajal’s life is safe; and if he is quiet and steady
for four short ycars, he will regain his State !
What could be more considerate or more lenient ?
What becomes now of the prophecy 2 Thisletter
proves it is false.”
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“] wigh I could think so, Sahib,” he sighed,
“and that my poor young master were really
safe; but, alas! he is in the greatest danger.
Nay, it seems closer than ever now ; but we shall
sce, Sahib. Sometimes a merciful God puts away
the evil omens just as the fulfilment of them
is imminent. I will go and tell the Rance this
good news, I only wish the time were past, and
that I could be happy in- it too.”

The Ranee would hardly believe the message I
sent her. She and the other Rances were to join
the Rajah almost dirveetly, and were to make their
preparations at once. :

The head Rance, Rungama, asked me to come
to her; and when I entered, quite regardless of
etiquette, she threw herself into my arms, and
danced about in the wildest glee. She had ex-
pected the news of her husband’s death when she
saw the old Shastrec come into her rooms, and
the revulsion of feeling was almost too much for
her. She and one other Ranee were to go. The
third was no favourite with the Rajah.

A few days after, the Resident’s order finally
came that the ladies were to be sent off on a cer-
tain day to meet the Rajah a. Kurnool. Every-
thing had been already prepared ; there need be
no delay ; and I intended them to start that very
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afternoon. 1 took leave of them both in the
morning, and had settled down to my work after
breakfast was over. It chanced to be a day
set apart for the arrangement of yearly allow-
ances and gifts to Brahmins, and all the chief
Brahmins were present, and the old Shastree
among them. Several were seated at the table
with me, assisting me, when suddenly I heard
the clash of the expresssrunncy’s bells coming up
the street. I thought it might be some message
from Linsoogoor, or some new arrangement for
the Ranees’ departure. The runnecr entered the
palace court, and bis packet was soom in my
hands. 1t contained a few lines only, from the
Restdent :—

“The Rajah of Shorapoor shot himself this
morning dead, as he awived at his fivst encamp-
ment. [ will write particulars when I know
them.”

My countenance naturally changed; and the
old Shastrce, who was beside me, and had been
reading over Sanserit deeds and grants to me,
caught hold of my arm, and, pecring into my
face, eried, almost with a shriek—-

“ He's dead ! he’s dead! I know it by your
face—it tells me, Sahib, he's dead!”

“Yes,” I said, sorrowfully. “ Yes, he is dead ;
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he shot himself at the first stage out of Secun-
derabad, and died instantly.”

Then ensued a sad scene of weeping and wail-
ing ; and one of my friends in the adjoining room,
hearing the tumult, rushed in, erying, “Thank
God, you are safe! I feared something terrible
had happened. Why are these people so agi-
tated 2”7

“It is terrible enough,” I answered. “The
Rajah has shot himself, and the news has just
come by express.”

“ Ah 1” said the old priest, as soon as he could
speak, “he could mot escape his fate, and the
propheey is fulfilled.”

Tt was, indeed, a strange accomplishment of the
prediction. In a few days more the Rajah would
have completed his twenty-fourth year; and now
he had died by bis own hand! I sent for the
Ranee’s father, and bade him break the news
gently to his daughter. [ could not bear to sec
the poor girl’s misery, and I should have to visit
her later ; so he and an old friend ¢f his departed
to perform their sad task.

The day after, I heard by another express the
particulars.  The Rajah had heen told of the
Governor-General’s commutation of his sentence,
and was very deeply grateful for the mercy shown
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to him. He had promised carncstly to try and
deserve the consideration which had been ex-
tended him, and was particularly pleased that
he was to be allowed the society of his two
Ranees, speaking joyously of the prospect of
meetiug them at Kurnool,

He had travelled in a palankeen, with the officer
cornmending his escort near him, all the way to
their camy.

When they arvived, the officer took off his belt,
in which was a loaded revolver, hung it over a
chair, and went outside the tent. While washing
his face a moment afferwards, he heard a shot,
and, running back, found the Rajah lying on the
ground quite dead.  The ball had entered his
stomach and passed through the spine.

Was the act intentional? T think not. Ile
had a trick always of taking up and examining
everything lying near him, more especially if it
were new to him; and he had had this habit
from childhood, and I had often checked him for
it. 1 do not “hink he could ever have seen a re-
volver-—and such a weapon would be too tempt-
ing to escape notice ; he would be sure to snap it,
or meddle with the 1ock, and the pistol may have
exploded without his intending it at all. No one
was with him-—mno one saw him,~—so that only
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conjectures could be raised about the event; but
I, who knew him well, do not believe it was
suicide.

Whether accidental or intentional, the result
was the same. The Rajah was dead, and his
kingdom was lost, ere he completed his twenty-
fourth year; and the grim old prophecy deduced
from the horoscope was literally fulfilled !
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CHAPTER XVI.
185859,

Towagps the end of May, Lord Elphinstone and
the Resident had both been extremely anxious in
regard to Shorapoor and its Beydur population.
[t had transpired at the Rajah’s trial, and had
previoasly been suspeeted, that certain chiefs of
the Southern Mahratta country had formed a
plan for insurrection ; but as the Rajah had re-
fused to give any nameg, or to implicate others in
any way, no action could be taken : and the Rajah
simply pleaded in his defence that he had refused
to join the rebellion when invited and pressed to
do so. General Jacob had taken the precaution,
very wisely, of disarming Mecraj, a very strong
fort ; and his admirable check of formidable re-
bellion at Kolapoor, and the active measures he
used, effectually crushed the hopes of the insur-
rectionists, I have little doubt that had the
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Rajah gone to the assistance of the Beydurs of
Hulgully when they asked his aid, the whole of
the Southern Mahratta country and Raichore
would have joined him in far greater force than
they afterwards displayed when they rose at last
on the 20th May 1858, under the chief of Mir-
goona, and openly murdered Mr Thomson, a
Bombay civilian, who had ventured to remon-
strate with them.

The force was afterwards attacked by Colonel
Malcolm and utterly routed on the 2d June: their
chief was captured, tried, and exccuted.

Another rising was planned by one Bheem Rao,
formerly a Government collector at Bellary, who
with 250 men took up his position in the fort
of Kopaldroog, but was pursued and killed by
Major Hughes and a detachment from Linsoo-
goor. The remaiunder of the rebels were taken
prisoners, and cither hanged or shot.

There werc many such parties in the Deccan ;
and I confess that, when [ heard of these troubles,
I wondered what my Beydurs would do: but they
had received sufficient warning in the fate of their
Rajah and in the prompt discomfiture of their re-
bellious neighbours, and not a man stirred or show-
ed the slightest sign of insubordination. They
even assisted me materially in guarding the fron-
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tier, and the ferries across the Bheema, against the
insurgents who tried to pass through Shorapoor.
The Arabs of Hyderabad employed by the late
Rajah were satisfied that the Beydurs would soon
join them if they conld only enter the country,
und were not a little discomfited to find these
very people guarding their country against their
entrance. o, finding they could get no sympathy,
all distwrbance ceased; and we were once more at
peace ; and 1 could assure Lowd Elphinstone, with
whomz I had beer in private correspondence, that
no apprehension of the Beydurs being induced to
join the rebel party need be entertained.

The victories won by Sir 1lugh Rose, that of
Gwalior, and the death of the Ranee of Jhaunsi,
the capture of the Nawab of Banda and his trea-
sure, Sir Hope Grant’s proceedings in Oudh, and
the scizure of Tantia Topee—all these went to
prove that the power of the Mutiny was broken,
and that India would soon be at peace in all its
borders.

How earncstly 1 had looked forward to this
year as the one in which I should again sce all
my dear ones in England ! but now leave was
impossible to obtwn, and indeed no one would
have asked it, except it were urgently nceded for
health’s sake.  Fortunately I was in too good con-
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dition to ask for a medical certificate, though at
times T had much suffering. My father proposed
to bring my children to me; but in my present
posmon 1 felt it would hardly do. I had no
home for them ; my work was of a very unsettled
nature, and the country was still very mneh dis-
turbed. T consulted the Resident ; but he earn-
estly begged me not to risk such a step, adding
that he knew [ sorely needed change, and it was
better to wait another year, when leave could be
obtained without diffieulty. T felt he was right,
and a very serioug fit of illness in September
warned me that I shouwld soon need rest from
work; bat I recovered, and went o as usual again,

Authentic ghost-stories are eomparatively rare;
but a circumstance occurred at Shorapoor which
made a great impression on men’s minds, and may
be accepted as one.

There were two companies of the 74th High-
landers at Shorapoor with Colonel Hughes’s force.
After the place was taken, one company was
located, as I have before stated, in my house on
the hill, the other remaining in camp below the
town, till they should return to Bellary., One
afternoon—1 have forgotten the date—Capt.

]

the senior officer, was sitting in his tent writing
letters for England, as the mail letters had to be
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forwarded by that evening’s post, and had had
the side wall of his tent opened for light and air,
when o young man of his company appeared sud-
denly before him in his hospital dress, without
his cap, and, without saluting him, said, “1 wish,
sir, yon would kindly have my arrcars of puy
sent tc my mother, who lives at ——; please
take dewn the address.”  Capt. —— took down
the adidress mechanically; and said, < All right,
my man, that will-do;” and, again making no
salute, the man went away. A moment after,
Capt. ——— remembered that the dress and ap-
pearance of the soldicr, and his manner of coming
in, were highly irregular, and desired his orderly
to send the sergeant to him dirvectly.

“ Why did you allow —— to come to me in
that irrcgular manner 7”7 he asked, as soon as the
sergeant came,

The man was thunderstruck. *“ Sir,” he ex-
claimed, “do you not remember he died yester-
day in hospital, and was buried this morning ?
Are you sure, sir, you saw him ?”

“(Quite sure,” was the reply ; “and here is a
memorandum [ took down from him of his mo-
ther’s address. to whom he wished his pay should
be sent.”

“ That is strange, sir,” said the sergeant ; “his
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things were sold by auction to-day, and T could
not find where the money should be sent in the
company’s registry, but it may be in the general
registry with the regiment.”

The books were secarched ; the address taken
down was proved to be correct, and the circum-
stance made a profound impression upon all who
knew the facts.

These Highlanders were eapital fellows—very
steady in a town where therc were all sorts of
temptations to excess.  As the weather grew
cooler, they got up a play—a mclodrama—called,
[ think, “ The Mantae Lover,” and acted it well
in the cucherry,  Many of the Shorapoor
“gentry ” and their wives being invited, the lat-
ter sat ensconced behind bamboo screens; and
although no word could be understood, the na-
tives applauded very vigorously. 1 wrote a
ballad, entitled the “ Battle of Shorapoor,” with a
very long string of verses, which became exceed-
ingly popular, and detailed the march of the
troops, the fight, with various incidents, and the
final discomfiture of the rebels; and this was
constantly sung with great spirit, all joining in
the chorus. The men had also games of cricket,
skittles, &e., to amuse them, and some were even
fond of chess.
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The officers were pleasant companions, and we
generally dined together. They were succeeded
by a company of H.M.’s 56th Regiment in June.

I laid out a new road into the town, which
was about 24 feet wide and about a mile long,
leading from the alley up to the north gate. Its
deepest gradient was 17 in 257, and along it carts
and pack-bullocks could travel casily. My plan-
tations of mango and tamarind trees were gener-
ally thriving, and the oldest ones were now bear-
ing fruis. Bohnal tank required no repairs, and
was quite complete in all respects ; but as to the
others, nothing had been done, except a little at
Kuchaknoor. No outlay npon public works had
been permitted sinee I left.

By June all the arrangements of estates and
pensions were reported as finished.  There were
objections to the Ranees recciving their estates
back again, for the present at any rate ; but an
allowance of £1000 a-ycar was settled on Run-
gama, and pensions on the other ladies in pro-
portion. Rungama was very grateful ; she did not
expect half so much. I often paid her a visit,
and she was gradually growing more cheerful
and resigned.

The year closed pleasantly to me, though 1
could not get leave to England ; but as soon as
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ever the prohibitions were withdrawn, I was pre-
pared to ask for it. The survey in Nuldroog was
to be carried on according to my plan, as an ex-
periment, although my present duties did not ad-
mit of my taking up the surveyorship.

The Governor-General was pleased to record
of me that “ Captain Meadows Taylor has been
deputed to Shorapoor, where his past experience
and local knowledge make his presence most in-
valuable.”

It was not yet decided who should take my
place at Nuldroog.  Mr Malthy had been obliged
to go to England; and my friend Bullock was
acting for him-—without any hope, however, of
obtaining the appointment permanently, as it was
far too good for an ‘‘ uncovenanted servant” to
aspire to! We had all hoped that the gracious
proclamation issued on her Majesty’s assumption
of the Government of India, which I had the
pleasure of reading in Oordoo and Mahratta to
the people of Shorapoor, would have extended to
us, and done away with the invidious distinctions
“ covenanted ” and “uncovenanted ;7 but it was
not to be so.

At the close of the year I had a visit from the
executive engineer in the Raichore district, who
came to look at my contemplated works, and
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checked the levels and suwrveys of the great
Kuchaknoor tank. There was a slight error of
fourteen- hundredths of a foot detected in the
outward bench-marks of the embankment ; but in
all other respects my work, even with the imper-
fect instruments I had used, was entirely correct.
I proposed to go on and complete the tank; but
until some decision was come to about the prin-
cipality, no public work of mugnitudo could be
attempted. The Resident had gone up to Cal-
cutta to confer with Leord Canning, and perhaps
the fate of Shorapoor would he decided by them.
However, in the end, it was left unecertain.

A very unpleasant affair had taken place at
Hyderabad. At a reccption which the Nizam had
held, and at which the Minister and the Resident
had both been present, a man had fired a loaded
pistol either at the Resident or the Minister, who
were coming out together. It could not be de-
termined for whom the shot was intended. ¥or-
tunately the ball missed both, but wounded the
Minister’s foster-brother, The ruffian then drew
his sword and made a cut at the Minister, which
an attendant received upon his arm, and the
villain was immediately cut down by Captain
Hastings Fraser and others standing by. The
scene had been exciting and disagreeable, and
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showed plainly that the germs of trcason were
not yet destroyed. There was, however, no fur-
ther disturbance.

I could get no satisfactory answer to my appli-
cation for furlough to England, being answered
that, as soon as the question of the Shorapoor
State was decided, I should know my fate ; and
meanwhile, if it were at all possible, I was to
hold on.

At the beginning of May 1859 [ had finished
my tour of the distriet, and made a scttlement for
the current year. The country was in a wretched
condition. A great mass of the cultivation had
been thrown up the year before. The farmers
had been deprived of their best lands by the
Rajah, who had given them to his favourites.
There were no proper accounts, and the whole
was in worse confusion than when I had first
taken over charge. Numbers of families had emi-
grated in disgust. I could give very little assur-
ance to any, as to future settlements ; and, indeed,
I was forbidden to do so, for Government was
still silent as to the destiny of the State.

I did what I could, but it amounted to very
little. The people would not invest their capital
unless the country were to remain under British
rule, and I could not conscientiously counsel them
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to do so. “Dircetly you went away the last
time,” they said, “ the men about the Rajah chose
the best of our newly-cleared lands, and they
were taken from us and given to them. True,
you have now given them back to us; but can
you assure us that the same won’t happen again if
your back is turned ?  Let us wait and see what
will happen.”

No change occurred -in my position until
August, when, in addition to Shorapoor, the
whole of the Raichore Doab was put under my
charge ; and as Raichore had been deeply dis-
affected, [ was desived to yeport upon its con-
dition specially. 1 did not relish this employ-
ment ; and I began to fear, too, that this accession
to my duties would prevent my going to England,
as [ bad hoped to do, the year following. 1 was
now bv no means strong, and I looked to the
future with grave anxiety. With Raichore and
Shorapoor combined, T should have a country
quite 20,000 squarc miles in arca under my
jurisdiction, and a population hardly under, per-
haps exceeding, two millions. There was but
one English assistant, with four native assistants,
in Raichore : but my assistant in Shorapoor, Seeta
Ram Rao, was a host in himself, and 1 could trust
that provinee to him with every confidence.
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It appeared, too, that I was to receive no ad-
ditional pay for my extra work; but there was no
help for it. The order came, and was obeyed
with the best grace I could command.

I went to Linsoogoor for a few days, and there
performed the sad and painful task of reading
the burial service over a dear friend’s wife, who
had died suddenly, and who expressed a wish that
I should be the one to perform this last sad office
for her. T could not stay long, but simply took
charge of the province, returning again to Shora-
poor to investigate a trial for murder—a very
difficult and complicated ease, which no one but
myself could dispose of = Captain and Mrs
Wyndham accompanied me, and remained till
October, when we moved out to Bohnal, to
begin my tour.

It was a delightful time, cool and pleasant.
There had been a good monsoon, and the lake was
full and running over. We had charming rides
every morning over the roads, both old and new,
and which were now as smooth as gravel-walks.

After a fortnight spent at Bohnal, where the
schooner was in capital order and in constantg
use, we set out for the western frontier, so as
to visit the great falls of the Krishna, which I
wanted to show my friends. I took them also
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to the cairns and cromlechs I had discovered,
and we all enjoyed our holiday at the falls most
thoroughly.,

Here the great river Krishna leaves the table-
land of the Deccan, and falls, by a descent of 408
feet in about three miles, into the lower level of
Shorapoor.  The fall itself is not perpendicular,
but becomes a roaring cataract half a mile broad
when the river is in flood. . The scene then is in-
describably grand, an enormous broken volume of
water rashing down au incline of granite with a
roar thati can be easily heard at a distance of thirty
miles, and a cloud of spray dashing up high inte
the air; while the icregularity of the incline, its
huge rocks, and the deep holes which the waters
have excavated, inerease the wonderful effect of
the cataract, and brilliant rainbows flash through
the spray, changing with every breath of wind.
Finally, the water falls into a deep pool, which
becores & whirling mass covered with billows
that, rushing in every direction, eclash and
break against each other, sending up great piles
of foam, As a Beydur standing beside me said,
“1It is like all the white horses in the world fight-
ing together, and vossing their manes into the
air.”  Nor was the simple fellow’s illustration
without point.
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I had never scen such a sight during my life,
and perhaps few cataracts in the world can sur-
pass it, when in flood, for sublimity and beauty.

I believe few English people have visited this
spot. [, at least, have never met any traveller
who had heard of it. When we were there, the
water was lower than on my first visit; but the
effect of the fall, the rocky gorge below clothed
with wood, and the grand old fort at the end,
partly Hindoo and partly Mussulman, was very
beautiful.

Our route lay across the ford, which was a
memorable spot in history, when the Mussulman
army crossed to engage that of Beejanugger in the
battle which was fought on the south bank of the
Krishna in 1565, The ford had been carried
by a bold stratagem, . The Mussulman leaders
marched slowly up the left bank of the river for
two days, watched by the Hindoo troops, who
left the ford almost unguarded. The Mussul-
mans then doubled back, carried the defences of
the ford by storm, and the whole army followed.
By this utter defeat of their opponents, the Mus-
sulmans gained possession of the city of DBee-
janugger and the whole of the northern portion
of the kingdom,

We found the remams of the defences still
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quite traceable at the ford, and corresponding in
all respeets with the description given by Fer-
ishta. I'rom hence to Linsoogoor was only an
easy march, and we returned into cantonments.

At the end of October I started on my first
march to Moodgul. I dared not loiter longer, and
felt I must sce with my own eyes, and hear with
my own cars, before I could report specially upon
the district.

I found a good road to Moodgul, and the
canter in the fresh morning air was delicious.
Moodgul is a fine old fort, built upon a group
of granite rocks rising perhaps 100 feet above the
plain. It had been a bone of contention from
the carliest times of the DBahmany dynasty,
and alternately fell into the possession of the
Hindoos or the Mussulmans, whichever chanced
to be, for the time, the strongest party, Now it
was considerably ruined, but most picturesque,
and I explored it thoroughly.

I could only stay two days, and these were
mostly occupled in inquiring into a dispute
relating to a Christian scttlement there, which,
as it involved religious jurisdiction between his
Holiness the Pope and the Archbishop of Goa, I
was incompetent to decide. The congregation
were all weavers of blankets, and shepherds,

VOL. IL U
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originally converted by one of St Francis
Xavier's missionaries from Goa. It had been
somewhat richly endowed by the several kings
of the Adil Shahy dynasty of Beejapoor, and 1t
still retained these grants through all revolutions.
There were two other congregations in the Doab,
one being composed of potters at Raichore ; the
name of the place of the other I forget. The
church at Moodgul was a humble but respect-
able edifice, and service was performed by a
deacon, the Mass in full being cclebrated when a
priest came from Goa on bis rounds.

On my arrival some time after in Kngland, 1
wrote to his Fminence Cardinal Wiseman about
this congregation, furnishing him with all par-
ticulars respecting them, and received a court-
eous reply, to the cffect that my communication
was both valuable and extremely interesting, and
would be duly forwarded to Rome.

[ hoped next to visit the grand old city of
Beejanugger, and to add some sketches to my
collection. At the town of Kanakgherry the Rajah
came out to welcome me, and entertained me
most hospitably. Here I saw the finest Hindoo
temple I had yet visited. Tne interior was sup-
ported by huge pillars of granite, in the form of
horses, on which female figures were mounted ;
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the frieze and ceiling werce richly ornamented in
carving. I do not think it is much known, but
it well repays a visit.  After breakfast the Rajah
came to me, and Shorapoor and its affairs were
the subject of discussion. “Could T give any
hope,” he asked, “of its Dbeing restored to the
family ? would the DBritish keep 1t? or would
the Nizam have it 2"

I could say nothing, for nothing had been
determined upon. My friend, whom I had often
before seen at Shorapoor, deprecated the idea of
the Nizam having Shorapoor.

“Why should the people suffer more oppres-
sion ?7 he said.  “ Of course I would wish to see
it given back to the family—my relatives; but if
thuat may not be, why should the Nizam get it?
The 12,000 Beydurs would far prefer the just
rule of the English, and would not revert to their
evil ways under yon.”

Such was the old gentleman’s opinion, and I
agreed with him perfectly ; bhut T had no hope
of the restoranion of the family being allowed.
Pid Naik’s eldest son, who was the next heir,
was steady, sensible, and thoroughly loyal, hav-
ing opposed his cousin, the late Rajah, in all
his insurrectionary movements ; still, I thought
the British Government would eventually annex
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the State, as an example and a warning to all
others.

From Kanakgherry I went on to Anagoondy,
where the lincal descendant of the great Rajahs of
Beejanugger resided.  He had sent me a very press-
ing invitation to come and visit him, and volun-
teered to show all the marvels of Beejanugger to me
on my arrival.  Anagoondy, ¢ The Elephant’s
Corner,” had once been a suburb of Beejanugger,
and proved to be one of the most curious places I
had cver visited. "Fo the north was a perfectly in-
accessible range of bare granite hills, surmounted
by piles of fantastic roeks, along the tops of whicl
ran high walls, with bastions at intervals, in th
Hindoo style. The only entrance to this labs
rinth of rocks was through a very narrow gorge ¢
the eastern side, also strongly fortified by doub
walls and large bastions. [Passing round t -
corners of these walls, the ground opencd ou.
to some degree, and was cultivated, affording a
lovely view of the rugged hills on the south side
of the Tungabuddhra, a rough brawling river
rushing through the valley.

The Rajah had made a good road through his
estate, and showed me many points which afforded
exquisite views of wood, rock, and water, with
the mountains in the background ; and he always
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stopped the carriage at these places, to show me
the prospect, with cvident enjoyment. He was
‘driving a handsome light phacton, and met me
at the barrier. He was a fine active young man,
with a very pleasing and intelligent countenance,
and we were soon good friends. He had pre-
pared the porch of a temple on the bank of the
river for me, and I found an ample breakfast pro-
vided, and his own scrvants in attendance.

The situation of the town among these most
picturesque piles of rock was very curious. I
went to return the Rajal’s visit in the afternoon,
‘when he proposed to take me to his island in the
avening. I willingly agreed. I found his recep-

ion-room nicely furnished in the English style ;
ad we sat chatting pleasantly for a long time.
de seemed pleased to find me acquainted with
" 8 family history—their wars with the Mussul-
utans, and their final gallant struggle with the
crusade against them in 1565.

“ ALI" he said, “ my ancestor, Ram Raj, alone
would have beaten them back ; but the coalition
of four k:ngdoms of the Deccan proved too strong
for him. They are all gone now, and have left
no trace oxcept these cities—not a soul to pray
for their manes, or light a lamp in their name ;
while I still am here, and represent my great
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ancestors as their lineal descendant. 1 have only
the ¢ Elephant Corner ’ of the great city to live in,
it is troe ; but I am quite content, and the Nizam
allows me this corner and its dependencies, while
the English have granted me some lands on the
south bank of the river, and a pension.”

In the evening he came quite alone, poling a
small basket-boat.

“T always go down to the island by myself”
he said; “it is such good fun shooting the rapid ;
but T have men there to paddlc me up again in a
bigger hoat.”

I got into the little eraft, and he pushed off
into the stream, striking as dircetly across it as
the current would allow. We were soon drawn
into the rapid, and dashed on for a quarter of a
mile at great speed--the Rajah with his long
bamboo pole fending the boat from rocks on
either side very skilfully, and evidently intenscly
enjoying the excitement.

At the end of the shoot, we entered the still
water, where the island was situated-—a richly-
wooded spot, laid out as a garden in the English
style, well stocked with fruit-trees and a profu-
sion of roses and gardenias, whose scent filled the
evening air with perfume. In, the centre was a
pretty pavilion, also in the English style ; and this
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was, the Rajah told me, his favourite resort. There
were numbers of tame pea-fowl ; and at his pecu-
liar call some cranes and flamingoes, with geese
and ducks, all came flocking round us to be fed—
a motley and curious collection. “ These are my
pets,” said the Rajah, “and my children’s too.”

When it was growing dark, his gardeners
brought a large basket-boat to the landing-place,
and six stout fellows paddled us up the rapid to
my resting-place. T had spent a very interesting
day, and my host pressed me much to remain
some rime; but this was impossible—my tents
had alrecady gone on to Humpee on the south
bank of the river, where the old city commenced,
and [ had much to see there. “If you really
must go,” said the Rajah, * [ will take you there
myself in my large boat, and you will then sce
the views from the river, which arc very striking,
and more interesting than those on the road; but
I'wish you counld stay-—you are the only English-
man with whom [ ever felt on casy terms of
friendship ; and none of your people seem to
know or to remember who I am.”

The Rajah was punctual to the time appointed
next morning, and brought a stout crew with
him, as we should have to paddle up scveral
rapids ; and before sunrise we were off.
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It was a lovely voyage of several miles. At
cach bend of the beautiful river new prospects
opened, and new piles of granite rocks, some of
them 500 feet in height, came in view, fringed
with treces and brushwood, which softened their
grim outlines, and rendered the effects of light
and shade most charming. I took many sketches
from the water, while the Rajah looked on won-
deringly, and longed to be able to do so likewise.
At last the “ Gate of the River,” as it is called,
came in sight, where the stream lessens to a very
narrow pass, bounded by piles of rock of the most
fantastic forms imaginable ; and leaving our boat
at the landing-place, we walked up to the court-
yard of the great temple, in the cloisters of which
I found my servauts had taken up a comfortable
position, instead of pitching my tents.

“If T can, T will come to-morrow,” said the
Rajah ; “ but in any case, you must not go till I
return. I must be with you when you go over
the great temple.”

I promised I would stay, and he took his
leave.

After breakfast I ordered my palankecn, and
wundered over the western portions of the city.
I saw that the barricrs of rocks extended to the
south, forming a strong line of defence, the only
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aperture being a pass between them and the spurs
of the Raman Mullay Mountain. This was the
puss by which the Bahmany king, Mujahid Shah,
entered the lines of defence in 1378, and endeav-
oured to take the city ; but owing to the neglect
of one of his generals, who had been directed to
oceupy an eminence to the west of the city, which
wus the real key to the place, and who failed in
his duty, the king could only penetrate the first
line of defence, where a huge image of Hunoo-
man, the monkey-god, stands alone, carved out
of a great granite boulder.

The king, on seeing 1t surrounded by Brahmins,
charged and dispersed them ; then dismounting,
e struck the image with his stecl mace, breaking
off a portion of the right leg.

“ For this act,” cried a dying Brahmin, «thou
shalt dic before thou reach the city "—a prophecy
strictly fulfilled ; for King Mujahid was assassin-
ated on his march to Gulburgah. In Ferishta, a
vivid Jdescription is given of this battle ; and the
positions occupied by the contending parties are
so exactly mentioned, that they are, to this day,
easily traceable.

I spent all the day sketching. The Rajah’s
sleepiug-palace was a curious conception of Mus-
sulman-Gothic architecture, the upper rooms of
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which would make a delightful residence if purged
from the bats, swallows, and wild-pigeons’ nests.
The fine tower, with a Gothic pavilion at the top,
from whence there is a glorious view ; the ele-
phant stables and treasury, still perfect; and
the ruins of the Rajah’s palaces, and their court-
yards, which are very extensive—with a host of
other picturesque scenes, and masses of ruins,~—
gave me more than enough to do with my peneil

and my brush. Beejanugger is well described by
the Nawab Abd-ul Buzzak, a Persian merchant,
who visited the city in 1443, and resided there.
His account of the population and general aspect
of the city, the rcligious ceremonials, and the
splendour of the king’s court, are very graphic
and eminently truthful. The journal has been
translated for the ITakluyt Society, and well re-
pays perusal. I have described the temple in a
volume published by Mr Murray on the < Temples
of Western India,” and I endeavoured to extract
my information from the most authentic sources.
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CHAPTER XVIL
185960,

Avrer breakfast; the Rajah arrived in his chair,
which he insisted upon my using, while he took
my palankeen instead; and we set off for the
temple which had becn built by his ancestor,
Achoot Rao, in 1534-36. Anything more ex-
quisitely  beantiful, or so wondrously finished,
conld hardly be coneeived-—cxcept, perhaps, the
temple of Nundidroog, which even excels this
in som» particulars ; but that of Kanakgherry,
which T had considered very marvellous, sinks
into insignificance befove this.

Lofty pihars of granite support the roof, carved
out of solid blocks of stone; some of these are
fashioned like horses or lions ; on the horses’ backs
ride female fiqures : others have rows of slender
figures round them, cut away from the main
stem, giving a graceful airy effect, which is very
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charming. Every portion of the interior is covered
with rich, minute carving, and some parts were
polished like glass.

QOutside, the basement eonsists of rows of cle-
phants, above these run several conrses of different
ornaments of elegant patterns, The projecting
eaves of the cornices are likewise elaborately
carved ; and the whole presented an appearance
of extreme lightness and grace, which I had not
before noticed in any Hindoo edifice. Tippoo Sul-
tan, when encamped near Becjanugger, had had a
mine sprung in the roof, in the hope of destroying
the building ; but it had only made a small hole,
and Tippoo then said he had been warned in a
dream not to attempt to destroy the holy temple.
The deity to whom it was dedicated was “ Withual ”
or Krishna, and it had been the intention of one
of the Rajah’s ancestors to have removed the holy
image from Pundharpoor to it, as being a more
appropriate dwelling-place ; the god, however,
refused to stir, and, in consequence, the building
has never been fully conscerated.

Close to the exterior of the temple there is
what appeared to me to be a richly-ornamented
triumphal car, to be used on testivals ; but this
proved to be also of granite—a great boulder
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having been wrought as it stood into the perfect
resemblance of a car, the wheels of which seemed
only to require a push to make them turn, so well
was the carving exceuted.

I had felt ill all day, and at last, in the middle
of my drawing, such violent fever and ague came
on as obliged me to give it up very unwillingly;
and as the attack lasted some hours, my sketching
came to an untimely end, and | was unable to see
the remainder of the temple or the east side of the
city.

However, before the fever began, I had managed
to ascend the “Matun Purwut,” a stupendous
pile of rocks, by the stone steps which had been
cut in them ; my bearers easily carried my chair
—and from the top—an elevation probably of five
hundred feet—1I had enjoyed 2 magnificent view.
The whole area of the old city lay spread out
before me—the noble temples, and their lines of
building—the ranges of fantastic rocks piled on
all sides—the course of the river, for miles above
and below toe “ Gate "—and the blue Raman Mul-
lay Mountains, and their varied spurs, stretching
away to the south.

The Rajah pointed out to me all the objects of
interest—the battle-fields of Mujahid Shah, and
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the Lake of Cumlapoor, glittering in the bright
sunlight. It was indeed a magnificent panorama,
and one never to be forgotten.

I was very sorry to say farewell to the Rajah,
whose genuine and most courteous hospitality
and agreeable manuers had made a great impres-
sion upon me. I had been told I should find him
haughty and repellent: on the contrary, he was
entirely free from presumption, full of information
and intelligence, active and manly in his habits,
and of very prepossessing appearance—iIn cvery
respect a “ gentleman,”—and I was glad I had
gone out of my way to visit him.

I stayed a day longer to recruit after my fit of
fever, and went again to the great temple, and
to the avenuc of pilgrim’s cloisters, and so round
to the palace of the kings and its surroundings,
all of the highest interest. The palaces could
never have equalled those of Beejapoor: there
were no arches, and the roof had evidently been
made of wood, covered with concrete, and sup-
ported on wooden pillars. These had either been
destroyed on the spot or carried away, as no ves-
tige of them remained. There was nothing to
compare with the fort at Beejapoor. The de-
fences of Beejanugger were mean and weak in
comparison ; and the ancient Rajahs, who had
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built the city, had evidently trusted more to the
natural strength of the position than to the work
raised by men's hands.

One Cesar Federicke, a Venetian merchant,
gives a very interesting description of the city in
1565. after the residence there of the victorious
Mussulman kings for six months, e says . —

“The city was not altogether destroyed, but
houses still stand cinpty, and there are dwelling
in them nothing but tigers and other wild beasts.
The encernte of the city is about four-and-twenty
miles, and within the walls are several mountains.
The houses stand walled with carth, and no place,
saving the palaces of the three tyrants and the
pagodas, other than made with earth.”

Evidently, therefore, the city was exactly the
sarne as the Hindoo habitations of the present
day,—the walls of houses being of mud, or clay
and stone, and the roofs of clay beaten down—
very substantial as long as the roof is good, but
which erumbles away on the percolation of water.

In the large volume which illustrates the
‘Temples of Western India,” which I have before
alluded to, many fine photographic illustrations
of Becjanugger will be found, and the views of
the temple of Withul or Wittoba are especially
worthy of examination.
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From Beejanugger T ascended the pass through
the Raman Mullay Mountain by a beautiful road
constructed by the Madras engineers, at an casy
oradient the vhole way up. T was well enough
now to ride, and cnjoyed the lovely scencry to
the full. At the top I found a nearly level plain,
and a total zhange of climate from India to
Burope. Ramandroog is, I believe, about 4000
feet above the sca-levelyand its elimate is deli-
cious throughout the year. - Jiven during the
hottest scason the sea-breeze makes its way up,
and there is no oppressive heat. Here there is
a sanitarium, and I had sent word to the medical
officer in charge that I was coming up for advice.
I well remember we had to have a fire lighted
that evening as it was so chilly, and that we sat
over it till a late hour most thoroughly enjoying
it. How I slept that night ! All the evil demons
that had been tormenting me—mneuralgia, rheum-
atism, and all their doleful train, vanished as if by
magic with the change of air. The doctor said
I had been too long without a thorsugh change
and rest from work, and that therc was nothing
for it but to take furlough and go home to Eng-
land as soon as I could. He would not answer
for my life, he said, if T vemained at Shorapoor
through another hot season. 1 enjoyed some
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days at Ramandroog very much; my strength
and appetite returnced; I felt fresh vigour and
renewed health, and could take a good long
walk without fatigue. However, I might not
stay; time was precious, and I set off again to
my work,

I went to Koorgah, where my tents were
pitched, and where there was a fine ancient weir
for irrigation, which required repair on my side,
the avthorities of Bellary having alrcady restored
their portion. The old Rajahs of Becjanugger had
been great constructors of irvigation works from
time to time, had thrown several dams across the
Tungabhudra river, and had diverted the various
streams so as to cmploy them cxtensively for the
cultivation of rice, sugar-cane and cocoa- nut,
ginger, turmeric, and other produce. At Koorgah
the constructor had been Achoot Rao, and the
inseription bore date 1537. This dam consisted
for the most part of large loose blocks of granite,
placed together on a broad hase in a triangular
form, and which had gradually become consoli-
dated by silt. Many noble tanks, too, had been
constructed by the Beejanugger dynasty, the
largest being nearly three square miles in arca.

My district work now fairly began, and was
fearfully heavy, while the petitions against one

VOL. 1L X
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grievance or another became almost too numer-
ous to attend to or settle at all as I could wish.
Here the fever returned, and I could only do my
work lying on my bed, for I was too weak to sit
up much, and I began to fear I should soon fail
utterly.

For change I went further north to Kopal-
droog, a marvellous fort indeed, being entirely
impregnable. It consists of two fortifications,
one, encircling the town, which had been re-
modelled by the French engineers in Tippoo’s
service, and all the bastions and cavaliers fitted
with embrasures, and ramparts for heavy guns ;
the other fortification being of the great granite
rock within the enceinte, the batteries of which
command every portion of the land below on all
sides to a great distance.

This hill-fort must be upwards of 500 feet high,
and is inaccessible except by a flight of very rude
rough steps which wind in and out among the
rocks, and arc in some places extremely narrow
and unsafe. How many guns were ever carried
up, it is impossible to say, but therc were several
old ones in the upper batteries. I went up this
rock once, my bearers having contrived a light
conveyance out of an arm-chair, and I travelled
along easily. Had the insurgent Bheem Rao con-
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fined himself to operations against villages, he
would have done much mischief, and roused the
people, who seemed ripe for insurrection ; but he
got possession of Kopaldroog by a stratagem, and
found himself there in a trap. He could not hold
so large a place, and his party betook themselves
to the steps of the fort, where many, including
the Rajah himself, were slain, and the rest were
forced to surrender at diserction, for they had no
fond. 1 found the summit of this rock was com-
posed of a large circular battery, and below it
some deep cisterns in the naked rock contained
beautiful clear water, About three miles south
of Kopaldroog lay another rock-fort, if possible
even stronger and more difficult of access, but
not so high, and equally well provided with water
i1 the same manner.

At Kookanoor, near the border of the Dharwar
Colleetorate, I found a very beautiful Hindoo
temple dedicated to Siva. The pillars of the
porch and hall were of polished greenstone, and
seemed almos® as if they had been turned in a
lathe, the different circles of ornamentation were
so cxact ; and the designs were cut out as sharply
in this tough, hard stone, as if they had been
chased in metal. Ncar the town was a curious
monolith of sandstone thirty-five feet in height,
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richly decorated, and having a figure of a cock
on the top. There was a long inscription on the
pillar, apparently in ancient Canarese, and I re-
gretted very much that no one was able to
decipher it. A little further on I found another
superb temple; the ornamentation of its pillars
was truly exquisite, and the designs so deli-
cate that the various patterns were copicd by
the goldsmiths of the country for gold and silver
ornaments.

This was the limit of my distriet, which con-
tained, in addition to the foregoing, many illus-
trations of the Jain and Hindoo architecture,
dating from a.p. 76 to the 13th century. Many
of their works are represented in the volumes
before alluded to, but very many more certainly
remain comparatively unknown.  Had I Dbeen
originally appointed to the Raichore District,
I should have delighted in making myself
acquainted with all these wonderful and very
curious and beautiful buildings; but as I have
recorded, my lines fell in other plsces, and now
I had not the time to devote to them as I wished.
The archwmological features of Raichore would
have supplied a noble field for research. It had
been the battle-ground of the ancient western
Hindoo and Jain dynastics, as well as the Mus-
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sulman and Hindoo, and each in succession had
left their distinctive marks of occupation.

1 pushed on to Gulburgah and Humam Sigor,
once a great city, as was apparent from its ruins,
which sprcad over a large arca.  There was noth-
ing, however, remarkable in them. Here my
friend, the Rev. Mr Keis, of whom I have before
made mention, paid me a visit, as he happened
to be in the neighbourhood on one of his tours,
and w¢ had a pleasant talk over old times. Ie
had succeeded well in his work since our last
meeting, and one whole village community had
become Christians ; they were weavers by trade,
He was travelling about in his old fashion, a true
missionary, going from village to village minis-
tering to and teaching the people as he found
occasion-—everywhere welcome, and everywhere
respectad ; for the people saw his carnestness, and
his pure, humble, godly life, and loved him for his
simplicity and his benevolence,

I visited the fort of Gujundergurh, which
belonged with its dependencies to a Southern
Mahratta chief, and also a remarkable place of
pilgrimage near it on the side of the mountain,
which proved exceedingly picturesque. Almost
half-way up the nill, and at the foot of its pre-
cipitous sandstone top, is a cavern in which an
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image of Siva is placed. This is approached by
steps, wide at foot and narrowing to the last gal-
lery. The cavern is a natural aperture between
two enormous blocks of granite ; and on further
examination of the hill, I found that the whole of
the flat upper portion, which was upwards of 300
feet in height, with precipitous sides, rested upon
granite, which had been raised from the plain
around by some subterranean upheaval. The fort
was huilt on a portion of this elevation, and as
its chief had been implicated in the late insurree-
tionary movements, and his loyalty was still very
doubtful, part of the walls and gates had recently
been blown up, and the fort thereby rendered un-
tenable.

I had now done what I could in the Raichore
Doab, and I have not deseribed my work minutely,
as it was of the same character as that I had previ-
ously been employed upon, and there would be no
use in multiplying details. The fever had again
returned, with neuralgia and other trying accom-
paniments, and I felt that something must soon be
done. I could not hold on much longer. It was
no use attempting anything more in Raichore, be-
cause it now transpired that the province was to
be restored to the Nizam, and Nuldroog also; and
that, as the revenues had largely increased, and
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were more than sufficient for the purpose for which
the original cession had been made, the assignment
would now be restricted to Berar, the whole of
which, without any reservation, was to be retained,
aloug with some portions to the south and cast,
which had not been included in the previous
agreement.

Fvidently the time had come when the Com-
mission would be remodelled, but how it might
affect me, it was impossible to tell. Had my health
continued good, T should never have dreamed of
leaving India, for I loved the country, and I loved
the people; but T felt T could no longer stay now. I
had no wish to retire from active work, and hoped
to return to live and die, if God willed it, among
the people. And I thought in any case I could
take leave and go as far as Malta, where my
father would meet me, and I could bring back
my children with me, and by that time the
new arrangements would be completed, and I
should know what position I would occupy
when the ne v treaty with H.H. the Nizam was
concluded.

I was obliged to admit now, that work was
growing very difficult to me. Medicine seemed
powerless to chetk the perpetual ague and fever,
and a debility and want of energy came over me
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which T could not struggle against. The doctor
at Linsoogoor told me very plainly that I had no
chance of recovery in India, and that if I stayed,
my illness must go on from bad to worse. I sent
up his report upon my case to the Resident, at
the earnest entreaty of my friends, who thought
me very ill, and made an application for two
years’ leave of abscnce, which was all I could
hope to get under the rules

I gave over charge of the Raichore Doab to
Mr Ricketts, my only Assistant, and, taking a
sad farewell of my friends, whom I never then
thought I should sce again, I went to Shorapoor
to try and close my work there.

The Treasury was in a prosperous condition,
and I was allowed fo take from it the price of my
house, for which T fortunately held the Iate
Rajah’s note of hand. T was very thankful for
this piece of good fortune, although I had of
course to put up with the loss of interest on my
money.

At Shorapoor the utmost anxievy prevailed as
to the ultimate destiny of the State, but I could
give no opinion whatever; and its fate remained
yet uncertain. There was much dread that it
would be made over to the Mussulmans, their old
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hereditary enemies; and I found this fear was
disturbing the people very much.

“We shall no longer be true Hindoos,” was
the general ery. “Cows will be killed in our
precinets, and the flesh will be sold in our streets.
Hundreds of years have passed since this indig-
nity has been offered us, and now we dare not
resist it.”

What could I say ? or what assurance could I
give them that such would not be the case ?

I grew better at Shorapoor. I went out to
Bohnal, and had a last sail on the beautiful lake.
I left instructions for the completion of Kuchak-
noor, in case it should ever be found practicable
to go on with it.. T looked round all the roads
and plantations, and saw them in a satisfactory
condision. I settled all cstates belonging to indi-
viduals on a more permanent basis, and recom-
mended that the Ranees should have theirs re-
stored to them,

My last farewells to all the people were very
trying. They saw I could not stay, and had
little hope they should cver see me again. On
the 26th Februovry they asked me to preside at a
last durbur, and presented me with the following
address, which-is literally translated :—
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Translation of a Mahratta Address, presented
to Captain Meadows Taylor, Deputy-Com-
misstoner of Shorapoor, by the Inhabitants
of Shorapoor Territory, February 26, 1860.

(After compliments.)

“ We, the undersigned Pundits, Alims, Rajah’s
relatives, Government-servants, merchants, Wut-
tundars or hereditary State servants, Jagheerdars,
soldiers, ryots, and others, residents in and be-
longing to Shorapoor principality, respectfully
beg to subscribe the following Address to you, in
the sanguine hope that you will accept it as a
token of our respeet and esteem towards you :—

“1. We unanimously beg to state that, on
account of your being in readiness to return to
Lngland, we are plunged into much grief; but
your health baving declined, from your residence
in this country for the long period of thirty-six
years, engaged in the arduous service of Govern-
ment, protecting and bencfiting thusands of
people with much care and benevolence, you are
disabled by over-exertion from continuing any
longer to perform your very laborious duties for
the benefit of the country and its people, without
some relaxation ; therefore, you have necessarily
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determined to go home, and remain there, among
your relatives and friends, and thus return with
renewed vigour to support thousands of people in
this country. But this, we hope, temporary,
separation has overpowecred our minds with sin-
cere anxiety, and we have only one alternative
to allay it—in the hope of expecting your happy
and safe return amongst us soon, and humbly
to pray to the ever-blessing Almighty to restore
happiness upon you, your beloved father, and
daughters, kindred and friends,

“ 9. Since your arrival in this country, you
have done great things to secure happiness to the
people; and though they are too numerous to
be enumerated here, yet, by recapitulating some
of them, as far as our abilities will allow us, we
trust they will enable us to pass our time in joy,
by frequently refreshing onr hearts with their
recitation until you return to this country. With
this desire, we have ventured to intrude upon
your precjous time, in the hope that you will
kindly paslon us, and permit us to say what we
feel on this occasion,

“ 3. The carse of your first coming to this
distriet was this : certain unsatisfactory circum-
stances having occurred, which threatened the
welfare of the State and its Prince, in reference
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to their relations with the State of Hyderabad,
the considerate British Government became a
mediator between the two States, and appointed
you Political Agent in this principality, in the
year 1842. From that period until 1852, you
administered the country very judiciously, and
according to its requirements; and brought it
into a very prosperous condition, both as regards
the public revenue and the improvement of the
morals of the people. All this is not only known
to us who have this day assembled here, but it is
patent to the world.

‘4, In this district certain erime-thirsty wretch-
es used, before your arrival, to commit atrocities
to the injury and guffering of the people. DBut
you, with the weapons of your judgment and dis-
eretion, extirpated their vices, and led them to
pursue virtuous paths of life, thereby affording
true security to life, honour, and property ; and
the country prospered day by day. Inany coun-
try where courts of justice are established, and
justice is properly administered, that ~untry does
not acquire a bad reputation. So the misrule
which prevailed in this district hefore 1842 was
speedily annihilated by the awe of your prompt
and impartial justice, just as darkness vanishes
on the appearance of the sun,
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“5. By introducing wise measures into the
revenue affairs of the State from 1842 to 1852
the people fearlessly cultivated waste lands, and
thereby the revenue doubled in ten years, This
advantage was not only secured to Government,
but to the people ; because during their former ad-
ministration the people did not know the value
of continuously holding any lands from which
they could derive profit-for their labour, whereas
they now cultivated econsiderable quantitics of
land in excess of their former means, thus contri-
buting to the public revenue, as well as adding to
their profits. Hence in 1852 about one and a
half lakhs of beegeals [150,000 acres] of lease ex-
pired, and cleared ficlds were ready to yield full
assessment in the following year, in addition to
the orlinary cultivation of the State.

“¢. From the increasce thus obtained, works of
public utility and remuneration—viz, roads, State
buildings, tanks, wells, &e., were constructed, and
avenues, gardens, groves, &c., were planted. This
is one of the reasons by which your name and
fame have become popular, and everlasting in
this district. ,

“7. At .his healthy state of affairs, the late
Rajah of Shorapoor having attained majority, you
considercd it advisable that the management of
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the country should be intrusted to him, and Gov-
ernment having, on your recommendation, sanc-
tioned the measure, you made over the principal-
ity to him, giving him your friendly and full
advice in regard to his future conduct in his
responsible and dignified position, and as to gov-
erning his people; and then you proceeded to
join your new appointment of Deputy-Commis-
sioner at Nuldroog. Fhere, too, by your amiable
disposition, generosity, benevolence, ingenuity,
and zeal, you created abundant sccurity and hap-
piness to the people of that country, and profit to
Government. You built there new tanks, con-
structed roads, and other works of public utility,
and thus beecame entitled to the respect and grat-
itude of the people. - Convineed of your abilities,
the Government sent you as Deputy-Commis-
sioner to the district of Berar.

“8. Here, in this principality, for two or three
years after the Rajah’s assumption of independent
management of his country, he conducted his
affairs tolerably well ; but, at this pezind, he was
unfortunately surrounded by a band of designing
and capricious men, who took advantage of his
youth, imbued him with bad notioms, and, mis-
using his name, committed atrocities with impu-
nity. This becoming known to the Resident at
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Hyderabad, he deputed his second Agsistant to
Shorapoor for the purpose of ascertaining the true
state of atfairs, and dispersion of all ill-advisers.
“ But while things were in this state, the Rajah’s
intriguing band unauthorisedly fired at the Gov-
ernment troops who were cncamped below the
town ; then the young Rajah became alarmed for
the consequences, and fled to Hyderabad, to seek
refoge with the Government itself. The in-
habitants of the town, behelding these things,
fled for their lives, accompanicd by their wives
and children, abandoning their homes and pro-
perty, lest worse things might happen to them.
Imniediately after the Rajal’s flight, the British
troops took posscssion of the town, and plundered
it for three days, thereby making it desolate and
deserted, At this unhappy period we, of this
place, were praying to God to send His messen-
ger in your form for our relief; but as youn were
in a higher appointment, and in a distant country,
we had not much hope of your coming at all.
But lo! when God pleases and blesses, the very
impossibilities become possibilities at once. So,
according to the heartfelt desires of the people of
this countay, the Resident, by God’s will and in-
fluence, suddenly thought of sending you here,
and tovk the necessary measures accordingly.
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With what joy and thankfulness the population,
old and young, great and small, reccived the
intelligence of your nomination to this place
(because we had our long-cherished hopes and con-
fidence in your magnanimity and justice) is be-
yond all description. And our anticipations of
good from you were greatly strengthened when
we knew of your true feelings for the Rajah when
you saw him at Hyderabad. Your feelings were
so affected and plunged into grief at the sight of
that unfortunate Rajah, that it was hardly possi-
ble, even for his own parents, to grieve at his
misfortune more bitterly than you. Thus have
you continuously manifested great interest and
kindness towards this prineipality and its rulers;
and this being universally known to the people,
even before your arrival at Shorapoor, those who
had abandoned their homes in despair and anxiety,
speedily returned without apprehension, All this,
of course, depended upon your kind and humane
disposition and goodwill towards the people.

“9. On your arrival here you e~nsed all the
anarchy and misrule that had taken place to dis-
appear.  You introduced new regulations, and
secured a proper and correct systerr of manage-
ment.  From this much good ,and advantage
have accrued to the people, By your construct-
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ing good roads around the town, much ecomfort
and convenience have been enjoyed by the traders
and people in general ; and the praises which are
merrily sung to your name by the travellers, old
and young, on these roads, are indeed gratifying
and pleasing to the hearers.

“10. The thousands of mango-trecs, planted by
you in and about the town during your former
administration of thig eountry, are now bearing
abundant fruit; and, ag you arc now again plant-
ing thousands of trees, with great pains, for our
Linefit, we humbly pray to God that He will
likewise ordain you shall be present here when
these infant trees shall similarly bear fruit.

“11. You have used your full powers in secur-
ing and continuing various rights, perquisites,
meeras ov hereditary lands, and allowances, &e.,
which were enjoyed by the people; and if, in
spite of your generous endeavours, any unfortu-
nate person’s expectations were not realised, it is
no fault of yours, but his own misfortune. Con-
sequently, we are all content with what you have
done for us, and are under great obligations to
you.

“12., When sedition and rebellion occurred
here in 1858, certain senseless persons were con-
cerned in them, and they were liable to heavy

VOL. IL Y
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penalties; and if you had punished them, not-
withstanding the proclamation of amnesty, you
would not have exceeded the requirements of the
law, nor their deserts ; but, not considering their
past violent and intrigning aets, you have saved
their lives and honour from destruction. For this
singular kindness, these people should be grate-
ful and thankful to you for ever; and this assem-
bly ardently believes they will be so.

¢ 13. Another, the principal request and prayer
of this assembly, is, that this principality should
be restored to the family of the late Rajah, in
compassion for their misfortune, and the main-
tenance of charitable and other ancient institu-
tions which have existed and have been enjoyed
for centuries. To attain this end, we trust you will
accord your support ; but we are aware it depends
mainly upon the future good conduct and loyalty,
as also destiny, of the expectants of this dignity.
It is the duty, nevertheless, of this assembly to
pray constantly to the Almighty that Govern-
ment will, in their exalted generosity, pardon all
past misdemeanours, and indulgently protect the
remnants of the late chief’s family,

“14. That your projects tor constructing a
series of new roads and a market-place, and for
lighting the town, as well as for erecting travel-
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lers’ and strangers” homes, sinking wells, build-
ing tanks, &ec., for the use and benefit of the
people, us well ag for improving the public rev-
enue, should be carried out after your return, in
renewed health, is the heartfelt prayer of this
assembly,

“15. All your acts being of benevolence and
for the good of the people, there is very little
time to recount them all here; and it is likewise
hardly possible te give preference to any one of
them., We, therefore, most respectfully beg to
entreat that you will kindly acccpt what we have
briefly stated above, as a sincere expression of our
feelings towards you, and we crave that you will
pardon us for our rather long intrusion upon
your time.

“16. [t may only be known to the light of the
world, the Sun, if there were any persons like
you on the face of the earth; but, as far as our
experience goes, we know not a more kind-hearted,
equitable, painstaking, skilful, and benevolent
gentleman than you ; and we are constrained to
think thav your qualitics have no parallel save in
you.

“17 We are ofraid that you may have tired
of our toguacity ; but, our hearts being full with
heavy anxiety at the thought of our approaching
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temporary scparation, and being unable to bear
it without giving utterance to our feelings, we
have ventured to occupy a good deal of your
time, for doing which we have already eraved
your pardon.

“18. In conclusion, we most ardently hope
that, by the blessing of the Almighty Protector,
you will happily and safely reach your country,
and meet your most beloved and endeared father,
daughters, brotherg, and all who for a series of
years have becen intensely longing for your re-
turn, and cause them to rejoice. And we further
heartily and sincerely pray to the Lord of the
Universe to bestow upon you abundant longev-
ity, renewed health, greater grandeur, and higher
powers, and safely and happily bring you again
to this country, in order that thousands of people
may find a ready asylum in you for their protee-
tion, and so your fame and glory may be greatly
aggrandised ; and, by the grace of God, we con-
fidently hope to realise these our desires and
expectations.

“ Again tendering our warmest, sincere, and
affectionate but respectful thanks to you for the
cordial support and courtesy you have usually
evinced towards us, according to our respective
positions in soclety, during your former and pres-
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ent career in this principality, we are proud that
you carry with you our heartfelt gratitude and
good wishes, May God bless you and yours for
ever '

“ We beg to remain, with the utmost respeet,
dear sir, your most obedient, faithful, obliged,
and lumble servants and well-wishers,

(Signed) “ Rasan Vexkerappa NAIK, sen.,
Rarar Venkgravra Nalg JEL-
LEEPALLEE,
Rasam Krisuvaprpa NAIK,
and 987 others of the Rajah’s relations, Pundits,
Jagheerdars, and other principal inhabitants of
Shorapoor.
(True Lranslation.)
«“J. Seera Ram Rao,

Eetra Assist, Commissr,”

I cannot deseribe the scenc; but its passion-
ate character can be imagined from the purport
of what is recorded above in the guaint, simple
words of the people. None of them had been
strangers w me ; many had grown up from chil-
dren under my sight, and had now children of
their own about heir knees; others were old and
greyheaded ; and many whom T had known had
gone to their rest. [t was not an casy task to



342 STORY OF MY LIFE, [crap. xVIL

leave them all; but I bad to go, and I do not
think I am forgotten there even now. Iintended
to depart quietly in the night; but I found the
chiefs of the Beydur clans assembled in the streets,
and it was as difficult now to reach the north gate
of the city as it had been to enter it two years
before-—only, instead of a clamour of joyous wel-
come, there was now sad wailing of women, while
the men walked by me-in utter silence. Now
and then some one would exclaim, “ We have
no one now to care for us; but our women will
sing of you as they grind ¢orn in the morning,
and will light their lamps in your name at night.
Come back to us ; oh, come back!”

It was very sad and very solemn, and can never
be forgotten. At every village the people came
about me, the mothers holding up their children
for me to put my hands upon their heads and bless
them ; and it was all so simple, so earncst, and so
heartfelt, one could not but feel its sincerity.
People ask me what I found in the natives to like
so much. Could I help loving them when they
loved me s0? Why should I not love them ? 1
had never courted popularity. I had but tried
to be just to all, and to secure to the meanest
applicant consideration of his complaint, by al-
lowing unrestricted communication with myself.
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Thousands wished to have signed the address
had time permitted it; but there are quite enough
signatures to show the attachment of the people
to the only Englishman whom most of them had
ever seen, and certainly the first who had exer-
cised any authority over them. At Nuldroog the
sineere love of the people was shown in the ad-
dress before given ; in Berar I accepted the loyal
and peaceful demeanour of the population as a
marked proof of their attachment to me in the
most trying crisis of the great rebellion,

o all T had roled over 36,000 square miles of
area, and a population of upwards of five millions
of a most industrious and intelligent people, not
only without a single complaint against my rule,
but, as T think and hoepe, with a place in their
affections and respect, gained by no other means
than by exercising simple courtesy and justice to
all. I was often told by various friends, “You
do too much for people who will never thank you”
1 do not think so: I did not do half enough, and
I could heve done more had I had more help.
God is my witness, I tried to do as much as
I could, and heartily regretted being obliged,
through physica: inability, to leave undone many
a measure of progress and advancement which I
hoped to accomplish.
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I travelled slowly to Hyderabad, for I could
not bear long marches now, and stayed at the
Residency, where there was still much to do
before I could leave. Even now furlough to
England was very difficult to obtain, and, but
for the Resident’s private intercession with the
Governor - General, I should not have got it
at all

I was very glad to be able at this time to ren-
der my friend, Colonel Davidson, the Resident,
an essential service in writing a serics of letters
to the ‘ Friend of India’ in justification of his
conduet in remaining at the Residency after the
officers commanding at Secunderabad had thought
it desirable to leave it, and also in sending
away the Contingent troops to act under Sir
Hugh Rose. Both these acts of the Resident
were severely censured, and deemed “ worse than
rash;” but T considered that the complaints made
were totally unfounded. Had the Resident gone
into Secunderabad, the desertion of the Residency
would have been looked upon as a sign of fear,
and the loyal minister, Salar Jung, would have
been left to his fate. What might have happened
had he not been able to control the fanatical
eleraent of Hyderabad, or had the DBritish all
entrenched themselves at Secunderavad, who can
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say ? DBy remaining firm, the Resident showed
the minister that he had every confidence in him
—a confidence which has been fully merited, and
never abused by Sir Salar Jung.

I regarded the march of the Contingent, too, as
a trivmph of will over disaffection. No one de-
nied shat many of its members had trembled on
the verge of mutiny, and no doubt, in their can-
tonmant, they were sorely tempted and chafed
by inaction. The effect, however, of the Nizam’s
troops having joined the English cause, while
Secindia’s soldiers coaleseed with the rebels, soon
became known and apparent to all, as the Hy-
derabad Contingent fought, as Lord Strathnairn
himself has told me, more like Englishmen than
natives. The honours they gained in the field
kept them quiet, and as their loyalty was now
beyoud question, the whole of the Nizam’s terri-
tory kept quiet also ; nor, with the one exception
of the insurrection at Hyderabad, was there a
single instance of treason to the Fnglish during
the whole of that most trying period.

My letters were upheld and supported by the
“ Friend of India,” and T believe produced a good
effect in Eneland, although the opposition party
was & very strong one. I pressed Colonel David-
son very earnestly to come home with me, for he
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was very ill; but he would not leave his post,
and died there the year following,

I left Hyderabad at length, and as the road vid
Hominabad and Nuldroog was now finished, I
went by it as far as Sholapoor ; then there was
the railway. At Nuldroog I had left my plate
and various articles in the treasury; but, alas!
some one had, during those troublous times, broken
open the plate-chest, and several articles had been
abstracted, most of which, however, I afterwards
recovered ; but I 'was mueh grieved at the loss of
a small bag containing all the autograph letters I
valued most, and a few little ornaments which
my wife had always worn. They were of no
value to any one intrinsically, and must have
been taken for the sake of the bag, which was
prettily embroidered in gold thread.

On the road I reached one of the stage bunga-
lows for travellers, and, being very weak, was being
lifted from my palankeen by one of my servants,
when two gentlemen came forward to help me.
“Was I Captain Meadows Taylor” they asked,
“ who was anxiously expected at Malta 7”7 “Yes,
I was;” and they told me they had been fellow
passengers with my dear ones, who were awaiting
me there, and gave me many particulars of them.
Going home seemed at last to be growing a reality!

H
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I passed a day and a night at Sholapoor with
my dear friend Abingdon Compton, and he urged
me, if I missed the steamer, which seemed very
probable, as I was too weak to travel very quick-
ly, to go up to stay with his wife at the Maha-
buleshwar ; and indeed, he said, I had better not
go to England till the next steamer, as he knew
Lord Elphinstone was at the Hills, and wanted to
see me, and, in any case, it was no use my wait-
ing a fortnight in the heat at Bombay, I pro-
mised to go if I missed the stcamer ; but I was
in time, having just two days to spare before it
sailed. How strangely events happen! Had I
missed that mail, I should have gone to Maha-
buleshwar, and should, as T afterwards found,
have been offered by Lord Elphinstone the “ Di-
rectorship of Jails,” an appointment which I could
have held, worth £2500 a-ycar | He had kept it
for me; but finding I had zone home on sick
leave, was obliged to bestow it elsewhere. I
shounld have stayed in India, and have taken up
my appowntment, telling my father to come on at
once. I conld have remained at the Hills, would
have cntered a new department of the service
where there was no press of work, and where 1
could travel as I pleased. DBut luck was against
me ! Yet, why should T say this ? I might not
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have been able to stand the Indian climate longer,
even at the Hills, and with lighter work. At all
events, God willed it otherwise. I heard before
I left, that Nuldroog and Raichore were to be re-
stored to the Nizam, and that Shorapoor was to
be given to him as a token of the appreciation of
the British Government of his faithfulness and
loyalty in the mutiny. So, what would have
become of me without Lord. Elphinstone’s kind
offer was not apparent,and I should have at once
accepted it had I remained in India.

I had a pleasant party of fellow-passengoers ;
one poor fellow, who had been badly wounded by
a bullet in the lungs, wus specially consigned to my
care, although, as his father sald at parting, “ You
do indeed look fearfully ill yoursclf” And so 1
was ; the relaxing heat of ‘Bombay, and all my
final journey and preparations, had exhausted me
terribly, and I had grown so fat and unwicldy
that to move about was a trouble to me, I asked
one lady on board, whose husband had been
Political Agent in Miniawar, why they had not
come to me when obliged to fly? « We dared
not,” she said, ** go to Berar. 'We were told you
were a marked man, and daugerovsly popular.
There would be no hope for us—nay, we heard
you were alrcady murdered !”
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Yes, we had almost all in that ship been
through trying scenes and many dangers, and a
merciful God had brought us out safely from the
land.

We arrived at Malta in due course, very late,
after midnight, and no passengers could land till
morning. T was sitting with the poor fellow who
had been my constant care, and who was so il
that night we thought-him dying, when a gentle-
man came up to me. “The P.und O. agent has
come on board,” he said, “and tells me he will
take you and me ashore if we like, to-night. I
know how anxious you are to go.” I put my night
things in a small bag, and went, T could not
stay behind. Tt was as mueh as I could do to
get up the long flight of steps into Valetta, and
1 had to sit down often; but at length the hotel
was reached. All was quiet, every one in bed ;
hut this was no time for cercmony, and in a few
minutes I held my darlings to my heart.



350

CHAPTER XVIIL
18607 4.

1 XEED not dwell upon that time. Any one who
has followed me through the latter years of my
life in India, so lonely and so utterly cut off from
all society of any kind, will appreciate what it was
to me to find myself again with those dearest to
me on earth, to learn to know them and be known
by them. And the days Hlew by, I feeling stronger,
and my face losing the decp-drawn lines of pain
about my forchead and mouth, which my chil-
dren said they “ironed” out; and so they did,
no doubt. I was, however, very far from well,
although the excitement and delight of my first
arrival had kept me up wonderfully. But Malta
was growing hot, and we started for Naples,
where we spent some delightful days, taking a
fresh cxewrsion every day-—one to Pompeii and
Herculaneum, the former presenfing exactly the
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appearance of a Deccan town unroofed ; one to
Baia, and another to Vesuvius, which we partly
ascended, but my strength was not equal to
much yet. My old Indian helmet, with a scarlet
pugeree tied round it, with gold ends, attracted
much attention, and hats were raised as we drove
along; and on passing the main guard, there
rose a cry, “Il Generale!” and the guard fell in
and saluted, to our very great amusement. There
was a sudden exodus from Naples, owing to a
rumour of cholera, and an apprehended attack
by Garibaldi, and we decamped with the rest.
We landed at Civita Veechia, a very motley
crowd, and a general scramble began for luggage
and places in the train. My red pugeree stood
me in good stead, however, and the officials came
forward at once. Everything was at the serviee
of «“I1 Gienerale” or “Hecellenza.”

“Air you a Ingine general, sir?” asked an
American, as I was cntering the carrlage.
~ “No, sir, an Indian officer, but not a general,”
I replied.

“Wal, sir, you air very fair for Ingy, you air.
If you was to come to our country, they wouldn’t
know you for a Ingine; no, sir, they would not,
I tell you, su.”

We stayed a'fortnight in Rome. We saw all
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the picturcs and the statues and the palaces.
We made excursions to Tivoli and to Hadrian’s
villa. We saw St Peter’s, too, under decoration
for a great ceremony, and above all, I was intro-
duced in the strangest manner to his Holiness the
Pope. We had no tickets for the reserved seats
for the occasion, not having secured them in
time, and our old guide Stefano was sorely
distressed at this. He, however, told us not to
despair, “he had a great friend, a priest, who
was to take part in the ecremony,” and motion-
ing me to follow, he marched straight to the
door of the sacristy, and beckoned to his friend,
explaining to him who I was, and how I had
arrived too late to get tickets. I was bidden to
enter, and was presented to a very henevolent-
looking old gentleman as ““ Il Generale Inglese.”
T had hardly time to realise that it was the Pope
himself, when he put out his hand to me, while
I bent low and kissed it. He told me I was
welcome, and desired the priest to see that we
had good seats. We were conducteu to a little
door in one of the great pillars, where, ascending
a spiral staircase, we found ourselves in a cosy
little box, just large enough for Jour people, from
which we saw and heard everything most per-
fectly.
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“Did T not manage that well?” cried old
Stefuno, rubbing his hands.

What a world of new thought and beauty was
opened to me! I revelled in the pictures and in
the galleries at Rome; but even more, I believe,
in those of Florence, where we literally lived in
the Pitti Palace and the Uffizi. T think, lLiow-
ever, I was most Interested in the ancient re-
mains—the statues and the busts—not only those
of emperors, kings, and statcsmen, but of the
citizens and their wives, recalling the features of
the age to which they belonged, the head-dresses
and graceful draperies as worn at the period.
Many of the women’s faces struck me as being
truly noble, and their figures too, and as more
intellectual and handsomer in type than those of
the men.  We could have lingered in Flovence,
iu Bologna, in Milan, in Venice so dreamy and
so exquisite, for weeks, nay, months; but time
was passing, and we left beantiful Ttaly—its pic-
tures, statucs, noble ancient remains, its churches,
and its lakes behind us—and crossed over the
Spliigen L'ass into Bavaria.  Surely the world can
contain no fairer spot than those lakes of Italy,
and it is quite impossible to decide whether
Maggiore, or Lugano, with its wild grand beauty,
or fair Como, lying sparkling in the sun, carries off

YOL. 11, Z



354 STORY OF MY LIFE [cmar. xviIL

the palm, all are so lovely and all so different. 1
do not know, and have not seen, the other Passes
over the Alps, but I should think none can ex-
ceed the Spliigen and the Via Mala in grandeur
and in beauty ; nor could I, an old road-maker,
cease to marvel at the great science and daring
displayed in the engineering work, Irom Chur
—after a détour made to visit dear relations in
Bavaria, and stay some days with them in their
beautiful old schloss—to Paris, by way of Basle
and Strasbourg, o weary railway journcy in very
hot weather, Paris was almost unbearable from
the heat, and we only waited long enough to get a
few clothes, and then on to London, and back to
home-life once more. My health, which at first
had seemed almost re-established, now again
broke down, showing that the evil still existed ;
the fever returned perpetually; and the best
physicians, both in London and Dublin, shook
their heads. The news from India was not re-
assuring. The treaty of 1860 was now accom-
plished ; the Raichore Doab and Nuldroog were
transferred to the Nizam, and the primcipality of
Shorapoor conferred upon him as a free gift in
return for his loyal conduet duving the mutiny.
It was clear to me that except my Deputy-Com-
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missionership, I had no hope of promotion, unless
I should be made Settlement Officer,

My cighteen months’ leave expired in Novem-
ber 1861, and I obtained an extension for six
months more; and as I was in London on this
business, I had the honour of being summoned
by the then Sceretary of State for India, who
was anxious for information in regard to Be-
rar and its revenue settlement. He seemed to
approve of the system I had introduced in Nul-
drooy during 1856-57, and listened earnestly
while T deseribed its details ; he requested me to
write him an official letter on the subject, and
hinted that, although the Head Commissionership
might not be given to an “uncovenanted scr-
vant,” the appointment of Settlement Officer was
one which I could hold:

Time passed. 1 confess I have no distinet
memcry of events. Constant illness, and,
worse than all, a sort of debility of the brain,
seemed to possess me, and were most distressing.
I had not only lost my energy, but my memory
also in great measure, and I was obliged to have
every note looked over before it was posted, lest
the sense should aot be clear, or a strange jumble
and repetition of words should be found. Indeed
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I grew worse and worse, and the thought that I
should, if this continued, be obliged to give up
India altogether, made me miserable. My doctors
apprehended, I have since heard, paralysis of the
brain, and entreated my family to oppose my re-
turn to active work. As the expiration of my
leave drew near, I made desperate cfforts to have
it renewed still further, offering to do without pay
altogether if my place might be kept open for
me.  Sir Ranald Martin told me six months more
would, perhaps, reecruit my health, and promised
to back my petition: I had friends too at the
India House to help me. But it was of no avail ;

1411

the rules of the “ uncovenanted service” could
not be broken, and my request was refused; so
no alternative remained for me except to go out
as I was, 1l and weak, or to resign the service
altogether. It was a hard battle. My heart was
in my work, and I ardently longed to go back
and try to carry on what I had been planning for
the benefit of the people among whom I had lived
my life, and whom I loved ; but it seemed as if
God, i His wisdom, had taken from me the
power and strength I needed. “If you go back,”
said Sir Ranald Martin, “to the :limate of Berar,
you must die: you are totally unfit for duty,
and the fever and ague are as bad as ever. Think
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of your life, and think of your children, and may
God help you to a right decision. I never had a
more painful case to deal with.”

I thought over all this carnestly, and asked for
Lelp and guidance, and I saw clearly that it
would not be right to run into the jaws of death
as it were; s0 1 gave up the struggle, and sent
in my resignation with a very heavy heart. No
one knows, even now, what a bitter grief it was
to me to do thig; but I trust I did what was
right. I roturned to Dublin very much cast down.
I was not able to do anything except paint, and
I took refuge in this, and in music : any attempt
at writing set my head throbling; and neither
words nor thoughts would come. I looked sadly
at the commencement of a story I had begun
years before in India, and wondered whether I
should ever be able to complete if.

A friend, finding me one day sitting on a door-
step in Dublin, faint and sick, and shivering with
ague, took me home and told me how his brother,
who had suffered terribly from Australian bush-
fever, haa derived much benefit from homaeo-
pathy. I had tried everything else, and every
physician of note without avail, and I promised
my friend to consult the doctor he told me of,
and to give the system a fuir trial,
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I told my story to the kind physician he re-
commended, and also honestly confessed my want
of faith in the system.

“I don’t mind that,” said the good man; “but
it is rather hard to ask me to cure a malady of
thirty years’ standing, when so many great men
Lave failed. However, I will try to alleviate—I
:annot cure it ; and I trust, under God’s blessing,
to give you some help.~ Dut you were right not
to return to India.”

I followed the preseriptions he gave me faith-
fully, and T amused myself by fishing, painting,
and reading very light litcrature, and tried not to
think about anything. The effeet was really
marvellous. I grew stronger and more cnergetice,
and I felt some of my old power returning to me;
and after a fow months I went to my friend and
asked his leave to begin to write.

“Do you feel able now ?” he asked. “If you
do, begin; but you must be very cautious, and
do not fatigue your brain, If you feel the least
tired or confused, stop.”

I took his advice, and I began my novel of
“Tara.” The incidents and actions of the story
had becn planned for nearly twenty years; and
I knew all the scenes and localities described, as
T had the story in my mind during my visit to
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Becjapoor, and had noted the details accurately ;
while my long residence in an cntirely native
State, and my intimate acquaintance with the
people their manners, habits, and social organisa-
tion, gave me opportunities, which I think few
Englishmen have ever enjoyed, of thoroughly
understanding native life.  One day, when talk-
ine of my projected ook with my dear friend
Mrs Cfashel Hoey, whom: 1 have known since
she was a ehild, and whose carser I have always
watched with ever-increasing interest and affec-
tion, she said suddenly, “ Now you have the plot
so clearly defined in your Drain, come and write
it out chapter by chapter; I will set it down
exaetly as you dictate to me.”  We went together
to my study, and locked the door, and there for
six hours we worked af it, she writing in total
silenee, and a perfect sketeh of the whole tale was
made, the details of which were filled up after-
wards 1 never remember feeling so utterly ex-
haustcd in my life ; but the relief when it was
finished was intense, and we both were glad that
we had 1esisted the entreaties to us to stop our
work, and rest, which my children, fearing for me
in my state of health, made more than once in
vain.  After this, I felt sure of my subject, and
wrote confidently, but very slowly, for my brain
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had not regained its full strength yet; but the
occupation interested me, and was a source of
infinite delight. When my book was partly
finished, T wrote to Messrs Blackwood, offerihg
it to them, and telling them how it had been
promised twenty years before, for ¢ Blackwood’s
Magazine,” when 1 had written the ¢ Confessions
of a Thug.’

My book was accepted; and, still writing very
slowly, I finished and published it in 1863. It
was most favourably received. All the leading
papers — the ‘Times,’ ¢ Morning Post, * Athe-
neum, ¢ Saturday Review, and the Quarter-
lies—were loud in its praise; and I only men-
tion this at length, because I had been very
anxious as to my reception in the literary world,
after a silence of so many years; and T was not
a little gratified to find myself welcomed once
more g0 warmly.

‘Tara’ was the first of the series of three his-
torical romances which I had proposed to write
on the three great modern periods of Indian his-
tory, which occurred at an interval of exactly
a hundred ycars. “Tara’ illustrated the rise
of the Mahrattas, and their fist blow against
the Mussulman power in 1657.

‘ Ralph Darnell,” my sccond work, was to illus-



1864-65.] LITERARY WORK. 361

trate the rise of the English political power in the
victory of Plassey in June 1757,

¢ Secta,” which was to be the third, was to illus-
trate the attempts of all classes alike to rid them-
selves of the English by the Mutiny of 1857.

¢ Ralph Darnell; which appeared in 1865, was
also well received, and I had cvery encourage-
ment to persevere.

I read a paper upon my discoveries of cairns,
cromlechs, &e., in Shorapoor, before the Royal
Irish Academy, with illustrations and sketches of
wnat I found, which, 1 believe, completely estab-
lished the identity of those remains in India and
in Burope, and, I have reason to think, was valu-
able archamologically. 1t was published in vol.
xxiv. of the Society’s “Transactions,” and illus-
trated with sixty-cight engravings. This had
been a subject which, since I had made the first
idertification in relation to the eromlechs and
cairns of Rajun Koloor, T had followed up with
the greatest interest, until I obtained ample con-
firmation of my views in the cairns on Twizell
Moor, Northumberland, in the autumn of 1864.

I was placed in charge of the Indian Depart-
ment of the D .blin Exhibition of 1865 by my
friend Dr Forbes Watson; and on the occasion
of the visit of H.R.IL. the Prince of Wales to the
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Exhibition, was called on to attend and explain
various matters to him. He was especially struck
by the large raised map of the castern coast of
India, constructed to scale by the late Mr Mont-
gomery Martin, which T had painted afresh, and
of which the Prince showed a very intimate
knowledge. He had evidently studied Indian
subjects deeply, and appeared gratified by the
information I was able to give in regard both to
the natural productions and the articles of manu-
facture displayed.

My next task was to write the historical and
descriptive portions of two superb volumes of
Photographs of the City of Beejapoor and the
Hindoo Temples of the Southern Mahratta coun-
try. These volumes were published by Mr John
Murray, the architectural portions being contrib-
uted by my friend Mr James Fergusson.

This led to my undertaking the descriptive
letterpress of a work entitled ¢The People of
India, which consisted of a series of photographs
of the different reces, tribes, and orders of the
people all over India, and involved much labour
and research. The descriptions were necessarily
very short, and as much inform-tion as possible
had to be compressed into a few meagre lines.
The work was brought out by the India Office,
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and no limit was affixed to it. Up to the
present year (1874) six volumes have been com-
pleted.

I also began a scries of Indian articles for
Mossrs Cassell, Petter, and Galpin’s Biographical
Dictionary, which, as far us I know, are the only
contributions to Indian biography which exist.
Of course the space herc was also very circum-
seribed, and all I could do was to make the
notices intelligible and useful for reference.

Thus I worked on, and employed myself as
busily as T could, painting during my leisure
hours. In 1868 we went abroad, and remained
away for a year, wintering at that loveliest of
places, Mentone—one of the swectest spots, 1
think, the world eontains.  How we all enjoyed
it, and what glorious walks, donkey rides, and
excarsions we made ! And the flowers—Dhut they
are too beantiful for description. We used to
brivg home basket-loads of crimson and searlet
ancmones, violets, tulips, and a thousand more,
less gay, perhaps, but none the less beautiful
[ worked on at the biographies and descriptions
all the winter, steadily refusing to he tempted
out until the afternoon. A project for a ¢ Child’s
History of Tndia’ was also growing in my brain,
originated by a dear friend, a lady, coming to
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me one day with an armful of most stupendous-
looking volumes, and saying, as she threw them
down wearily, ““ Oh, Colonel Taylor, do tell me
what I am to do. How can I teach the chil-
dren the history of India out of those?” And
indeed it seemed a truly formidable task. 1
was not able to set about a history of India
just then, but later I confided the scheme to
Mcssrs Longman, who begged I would make
mine a ‘Studeut’s Manual of the History of
India;’ and this I eventually wrote some time
later. The work was very laborious, and in-
volved much minute study, occupying me in
all about two years.

I had not long returned from Mentone when
I was solicited by the Institute of Civil Engineers
of Ireland to deliver a lecture upon the method
of constructing large carthen embankments and
sluices for irrigation tanks in India; and as I was
much interested in the subject, I made the lecture
as comprehensive as I could, and described the sys-
tem adopted so as to retain the rainfall as much
as possible. I had all my own plans, elevations,
surveys, and sections, and some details of ancient
native work. My lecture was printed in the
¢ Transactions’ of the Society, and to my gratifi-
cation, I was not only elccted a member, but re-
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ceived a diploma as civil engineer, with liberty
to practise as such within the United Kingdom.

My hard work over, my History was delight-
fullv interrupted during 1869 by an announce-
ment from the Scerctary of State for India that
Her Most Gracious Majesty the Queen had been
pleased, on the 2d of June, to appoint me a “ Com-
panion of the Most Exalted Order of the Star of
Indin.”  The honour and gratification of the gift
were enhanced by a communication from his
Grace the Duke of Argyle, as he presented me
with the order, that the sclection of my name
had been made by her Mujesty hersclf.

I felt very grateful for this honour—which had
been entirely nnsolicited by me-—not only as a
recognition of any publie service I had been able
to perform during my Indian life, but as an assur-
ance that I had not been forgotten though so
long absent. Her Majesty had indeed recognised
me at the fivst levee I attended after my return,
and her words, “I am glad to see you back
again,” will alwavs be treasured by me, as a very
gratifving proof of her kind interest in so humble
a servant as mysclf,

In 1871 my Llistory appeared, as completeas I
could make it in the limited space necessarily
at my disposal, and I trusted that, having now
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a compendium, as it were, at their command,
Principals of colleges and schools wounld bring
the History of India more into their ednca-
tional course. I inquired in many dircctions,
but T could not discover that Indian history
was taught anywhere. Why, I know not, for
surely there can scarcely be any subject of greater
importance to Englishmen than the history of
the noble dependencies won by their ances-
tors, which, one would think, would be both
more useful, and perhaps morc intercsting, than
many subjects which scem to form part of the
essential education of our boys.

I had to take a long rest now. The labour of
the History had very much exhausted me, and I
spent the interval in travelling and painting,
and was elected honorary member of the Royal
Hibernian Academy. In 1872 I began ° Sceta,’
finishing it in June the samc year; and up to
the time I write, I have not begun any more
works of fiction. After this ‘ Story of my Life’
is finished, T hope, if I am spared. to revert to
the romantic and medieval period of Deecan
history, and write an illustration of it, the plot
of which is growing m my brain.

From time to time I contributed articles to the
‘ Edinburgh Review,” on various subjects con-
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nected with India: every yecar one or more of
these appeared. And I enjoyed this kind of
literary labour very much, and am grateful it
was given to me to do.

Also, from time to time, I gave public lectures
on subjects connected with India, both in Dublin,
Birmingham, Whitehaven, and other places. [
waunted to bring India ncarer to England—to
bring its people ncaver-our people; and if, by
my simple descriptions of life among the natives,
any have felt more interest in their Indian
brothers and sisters, or have been led to read
and study more, my objeet has been attained. The
following were the subjects of some of my lec-
tures i(—

“ Ancient Literature of Indin.”

“ Village Communitics.”

“ India Past and Present.”

“ Some Great Men of India.”

“ Some Great Women of India.”

And others, of which T have only notes.

I always found my audiences interested and
amused ; and I believe it only nceds such illustra-
tions to arouse an interest in, and bring India
home to, the miads of English people.

I heard [requently from friends in India who
did not forget to tell me aboutmy old people and
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districts whenever they could hear of them.
How Nuldroog and the Raichore Doab are now
administered I know not, or whether the revenue
remaing as it was under lu olish management.
Of Berar therc is at least ngﬁ question. 1 have
alveady stated that a portiu. o. the Bombay
survey was infroduced in 1860, and its benefit
and progress have been wonderful. Not only
do the people possess their holdings, instead of
being merely “ tenants at will,” liable to be dis-
possessed by any outbidder ; but the cultivation
has extended, as it was plain to see would be the
case, with insured possession. All that is now
wanting, to my perception, to complete the land
settlement—which is exactly n principle what I
proposed for Nuldroog in 1855—is the grant of
title-deeds for cstates and area of house oecupa-
tion ; and I hope these may be eventually issued.
The increase of revenue has been enormous, and
has accompanied the increase of cultivation.
According to the Administrative Report of
1870-71, a final total of £.05,467 wus reached,
which showed an increase of £ 14,955 in ton
years ; and as a large portion of the district is
still unsurveyed, the revenue will in the end, there
is little doubt, exceed a million sterling., I trust
this magnificent practical result may induce
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Government to undertake a perpetual settlement
on the sound basis of proprietary right, instead
of the many shifty measures which have hitherto
becn in operation.

I Lave little me.e > add. T went to India
with only one fiend wnere on whom I could rely,
and upon him [had no claim except a slight re-
lationship. I have had no education so to speak.
What I kuwow I have taught mysclf. 1 have
guinedl my position, such as it is now, by steady
hard work and pergeverance ; and that my humble
services have been acknowledged by my Queen
and my country in giving me the Star of India,
is a recompense for which I am very grateful.

My literary work has been o great pleasure to
me ; but [ can only writc about the people among
whom I lived, and whom I love and shall always
love to the last. Had I known how to write
about modern society, fust young ladies, roué
young gentlemen, fair murderesses with golden
hair, and all the “sensation” tribe, I doubt not
[ should have fill  wmy pockets better; but it
was no use,— Uwas too old and stiff to change my
ways. The oid Tooljapoor Brahmin spoke truly,
“Much, very mach moncy, passed through my
hands,” and yet | continue poor. But I am
thankful,—thankful for having sufficient to live

VOL. I 2 A
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on, though not riches; for loving and beloved
children ; for many, many dear friends, who
make me welcome always in the North, and in
Yorkshire, and in Norfolk (is not the hot corner
kept for me at Didlington when I am able to
shoot ?)—in London, where I sometimes go for a
fow weeks to have a glimpse of the great world
and its doings —in Dublin, where, in my dear old
home, I have a large eirele of kind and loving
friends. And is not this ecnough to make me
happy and contented with my lot ?

One word, onc last reflection in regard to India,
may not be out of place. It is to advise all who
go there in whatever capacity, or whatever posi-
tion they may Lold,~-use true courtesy to natives
of all degrees. My experience has taught me that
large masses of men arc more easily led than
driven, and that courtesy and kindness and firm-
ness will gain many a point which, under a hard
and haughty bearing, would prove unattainable.
By courtesy I do not mean undue familiarity—
far from it; self-respect must alwavs be pre-
served. DBut there is a middle course which, if
rightly pursued in a gentlemanly fashion, not
only exacts respect from natives of all classes,
but gratitude and affection likewise,

Grateful to God for all the mercies of my life,
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for His sustaining power, and the ability to do
what I have heen able to accomplish through all
my ife, all that I hope for, in my humble sphere,
is that my efforts may be accepted by Him, and
that, in Sir Henry Lawrence’s words, “I may be
thonght of as one who strove to do his duty.”

MEADOWS TAYILOR.

Owub Coure, Harorn's Cross, DUBLIN,
June 1871



CHAPTER XIX.
CONCLUSLON.
187476,

Durixg the autumn and winter of 1874-75, my
dear father suffered much from bronchitis and
general debility ; but in the quiet of his own
study, to which his health almost entirely confined
him, he wrote his last novel, A Noble Queen,’
which appeared in chapters in ‘The Overland
Mail,” and also in * The Week’s News, and was
published by Messrs H. King & Co.  His friends
carnestly hope that the story may be published
shortly in volume form, and thus become known
more widely than at present in England. In India
it has been much appreciated, and eagerly looked
for on the arrival of cachimail; wnd, to quote the
‘Times of India,” “apart from its historic and
literary interest, it abounds with attractive and
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excellent descriptions of Indian scenery.” The
story relates to the Mussulman kingdoms of Bee-
japoor and Ahmednugger ; and its historie heroine
is Chand Beebee, the dowager queen of Ali Adil
Shah-——ts 1deal heroine being Zora, the young
granddaughter of an exiled dervish. My father
also completed during thesc winter months the
seventh and eighth volumes of the ‘ People of
Indin.”  Whether this great work will be con-
tinued by the order of the Sceretary of State for
India is not yet apparent; but the materials are
almost inexhaustible, and it deserves to be made
as complete as possible.

In May 1875 my father’s eyesight suddenly
failed him, and he wrote the concluding pages of
¢ A Noble Queen ” with considerable difficulty. It
was hoped earncstly that this dimness of vision
was only temporary, and that, with renewed
health, the precious sight might be regained. He
visited Tondon in order to obtain the best medi-
cal advice, and was told by the physicians that
his hest and ouly hope of recovery lay in passing
the following winter in some warm, dry climate.

1 should like to go to India again, if you think
the climate would suit me,” he said. And after a
long and deliberate consultation, leave was given;
and he was told he might revisit the old scenes,
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now made yet more attractive by the residence at
Hyderabad of his married daughter.

When the news of his determination to spend
the winter in India reached Hyderabad, His Fx-
cellency, Sir Salar Jung, wrote in the kindest pos-
sible terms, expressing a hope that, if my father
fulfilled his present intention, he would consider
himself as his guest during his stay, and allow
him to make all the srrangements he could for
his comfort.

This invitation was gratefully accepted, and on
the 12th of September 1875, he and 1, with our
faithful servant John, sailed from Liverpool in the
s.s. Guy Mannering for Bombay. The change
of air and the sea voyage seemed to benefit my
father’s gencral health, though there was searcely
any improvement in his sight.  Tis memory was
so wonderfully clear, and his recollection of places
and scenes so accurate, that our captain was aston-
ished, and declared he was led to look for and find
out many points of interest that he had, in pre-
vious voyages, overlooked.  We arrivea at Bom-
bay on the 15th of October, and, after a rest of
two days, started for Hyderabad. The long rail-
way journcy, of twenty-seven Leurs, was borne
without much fatigue, and my father seemed to
rally wonderfully under the delight and excite-
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ment of meeting those so dear to him once more.
His loss of sight was a sad drawback, but his
patience under this tervible affliction was very
toucling. He could sec a little, but not enough
to read or write himsclf, or employ himself in any
way ; and this to one of his indefatigably indus-
trious habits was a trial which only those who
knew him could nppreciate. When not writing or
reading he used to draw, or knit, or crotehet, and
his delight was to surprise his friends with some
specimen of his work.  His interest in all that
went on around him was as keen as ever; and
the numerous visits he weceived from his native
fricnds afforded him great pleasure.  Some came
from long distances, only to sce him, to touch his
feet, or hring their simple offerings of frult, sugar-
candy, and garlands of sweet jessamine; and it was
very touching to sce the love and reverence the
people bore for him.  One, a native of Shorapoor,
told him how the people yet bewailed his loss,
and how the women sang ballads to his honour
as they ground their corn, and rclated stories of
him to their children. He scemed to be so essen-
tially the people’s friend ; and that his memory
and his deeds lived still in their hearts, was evi-
dent to ait who saw the manner of their coming.
Owing to the prolonged absence of IL.E. Sir Salar
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Jung, both at Bombay and Caleutta, on the occa-
sions of the visit of H.R.H. the Prince of Wales,
my father did not see so much of the Minister as
he otherwise would have done; and this was a
source of much mutual regret. But everything
that princely hospitality could suggest, in the pro-
viding of house, servants, horses and carriages,
and every comfort, was done by Sir Salar Jung to
render my father’s stay as plcasant and as com-
fortable as possible. -~ He was able to partake of
the hospitalities of the palace, too, on several occa-
sions, cspecially that of the grand fée given on
the arrival of Sir Richard Meade as Resident at
Hyderabad ; and he was able also to accept and
enjoy invitations to the Residency, and among
other friends. One great regret to him was that
his health did not admit of his taking the long
journey to Calcutta, in order to be present at the
great gathering of the members of the “Order of
the Star of India.” He wrote his apologies to Sir
Bartle Frere, begging him, if he would, to make
known to H.R.IL the rcason of his non-attend-
ance, and reccived 1n reply a note which gratified
him exceedingly. Not only was Sir Bartle Frere
desired by the Prince of Wales t« assure Colonel
Taylor how much he regretted being deprived of
the opportunity of making his personal acquaint-
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ance, but he added that he wished Colonel Taylor
especially to know what pleasure he had derived
from the perusal of his works on the voyage out
to India. This gracious message and recognition
of his literary labours were very pleasant to him,
and aflorded another instance, among so many
at that time, of the graceful thoughtfulness and
kindly feeling of his Royal Highness. InJanuary
1876 my father was onee more attacked by his old
enemy, the jungle fever, and for many days and
nights it seemed doubtful whether he would be
spared to us yet a while.  On the advice of his
medical attendants, we took him back to Bombay,
the climate there being considered better for his
complaint, as it was more relaxing, and had not
the excessive irritating dryness of Hyderabad.
He remuined at Bombay for a month., During
this time he received many visits from persons
acvquainted with his Indian carcer and literary
works, and enjoyed, on several occasions, long
and earnest conversations with them, especially
on subjects connected with native education and
literature.

On this latter pomnt he was exceedingly anxious,
and it was his purpose, had his life been spared,
to have contributed a series of letters to ‘ The
Times of India’ on the subject. In one letter,
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to a native gentleman friend, which has been
largely quoted, after thanking him for his eriti-
cisms on ‘ Seeta,” and admitting that it 13 impos-
sible for a writer, not a Hindoo, to deseribe
Brahminical observances and caste customs with
absolute correctness, he thus proceeds :—

“Now why do not you, or some one of your
friends, take up the subject of novels or tales, and
ustruet ws on the subject of your people? If
you wrote in Murathi, or Gujeratl, you would
have a vast audience. If i English, we—if the
work were simply and truthfully written—would
weleome the author warmly. Think of the still
existing popularity of Goldsmith’s < Vicar of Wake-
field,” which is undying; and how simple and
pathetic the tale is. - You have matter, too, for a
hundred romances in Grant Duff’s History, if
you follow history ; but that is not needed for
general interest so much as writing that will
move the hearts of the people, and become the
foundation of a mnational literature of fiction,
healthy, pure, and instructive to future genera-
tions. Why should we know only the dark side
of Hindooism, and see none of the bright and
light side, from the pens of ite sons, now so
rapidly advancing and advanced in modern sci-
ence and thought? Any one of your people
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who might attempt this department of literature
would, if he wrote simply, naturally, and without
pedantry, sccure for himself not only present
reputation, but undying fame. 1 cannot believe
the ability is wanting; all that is required is to
he st.mulated to healthy exertion on a pure model
to achieve a decided suceess.”

And on another occasion he writes :—

“1 am glad to hear that my works have been
read, if it be only to prove to those who read
them that my interest in the people of India, of
all elasses, is as strong as ever, and increases with
time. [ would fain see the educated portion,
striving to strike out new lines of oceupation for
themselves; and L do not despair of yet seeing
iflustrations of native life, native legends, and
native history written by yowsclves, Such as |
am, though we strive never so much, cannot
penetrate beyond the surface of that we see; and
as for myself, in regard to < Tara,” ¢ Seceta,” and
my other books, where I have tried to work out
phases ot pative character, male and female, 1
ouly hope 1 nave produced pictures something
like reality, and not caricatures. I think por-
tions of ‘Tara’ .nd ¢ Seeta’” would translate easily
into Marathi; and T should like to hear that ex-
tracts of these books were done into Marathi to
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serve as veading-hooks for the new generation,
Until Marathi and other native languages have a
homely literature of their own, I confess there is
the want of a principle which would encourage
many to better things.”

On the 15th March we embarked on board the
s.8. Australia, belonging to the Rubattino Com-
pany, who had with great kindness reserved two
cabing for my father’s and my own use, without
extra charge, in spite of an over-full complement
of passengers. We were bound for Genoa, as we
intended passing a little time in the south of
France until the spring should be far enough ad-
vanced to permit of our return home. On the
voyage my father became far more ill, and the
loss of all power in his lower limbs was a great
additional trial. He could no longer walk at all,
and was carried up and down from his berth to
his chair on deck. We reached Genoa, however,
in safety on the 6th April, after a very calm
voyage of twenty-one days, and travelled on
next day to Mentone, where becoming gradually
worse, and more and more helpless, he sank to
rest peacefully and painlessly vn the 13th of
May 1876.
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To the last my dear father retained all the
brightness of his intelleet, and his interest in all
that passed. The night before his death he heard
read with great pleasure the account of the ar-
rival of H.R.H. the Prince of Wales in England,
and spoke long and earnestly of the royal visit to
India ; of the good it was likely to produce there ;
of the courtesy which distinguished the Prince’s
behaviour to all natives-of whatever degree, and
his wish that such - an example. might be largely
followed.

The papers both of England and India were
filled with notices, all speaking of the varied and
great talents my dear father possessed as soldier,
administrator, man of scicnce and of letters; but
we, whose privilege it was to be with him in his
home, knew him best as the tenderest and most
loving of parents, the wise friend, the truc-heart-
ed, humble Christian gentleman, ever casting his
cares upon Him who cared for him in his strange
negleeted boyhood and early manhood, and who
helped him to beecome what he was in private
life ana to attain the public distinetions which
were awarded to him,

He rests at Mentone, in that spot so sacred to
many English familics and homes, amid the lovely
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scencs he delighted in, and among the sweet
flowers he loved so well.

A simple cross of white marble marks his
grave, on which arc inscribed the last words he
uttered on carth :~—

“ The Eternal God is thy Refuge, and under-
neath are the everlasting Arms.”

ALICE M., TAYLOR.

HuxMANDY VicAraon, 150 Septeinber 1877.
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